
 
O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d ,  L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
Ph: 847.883.8600 | Fax: 847.883.8608 | www. l i n co ln sh i re i l . gov  

 
 

AGENDA 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

Village Hall – Board Room 
Monday, April 8, 2019 

Following Regular Village Board Meeting 
 

Reasonable accommodations / auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with disabilities to effectively participate in any 
public meetings of the Board.  Please contact the Village Administrative Office (847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance if you need 

special accommodations to attend. The Committee of the Whole will not proceed past 10:30 p.m. unless there is a consensus of the 
majority of the Trustees to do so. Citizens wishing to address the Board on agenda items may speak when the agenda item is open, 

prior to Board discussion. 
 
CALL TO ORDER  
1.0 ROLL CALL  

    
2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

2.1 Acceptance of the March 18, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 
 
3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS  

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use  
 3.11  Consideration of Approval of Roof-Mounted Solar Panel Installation for 

Building C of Extra Space Storage Facility – 200 Parkway Drive (Rethink 
Electric LLC) 

 
 3.12 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Ordinance #11-3191-13A 

Related to Marriott’s Lincolnshire Resort Master Sign Plans (Marriott 
Lincolnshire Resort – 10 Marriott Drive) 

 
 3.13 Discussion and Direction Regarding the Village of Buffalo Grove’s Draft 

Plan for the Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan as it Relates to the 
Existing Boundary and Planning Agreement Between the Village of 
Lincolnshire and Village of Buffalo Grove (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
3.2 Finance and Administration 
3.3 Public Works 
3.4 Public Safety 

 
3.5 Parks and Recreation 

3.51 Consideration of a Picnic Permit Fee Waiver Request Pursuant to Section 
8-1B-2(O) of the Village Code (Girl Scout Troop #45713 & Troop #45936) 

 
3.52 Consideration of a Name and Dedication Date for Lincolnshire Downtown 

Pocket Park (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

3.6 Judiciary and Personnel 
   
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
5.0 NEW BUSINESS 
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 



 
 
 
 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
w w w . l i n co l n s h i re i l . g o v  

 
2.1 

MINUTES 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

Monday, March 18, 2019   
Present: 
Mayor Brandt      Trustee Harms Muth 
Trustee Grujanac    Trustee Hancock 
Trustee McDonough     Trustee Servi  
Trustee Leider     Village Clerk Mastandrea 
Village Attorney Asprooth   Village Manager Burke 
Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson   Public Works Director Woodbury 
Chief of Police Leonas   Assistant Village Manager/Community & 
Planning & Development Manager Zozulya   Economic Development Director Gilbertson 

        
ROLL CALL 
Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:25 p.m., and Village Manager Burke called the 
Roll. 
 
2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

2.1 Acceptance of the March 11, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting 
Minutes 
 
The minutes of the March 11, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting were 
approved as submitted. 
 

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 
   

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use 
3.11  Preliminary Evaluation of a Site Plan and Building Elevations for 

New Medical Office Building - 231 Olde Half Day Road (Alexander 
and Julia Katsnelson) 

 
 Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic Development 

(CED) Director Gilbertson provided a summary of a site plan and 
building elevations for a proposed medical office building – 231 Olde 
Half Day Road. The petitioner plans to acquire the property, demolish 
the existing building, and build a new 5,000 square foot oral 
maxillofacial and dermatology medical office. Staff has encouraged the 
petitioner to work with the neighbors and talk about features of the site 
and possible cross access to Oak Tree Corners.  

 
 Dr. Alexander Katsnelson provided a presentation regarding a 

proposed site plan and building elevations for a proposed medical 
office building - 231 Olde Half Day Road which included benefits for the 
Village, renderings of the new building, site plan, parking of the 
proposed building, and a summary of his practice. 



Page 2 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
March 18, 2019 
 
 

 
 Trustee Hancock asked how placement of the building was determined 

for the proposed new structure. Dr. Katsnelson stated the proposed 
building was designed from the inside out and it was determined the 
need was for a wide building which fit best on the site where proposed.  

 
 Mayor Brandt asked if there was a fence between the property and Half 

Day School. Dr. Katsnelson confirmed there is a fence between the 
property and the school that would remain.  

 
 Trustee Grujanac stated there were many trees on the site and asked if 

the plan was to remove most of the trees, and are there any heritage 
trees on the site. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson 
stated he was not sure if there were heritage trees on the site, but this 
information would be obtained when reviewing the landscape/tree 
removal plan for the project.  

 
 Trustee Hancock asked if there was concern with the cross access to 

Oak Tree Corners. Dr. Katsnelson stated they would encourage the 
cross access to Oak Tree Corners and had plans to discuss this with 
the shopping center owners. Trustee Hancock asked if they would be 
willing to remove some parking spaces for access to Oak Tree 
Corners. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson noted 
staff would not encourage cross access if it is not feasible to meet the 
parking requirements on the proposed site.   

 
 Mayor Brandt asked what the hours of operation would be for the 

office. Dr. Katsnelson stated he believed the hours of operation would 
be normal business hours; 8 a.m. – 5 p.m.  

 
 A brief conversation regarding proposed signage followed.   

 
It was the consensus of the Board to refer this item on the Architectural 
Review Board and Zoning Board.  

 
3.2 Finance and Administration 
3.3 Public Works 
3.4 Public Safety 
3.5 Parks and Recreation 
3.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

 
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS   
5.0 NEW BUSINESS   
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 

Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Servi seconded the motion to adjourn. Upon a 
voice vote, the motion was approved unanimously and Mayor Brandt declared the 
meeting adjourned at 7:49 p.m. 

 Respectfully submitted, 



Page 3 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
March 18, 2019 
 
 

 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 

 
 Bradly J. Burke 

 Deputy Village Clerk 



 

Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 

V:\Property_File\PARKW-
DR\200\PLANNING\2019_SolarPanels\4_08_19_COW\2019_04_08_COW_200Parkw ay_ExtraSpaceStorage_SolarPanels.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole  

April 8, 2019 
 

Subject:  Solar Panel Installation – Extra Space Storage – 200 Parkway 
Drive – CityPark Center  
 

Action Requested: Approval of Roof-Mounted Solar Panel Installation for Building C of 
Extra Space Storage Facility   
 

Petitioner:  Rethink Electric LLC 
 

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager   
 

Advisory Board Review: Architectural Review Board  
 

 
Background: 
� Rethink Electric LLC, the petitioner representing Extra Space Storage, seeks to install roof-

mounted solar panels on Building C of the storage facility at 200 Parkway Drive, as shown 
on Figure 1 and attached location map. The request is supported by Extra Space Properties 
Ninety Seven LLC, the property owner. 
 

� The four-acre Extra Space Storage 
property is part of the 46.5-acre CityPark 
Center, located at the southwest corner of 
Milwaukee Avenue and Aptakisic Road. 
The subject property is located in the 
southern portion of the Center, west of the 
Wildfire and Big Bowl restaurants, along 
the Parkway Drive. The property is 
accessible from Aptakisic Road and 
Milwaukee Avenue. 

 
� In 1996, the property received rezoning 

from R1 Single-Family Residence to B2 
General Business and Final Planned Unit 
Development approvals (Ordinance #96-
1453-37). 

 
� The storage facility was constructed in 

1998 and has been operated by U.S. 
Storage, Metro Storage, and recently by 
Extra Space Storage. The facility is 
comprised of six one-story buildings. 

 
Project Overview & Staff Comments: 
� The proposal is to install a 57.1 kilowatt, 168-panel solar system on the south side of the 

standing seam roof for the 9.5’ tall Building C to generate power for the entire storage 
property (see Document 2). The building roof is silver in color, and the solar panels will be 

Figure 1: Location Map 

Building C 



 

Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 

V:\Property_File\PARKW-
DR\200\PLANNING\2019_SolarPanels\4_08_19_COW\2019_04_08_COW_200Parkw ay_ExtraSpaceStorage_SolarPanels.doc 

silver-framed, with black/blue glass panels. The panels would be shielded from Parkway 
Drive by the existing Extra Space Storage buildings and evergreen trees, as shown in the 
attached Document 2 photographs. 
 

� Section 6-17-6 of the Zoning Code (see attached Document 3) regulates the placement, 
approval, and installation of solar panels throughout the Village. The current request meets 
code requirements regarding the placement. This is the first commercial solar proposal for 
the Village. Staff expects these requests to grow as solar projects become more accessible 
and prevalent. 

 
Architectural Review Board Recommendation: 
On March 19, 2019, the Architectural Review Board (ARB) reviewed the request and 
unanimously recommended approval (see attached Document 4). 

 
Approval Process: 
Solar panel proposals for B2-zoned properties are subject to review by the Architectural Review 
Board and final approval by the Village Board (see attached Document 3). No preliminary 
evaluation at the Village Board or an amendment to the CityPark Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) is required since the PUD is silent on accessory uses, thereby deferring to the Village 
Code. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Location Map. 
� Document 2: Petitioner’s cover letter and presentation packet, prepared by Rethink Electric 

LLC, with the cover letter dated March 29, 2019. 
� Document 3: Solar Energy Systems Code. 
� Document 4: Unapproved March 19, 2019 Architectural Review Board meeting minutes. 
 

Meeting History 
Architectural Review Board: March 19, 2019 

Committee of the Whole (current): April 8, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Village of Lincolnshire  3/29/19 
Building Division 
1 Olde Half Day Rd. 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 

Attn: Mayor Elizabeth Brandt & Village Trustees 

Hello, 

Please accept this as our application for the installat ion of a 57.12 kW, 
168-panel, roof-mounted solar photovoltaic (PV) energy system at the 
commercial building of 200 Parkway Dr. Lincolnshire, IL 60069.  

This system will produce clean energy to provide power to the storage unit  
facility. It  will be located on Building C of the property, parallel to the roof 
slope, only a few inches above the roof. This will blend with the building, 
since the system will be flush with the roof and part ially hidden by the trees 
surrounding the property. We received a unanimous recommendation 
from the ARB on March 19th, 2019. 

Please let me know if you have any quest ions, or if any further information 
is needed for review of this application. Thank you, and we look forward 
to bringing this solar energy system to your Village.  

Respectfully, 

Tim Guth 
tguth@rethinkelectric.com 
630-747-4587 









































February 15, 2019 

 
Village of Lincolnshire 
One Olde Half Day Rd 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 

Subject: Letter of Consent for PV System Installation 

 

To Whom It May Concern, 

Let it be known that Extra Space Storage consents to having a photovoltaic solar array installed 

on the roof top of our facility located at 200 Parkway Dr. Lincolnshire, IL 60069.  This letter authorizes 

Rethink Electric, Inc. to permit the photovoltaic system with the Village of Lincolnshire. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 786099EA-9898-4E5D-8490-23E1BFBD5E34























VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-17: ALTERNATIVE ENERGY COLLECTION SYSTEMS 
Revised 03/22/2010 Page 11

b. A wildlife study shall be conducted by a qualified professional not
in the employ of the Applicant, such as an ornithologist or wildlife
biologist, to determine if there is any potential impact the SWES
may present to migratory birds and wildlife species.  In cases
where the wildlife study indicates that a protected natural
resource will be adversely affected by an SWES, the Village shall
consult with the Illinois Department of Natural Resources (IDNR),
in accordance with Title 17 of the Illinois Administrative Code
Part 1075, to determine whether the protective measures
outlined in the study are deemed acceptable.  A final decision on
the application shall not be made until such consultation with
IDNR is resolved.

G. COMPLIANCE: Every SWES must maintain compliance with the plans and
specifications approved by the Village Board of Trustees.  If a SWES becomes
non-compliant with approved plans and specifications due to, but not limited to:
discoloration, cracking, missing components, rusting, settling, damage or
general disrepair; then the owner/operator of the SWES and the owner of the
building or lot on which the SWES is located will be jointly and severally
responsible for remedying the specific non-conformities.  These non-
conformities must be remedied within forty-five (45) days after receipt of written
notice sent by the Village to the owner/operator of the SWES and the owner of
the building or lot.  Failure to remedy all of the cited non-conformities, within
the forty-five (45) day time period, shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding
the amount described per day that the violation continues, pursuant to Chapter
4 of Title 1 of the Village Code.

H. ENGINEERING CERTIFICATION: No SWES may be located within the Village
unless the Applicant has provided to the Village the written certification of a
professional engineer licensed by the State of Illinois that the structure upon
which the facility is located is sufficient from a structure engineering standpoint
to bear the load.  In instances of free-standing structures, this shall include a
certificate that the foundation on which the structure is built, is constructed and
engineered to take into account the existing soil conditions.  A licensed
professional engineer shall also certify that in the event of a fall or collapse,
that the facility is designed and manufactured to fall entirely within the
boundary lines of the lot on which it is located, and that installation meets or
exceeds the maximum construction and installation standards set forth by the
manufacturer.

6-17-6: SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (SES)



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-17: ALTERNATIVE ENERGY COLLECTION SYSTEMS
Revised 03/22/2010 Page 12

A. GENERAL REGULATIONS:  A Solar Energy System (SES), as referenced in 
Section 6-17-2, may be erected or installed only in accordance with this Title 6, 
Chapter 17 of the Village Code.  Any SES shall conform to all Federal laws and 
regulations concerning its use and operation, and may be installed only in the 
following zoning districts and standards:

1. Shall be permitted in the R1, R2, R2A, and R3 Zoning Districts.  Any 
attached single-family residential development and mixed-use 
development which contains residential housing units shall require review 
by the Architectural Review Board prior to being approved or denied by 
the Village Board.

2. Shall be permitted in the R4, R5, R6, B1, B2, E, and O/I Zoning Districts, 
subject to review by the Architectural Review Board prior to being 
approved or denied by the Village Board.

B. PERMITS: No such Solar Energy System (SES), as referenced in Section 6-
17-2, shall be erected, constructed, altered or relocated without first obtaining a 
building permit from the Department of Community Development.  An 
application for a building permit shall be made upon forms provided by the 
Department of Community Development, signed by the Applicant, and contain 
or have attached thereto the following information:

1. Name of person, firm, corporation or association constructing and 
erecting the solar energy system.

2. Site plan showing the location of the solar energy system upon the lot and 
copies of the manufacturer=s specification for the solar energy system.

3. Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant, and the name of 
a responsible party in the case of corporate applications.

4. Written consent of the owner of the building structure or land on which the 
solar energy system is to be erected.

5. Elevation(s) of the existing structural improvements and the proposed 
solar energy system showing the size and design details.

6. Four (4) sets of plans and specifications showing the method of 
construction, location, support, and attachment to the structure.

7. If required by the Department of Community Development, a copy of 
stress sheets and calculations prepared by a licensed professional 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-17: ALTERNATIVE ENERGY COLLECTION SYSTEMS 
Revised 03/22/2010 Page 13

engineer showing that the solar energy system is designed for the 
deadload, in the amount required by the manufacturer and all other laws 
and ordinances of the Village.

8. A line drawing of the electrical components, as supplied by the
manufacturer, in sufficient detail to allow for a determination that the
manner of installation conforms to the Village Code.

9. Such other information that the Department of Community Development
shall require to show full compliance with this and all other ordinances of
the Village.

C. PLACEMENT OF SES:

1. Shall be limited to roof-mounted installations on a permitted structure,
provided that the installation method shall be compatible and harmonious
with the aesthetic qualities of the structure to which the device is attached
so as to not abruptly alter the architectural character of the structure.

a. Shall be attached directly to the exterior of the roof structure to
ensure the lowest profile permissible.  All components of the
SES shall not extend above the maximum building height
permitted by the zoning district and beyond the existing limits of
the roof.

c. No component of the SES, including mounting racks, shall be
permitted to tilt or rotate at a slope greater or less than the roof
to which the device is attached.

d. Shall be designed and installed to prohibit Sun Reflection
towards vehicular traffic and any habitable portion of an adjacent
structure.  Sun Reflection onto an adjacent roof shall be
acceptable.

e. Shall occupy not more than fifty-percent (50%) of the outside
roof area to which the device is attached.  If an SES is installed
on multiple roofs on a single structure, the SES shall occupy not
more than thirty-percent (30%) of each outside roof area to
which the device is attached.

f. With the exception of Solar Panels, mounting racks, pipe runs,
and electrical wire connections, no portion of an SES shall be
installed on the outside of the roof.



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-17: ALTERNATIVE ENERGY COLLECTION SYSTEMS 
Revised 03/22/2010 Page 14

g. No trees or vegetation shall be removed or pruned to reduce or
eliminate shading from the sun, unless warranted for good
forestry practices, as determined by the Village Forester.

6-17-7: DECOMMISSIONING AND RESTORATION PLAN:

A. MICRO WIND ENERGY SYSTEMS (MWES) AND SOLAR ENERGY
SYSTEMS (SES):  When a MWES or SES is not operated for a continuous
period of at least nine (9) months, such Alternative Energy Collection System
and all related equipment shall be deemed abandoned by the Village.  The
owner of such Alternative Energy Collection System shall remove all items
within forty-five (45) days following receipt of written notification that removal is
required.  Such notice shall be sent by registered or certified mail, return
receipt requested, by the Village to such owner at the last known address of
such owner.  A principal structure or lot for sale, lease, or in foreclosure may
be exempt, provided that the MWES and/or SES are maintained pursuant to
this Title 6, Chapter 17 of the Village Code.

B. SMALL WIND ENERGY SYSTEM (SWES)

1. Prior to receiving a Special Use Permit for the installation of a SWES, the
owner and/or operator must include a Decommissioning and Restoration
Plan with the application request to ensure such Alternative Energy
Collection System and all related equipment is property decommissioned.
The owner of the SWES and the underlying property owner(s) shall be
jointly liable for the removal of all equipment associated with the SWES at
the end of the Special Use permit period, if any, the useful life of the
facility, or when the facility is abandoned or otherwise out of operation for
continuous period of at least nine (9) months.  The Decommissioning and
Restoration Plan shall state how the facility will be decommissioned and
how the site will be restored, and shall further provide:

a. Provisions for removal of the SWES and all related equipment,
including those below the soil surface.

b. Provisions for the restoration of the property and improvements
upon completion of the decommissioning of the Alternative
Energy Collection System and all related equipment.



One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

2
V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2019\03_19_2019_Minutes_Unapproved.doc

Spa at Lincolnshire and Crane’s Landing Golf Course. The sign size will 
remain the same. Landscaping will be restored to the originally-approved
landscape plan.

One interior directional signs would be updated to include the new Marriott 
logo. The background will be white and will remain illuminated.

Interim Chair Orzeske inquired about the paint finish and durability. Art Solis, 
North Shore Signs, stated the two ground and one directional sign will be 
repainted white, with life expectancy of the paint to be about 10 years.

PDM Zozulya stated the petitioner is before the ARB as this is an amendment to 
the Master Sign Plan approved in 2011. The Master Sign Plans included 
variations for sign dimensions, items of information, and an electronic display 
sign on Milwaukee. While a public hearing is not required, the ARB is required to 
make a recommendation to the Village Board for final approval.

There was discussion regarding the five remaining directional signs in the 
complex. Tonya Zozulya asked the petitioner if they would like to include those 
signs in the ARB recommendation and, if so, provide renderings of the color 
change to be included with the Village Board packet for consideration and final 
approval. Brad Lajoie agreed to include the directional signs for consideration.

Member Baskin moved, seconded by Member McCall, to recommend approval 
to the Village Board of the amendment to the Marriott Master Sign Plan 
amendment to permit revisions to the existing ground monument and directional 
signs for the Marriott Lincolnshire Resort, located at 10 Marriott Drive, as 
presented in the petitioner’s cover letter and presentation packet, date stamped 
received March 11, 2019, with approval and inclusion of additional directional 
signs, consistent in coloring with the proofs submitted, with review by Village
Staff and approval by the Village Board.

The motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

3.2 Consideration of Roof-Mounted Solar Panel Installation for Building C of Extra 
Space Storage Facility, 200 Parkway Drive (Rethink Electric LLC)

Garrison Regal, Vice President of Operations, Rethink Electric LLC
reviewed the proposal to install roof-mounted solar panels on Building C of the 
storage facility at 200 Parkway Drive, CityPark Center. He presented aerial and 
ground elevation views of the complex, adding the solar modules will be 
obscured from view by trees and other buildings in the complex. The solar panels 
will be a flush-mount, low profile, and installed with non-penetrating methods. 
The size of each solar panel on this installation will be approximately 6.5’ by 3.5’.



One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

3
V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2019\03_19_2019_Minutes_Unapproved.doc

Members of the ARB noted this proposal was the first commercial solar project in 
the Village. PDM Zozulya stated Village code requires the ARB to conduct 
design review with a recommendation to the Village Board. In response to a 
question on space limitations on the roof, Tonya Zozulya stated the 50% 
requirement takes into consideration the calculation both sides of the roof. 

Member Santosuosso moved, seconded by Member McCall, to approve and 
recommend approval to the Village Board for the installation of the proposed 
solar panels on Building C for Extra Space Storage, as presented in the packet 
submitted by Rethink Electric, LLC, date stamped received March 11, 2019.

Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

3.3 Approval of Parking Lot Design, Fence Landscaping, and Lighting Plans for
Ravinia Plumbing, 575 Bond Street (Ravinia Plumbing)

David Ariano, President of Ravinia Plumbing gave a brief history of Ravinia 
Plumbing’s 98 years in business and current location in Highland Park. They are 
the contract purchaser for said property and are looking to expand their business 
and fleet in Lincolnshire.  

Meghan Michel, P.E. and Project Manager with J. Condon & Associates,
presented the plans for the new parking lot as follows:

A new parking surface with 85 stalls to be utilized by the service technicians 
and fleet vehicles;   
A 6’ open-style picket fence and landscaping surrounding the new parking 
surface, and utilizing the existing berm to further enhance the proposed fence 
and landscape plan.  
The existing 17-stall parking lot would be utilized by office staff; and
Utilizing the existing retention basin for increased storm water volume. There 
would be required changes in the outlet restrictor structures only to 
accommodate the allowable release rate, and no alteration to the pond is 
anticipated. The petitioner is working with Lake County Storm Water 
Management Commission on these plans to get their approval.

Member Baskin asked how many trees would be removed. He also suggested 
the design of the vinyl fence should complement the building and asked staff if 
there are similar fences in the industrial park.  PDM Zozulya stated fences 
typically are not part of the industrial area unless it is a day care facility. David 
Ariano said the fence and landscape is more for security purposes, and the 
fence will be installed at grade behind the existing berm. Member Baskin
commented a cross-section view of the fence/parking lot would be helpful. In 
regard to tree removal, Meghan Michel stated 47 trees are being removed. PDM
Zozulya added the petitioner’s landscape architect calculated 143 caliper inches 
of trees being removed, to be replaced with 98.5 caliper inches; the negative net 
difference will be added to the Tree Bank per Village Code. 



 

Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

 

V:\Property_File\MARRI-
DR\10\PLANNING\SIGNAGE\2019_GroundSigns\4_08_19_COW\2019_04_08_COW_Marriott_Ground_DirectionalSigns_MasterSi
gnPlanAmend.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole  

April 8, 2019 
 

Subject:  Lincolnshire Marriott Resort Ground and Directional Sign Revisions 
– 10 Marriott Drive  
 

Action Requested: Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Ordinance #11-3191-
13A Related to Marriott’s Lincolnshire Resort Master Sign Plans  
 

Petitioner:  Marriott Lincolnshire Resort    
 

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager  
  

Advisory Board Review: Architectural Review Board  
 

 
Background: 
� Marriott Lincolnshire Resort (resort) seeks an amendment to its Master Sign Plan to revise 

existing ground monument and directional signs on the resort property. The property is 
located at 10 Marriott Drive (see Figure 1 and attached location map in Document 1).  
 

� The 175-acre resort is one of the largest developments within the Village, offering a variety 
of destination uses, including a hotel, live theater, golf course, restaurants, sports facilities, 
meeting spaces, and banquet facilities.  

 
� The property was granted its 

initial Special Use permit in 
1973 for a live theater and golf 
course (Ordinance #73-286-1).  

 
� In 2011, the Village Board 

approved the resort’s Master 
Sign Plans (Ordinance #11-
3191-13A; see Document 5) to 
permit two new ground 
monument signs on Milwaukee 
Avenue/Marriott Drive and Half 
Day Road, as well as six 
directional signs throughout the 
resort campus. The Master 
Sign Plans included variations 
for sign dimensions, items of 
information, and an electronic 
display screen for the 
Milwaukee Avenue ground 
monument sign.  

 
 

Figure 1: Location Map 



 

Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

 

V:\Property_File\MARRI-
DR\10\PLANNING\SIGNAGE\2019_GroundSigns\4_08_19_COW\2019_04_08_COW_Marriott_Ground_DirectionalSigns_MasterSi
gnPlanAmend.doc 

 
 

� Subsequent to initial approval, the Village Board approve three amendments to the Master 
Sign Plans: 

 
o 2016: the Village Board approved an amendment to the Master Sign Plans to permit two 

new Marriott identification wall signs adjacent to the hotel entrance as part of a 
renovation to the main entrance of the resort (Ordinance #16-3416-143). 

o 2017: the Village Board approved an amendment to the Master Sign Plans to permit an 
electronic display screen for a new marquee sign for the Marriott Theater (Ordinance 
#17-3742-170). 

o 2018: the Village Board approved an amendment to the Master Sign Plans to permit a 
new wall sign and revised directional signs for the College Park Athletic Club (Ordinance 
#18-3767-195).     
 

� Attached is a draft ordinance, prepared by the Village Attorney, amending Marriott’s Sign 
Master Plan (see attached Document 2).   
 

Proposal Summary:  
� Ground Signs – The applicant proposes revisions to the two existing ground signs on Half 

Day Road and at Milwaukee Avenue/Marriott Drive (see attached Documents 3 and 4).  
 
Milwaukee Avenue/Marriott Drive 
The 20’ tall by 12’-8” wide ground sign at Milwaukee Avenue/Marriott Drive is proposed to 
be updated with a new Marriott logo at the top as well as two new panels. The sign cabinet 
is also proposed to be repainted from cream to white. The number of panels, sign 
structure/panel dimensions, and lettering/illumination type will not change. The existing and 
proposed panels are shown below in Table 1. 
 

Table 1: Marriott Resort Ground Sign Panels – Milwaukee Avenue/Marriott Drive 
Existing Panels (from top to bottom) Proposed Panels (from top to bottom) 

Marriott Theatre Three Embers 
Crane’s Landing Golf Club Wright’s Brew & Bistro 

 
Half Day Road 
The petitioner proposes to update the 17’ tall by 12’ wide ground monument sign on Half 
Day Road with a new Marriott logo and four new tenant panels. The sign cabinet is also 
proposed to be repainted from cream to white. The number of tenant panels, sign 
structure/panel dimensions, and lettering/illumination type will not change. The applicant will 
reinstall previously approved landscaping at the base of the sign. The existing and proposed 
panels are shown below:  
 
   Table 2: Marriott Resort Ground Sign Panels – Half Day Road 

Existing Panels (from top to bottom) Proposed Panels (from top to bottom) 
Marriott Theatre Marriott Theatre 

Crane’s Landing Golf Club Three Embers 
Season Golf Memberships 

craneslandinggolf.com 
The Spa at Lincolnshire 

Left on Milwaukee Crane’s Landing Golf Course  



 

Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

 

V:\Property_File\MARRI-
DR\10\PLANNING\SIGNAGE\2019_GroundSigns\4_08_19_COW\2019_04_08_COW_Marriott_Ground_DirectionalSigns_MasterSi
gnPlanAmend.doc 

 
Directional Signs – All six existing directional signs of varying dimensions are proposed to be 
repainted white from the current tan color, with the lettering color revised from white to black. 
One directional sign that displays the old Marriott logo will be updated with the current logo. No 
structural, dimensional, or landscaping alterations are proposed.   
 
Architectural Review Board Recommendation: 
� On March 19, 2019, the Architectural Review Board (ARB) reviewed the request and 

unanimously recommended approval, subject to the petitioner refacing five additional 
directional signs to match the two ground signs and one directional sign submitted to the 
ARB for review (see attached Document 6).  
 

� The petitioner complied with the ARB recommendation by providing renderings showing the 
directional signs faces will be painted white, which necessitated the lettering color change 
from white to black.  
 

Approval Process:  
Marriott’s Master Sign Plans require ARB review and recommendation and a final approval by 
the Village Board for the current request. No preliminary evaluation or public hearing is required, 
per Section 6 of the original Master Sign Plans Ordinance (Ordinance #11-3191-13A). The 
ordinance provides the Director of Community Development authority to determine if any 
modifications to the signs alter their architecture, intensity, and purposes. Based on the 
petitioner’s current request, these proposed modifications do not alter any of the 
aforementioned sign qualities. The draft ordinance is presented to the Village Board for 
consideration and approval to memorialize the Village’s approval of the amendment. Previous 
Master Sign Plans amendments for the Marriott property have been approved via the same 
process.    
 
Recommendation: 
Consideration of an amendment to Ordinance #11-3191-13A regarding the ground and 
directional sign revisions, and placement on the April 22, 2019 Consent Agenda for approval.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Location map, prepared by MGP GIS Consortium.  
� Document 2: Petitioner’s cover letter, prepared by Lincolnshire Marriott Resort, dated April 

8, 2019.  
� Document 3: Ground and directional sign renderings, prepared by North Shore Sign, dated 

March 7, 13, and 29, 2019.   
� Document 4: Marriott’s Master Sign Plan (Ordinance #11-3191-13A).  
� Document 5: March 19, 2019 unapproved Architectural Review Board meeting minutes.  
� Document 6: Draft ordinance amending the Marriott Resort Master Sign Plan, prepared by 

the Village Attorney.  
 

Meeting History 
Architectural Review Board: March 19, 2019 

Committee of the Whole (current): April 8, 2019 
 
 
 





Mayor Elizabeth Brandt and Village Trustees 

April 8, 2019 

Dear Mayor Brandt, 

 I am writing to you today to propose our plans to update our current monument signs at the Marriott 
Lincolnshire Resort. Our existing signs are not currently displaying the updated amenities within  the 
resort and also the logo on top is not approved brand standard by Marriott International. 

Our plans are to switch out the existing panels with the new logoed panels. The monument sign, height, 
shape, and location will not be altered. Everything will remain the same, just updating the names of the 
outlets. 

The sign on Route 22 currently has four panels of signs.  The new sign will also have 4 panels of signs.  All 
4 current panels will be refaced with new lettering and logos.  No existing lettering will remain.  The top 
of the sign will also be refaced will the current Marriott brand standard logo. 

 The sign on Milwaukee Ave currently has 2 panels.  The new sign will also have 2 full panels.  Both 
panels will be refaced with new lettering and logos.  No existing lettering will remain.  There will be no 
change to the existing digital display.  The top lettering will also change with the new Marriott logo.  

From our first submission there was a concern over the Marriott sign panel only on the Route 22 sign.  
This is correct since the digital display on the Milwaukee sign is mostly theater advertisements and 
serves as directional guidance for guests to use that entrance. 

The landscaping area around the monument sign will not be altered at all. New greenery will be added 
come spring time 2019.  If you have any questions please do not hesitate to contact me. 

There are also 5 additional directional signs we spoke about with the ARB committee on March 19th.  We 
are currently receiving bids to repaint the signs to have a white background and new black lettering.  
With exception of the new white background and black lettering there will be no additional work 
completed to the signs.  They will remain is the same areas and landscaping will not altered. 

On March 19th at the ARB committee meeting we received a unanimous positive recommendation. 

Brad Lajoie 

General  Manager 



Half Day Rd Ground
Sign

MIlwaukee Ave Ground
Sign



1925 Industrial Drive  Libertyville, Illinois  60048  847-816-7020

" Q u a l i t y  S i g n a g e  S i n c e 1 9 3 0 "

NORTH SHORE SIGN

This design is the exclusive property of North Shore Sign Company Inc., and is the result of the original and creative work of 
its employees.   This drawing is submitted to the respective customer for the sole purpose of consideration of whether or not 
to purchase this design, or a sign manufactured to this design from North Shore Sign Co.  Distribution, use of, or exhibition of 
this drawing to anyone outside customers organization, in order to secure quotation, design work, or purchase of a sign either 
to this design or similar to this design, is expressly forbidden.   In the event that such distribution, use or exhibition occurs, 
North Shore Sign is to be compensated $1500.00 for time, effort and creative service entailed in creating these plans, as well 
as any and all legal fees and expenses to enforce its rights.  Copyright 2010 North Shore Sign Company Inc. 

FLAT ALUMINUM PANELS 
WHITE FINISH / ROUTED-OUT 
BACKED-UP WHITE PLEXIGLAS COPY
3/4" THICK CLEAR PUSH-THRU 
PLEXIGLAS COPY & LOGO
TRANSLUCENT RED APPLIED VINYL 1ST SURFACE
OPAQUE BLACK APPLIED VINYL 1ST SURFACE COPY

REPAINT EXISTING CABINET WHITE

(2) FLAT ALUMINUM PANELS
WHITE FINISH / ROUTED-OUT
BACKED-UP WHITE PLEXIGLAS COPY
3/4" THICK CLEAR PUSH-THRU
PLEXIGLAS COPY & LOGO

1
'-

8
"

1
'-

8
"

10'-1"

6
1
/4
"

1
1

7
/8
"

2
3
/4
"

ENLARGED LOGO DETAILS
1/2" = 1'-0"

REFACE EXISTING D/FACE ILLUMINATED DISPLAY
3/8" = 1'-0"

MARRIOTT DRIVE ENTRANCE LOCATION

10'-8"

10'-8"

5
'-

1
0
" 2

6
"

5
1
/2
"

5
1
/2
"

10'-1"

EXISTING MESSAGE CENTER

MARRIOTT LINCOLNSHIRE RESORT
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL.

NOTED

6/27/18

AS

ART

11471
PG. 1

"THREE EMBERS" COPY / OPAQUE BLACK
VINYL APPLIED TO 1ST SURFACE OF PLEXIGLAS
TRANSLUCENT DIGITAL PRINTED "FLAMES"
APPLIED TO PLEXIGLAS SURFACE

"WRIGHT'S BREW & BISTRO"" COPY / OPAQUE BLACK
VINYL APPLIED TO 1ST SURFACE OF PLEXIGLAS

OPAQUE BLACK VINYL DASH LINES

CHANGE LAYOUT VIEWE 3/13/19
REVISED COMMENTS



1925 Industrial Drive  Libertyville, Illinois  60048  847-816-7020

" Q u a l i t y  S i g n a g e  S i n c e 1 9 3 0 "

NORTH SHORE SIGN

This design is the exclusive property of North Shore Sign Company Inc., and is the result of the original and creative work of 
its employees.   This drawing is submitted to the respective customer for the sole purpose of consideration of whether or not 
to purchase this design, or a sign manufactured to this design from North Shore Sign Co.  Distribution, use of, or exhibition of 
this drawing to anyone outside customers organization, in order to secure quotation, design work, or purchase of a sign either 
to this design or similar to this design, is expressly forbidden.   In the event that such distribution, use or exhibition occurs, 
North Shore Sign is to be compensated $1500.00 for time, effort and creative service entailed in creating these plans, as well 
as any and all legal fees and expenses to enforce its rights.  Copyright 2010 North Shore Sign Company Inc. 

MARRIOTT LINCOLNSHIRE RESORT
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL.

NOTED

6/27/18

AS

ART

11471
PG. 2

NIGHT VIEW

EXISTING SIGN PHOTO

CHANGE LAYOUT VIEWE 3/13/19
REVISED COMMENTS



9'-10"

5
'-

3
"

1
'-

8
"

1
'-

8
"

1
'-

8
"

1
'-

8
"

1
6
"

1
3
"

2
4
"

5
1
/4
"

5
1
/4
"

2
"

1
2

1
/2
"

2
"

5
1

/2
"

8
"

1925 Industrial Drive  Libertyville, Illinois  60048  847-816-7020

" Q u a l i t y  S i g n a g e  S i n c e 1 9 3 0 "

NORTH SHORE SIGN

This design is the exclusive property of North Shore Sign Company Inc., and is the result of the original and creative work of 
its employees.   This drawing is submitted to the respective customer for the sole purpose of consideration of whether or not 
to purchase this design, or a sign manufactured to this design from North Shore Sign Co.  Distribution, use of, or exhibition of 
this drawing to anyone outside customers organization, in order to secure quotation, design work, or purchase of a sign either 
to this design or similar to this design, is expressly forbidden.   In the event that such distribution, use or exhibition occurs, 
North Shore Sign is to be compensated $1500.00 for time, effort and creative service entailed in creating these plans, as well 
as any and all legal fees and expenses to enforce its rights.  Copyright 2010 North Shore Sign Company Inc. 

MARRIOTT LINCOLNSHIRE RESORT
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL.

NOTED

6/27/18

AS

ART

11471
PG. 3

1
3
"

1
2

1
/2
"

2
"

5
1
/2
"

8
"

REFACE EXISTING D/FACE ILLUMINATED DISPLAY
3/8" = 1'-0"

FLAT ALUMINUM PANELS 
WHITE FINISH / ROUTED-OUT BACKED-UP WHITE 
PLEXIGLAS COPY
3/4" THICK CLEAR PUSH-THRU PLEXIGLAS COPY & LOGO
TRANSLUCENT RED APPLIED VINYL 1ST SURFACE
OPAQUE BLACK APPLIED VINYL 1ST SURFACE COPY

REPAINT EXISTING CABINET WHITE

ROUTE 22 LOCATION

ENLARGED LOGO DETAILS
1/2" = 1'-0"

3
"

4'-53/4"

1
'-

4
1
/2
"

6
3
/4
"

9'-0"

8
3
/8
"

23/8"

4'-21/4"

1'-9"

4'-7"

18"

7
"

3
1
/2
"

"AT LINCOLNSHIRE" 
OPAQUE BLUE VINYL COPY

"GOLF COURSE"
OPAQUE BLUE VINYL

TRANSLUCENT BLUE VINYL
APPLIED 1ST SURFACE

TRANSLUCENT BLUE & GREEN 
VINYL APPLIED 1ST SURFACE

TRANSLUCENT BLUE VINYL
APPLIED 1ST SURFACE

CHANGE LAYOUT VIEWE 3/13/19
REVISED COMMENTS



GOLF COURSE

NIGHT VIEW

1925 Industrial Drive  Libertyville, Illinois  60048  847-816-7020

" Q u a l i t y  S i g n a g e  S i n c e 1 9 3 0 "

NORTH SHORE SIGN

This design is the exclusive property of North Shore Sign Company Inc., and is the result of the original and creative work of 
its employees.   This drawing is submitted to the respective customer for the sole purpose of consideration of whether or not 
to purchase this design, or a sign manufactured to this design from North Shore Sign Co.  Distribution, use of, or exhibition of 
this drawing to anyone outside customers organization, in order to secure quotation, design work, or purchase of a sign either 
to this design or similar to this design, is expressly forbidden.   In the event that such distribution, use or exhibition occurs, 
North Shore Sign is to be compensated $1500.00 for time, effort and creative service entailed in creating these plans, as well 
as any and all legal fees and expenses to enforce its rights.  Copyright 2010 North Shore Sign Company Inc. 

MARRIOTT LINCOLNSHIRE RESORT
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL.

NOTED

6/27/18

AS

ART

11471
PG. 4

EXISTING SIGN PHOTO

CHANGE LAYOUT VIEWE 3/13/19
REVISED COMMENTS



5'-1"

Thank you for visitingStraight Ahead

4
'-

0
"

1
3
"

3
"

3
"

4
7
/8
"

REFACE EXISTING D/FACE ILLUMINATED DISPLAY
3/4" = 1'-0"

FLANGED ALUMINUM PANELS 1-1/2" DEEP
WHITE FINISH / ROUTED-OUT BACKED-UP WHITE PLEXIGLAS COPY
3/4" THICK CLEAR PUSH-THRU PLEXIGLAS COPY & LOGO
TRANSLUCENT RED APPLIED VINYL 1ST SURFACE
OPAQUE BLACK APPLIED VINYL 1ST SURFACE COPY

REPAINT EXISTING CABINET WHITE

face(a) face(b) EXISTING SIGN PHOTO

NIGHT VIEW

MARRIOTT DRIVE LOCATION

3/16" thick
white plex

back-up

3/4" thick
clear
push-thru
plexiglas

applied
vinyl 1st
surface
of plexiglas

aluminum
stud fasteners

.090 aluminum
routed faces

SECTIONAL DETAIL VIEW
(nts)

1925 Industrial Drive  Libertyville, Illinois  60048  847-816-7020

" Q u a l i t y  S i g n a g e  S i n c e 1 9 3 0 "

NORTH SHORE SIGN

This design is the exclusive property of North Shore Sign Company Inc., and is the result of the original and creative work of 
its employees.   This drawing is submitted to the respective customer for the sole purpose of consideration of whether or not 
to purchase this design, or a sign manufactured to this design from North Shore Sign Co.  Distribution, use of, or exhibition of 
this drawing to anyone outside customers organization, in order to secure quotation, design work, or purchase of a sign either 
to this design or similar to this design, is expressly forbidden.   In the event that such distribution, use or exhibition occurs, 
North Shore Sign is to be compensated $1500.00 for time, effort and creative service entailed in creating these plans, as well 
as any and all legal fees and expenses to enforce its rights.  Copyright 2010 North Shore Sign Company Inc. 

CHANGE LAYOUT VIEWD 3/7/19
REVISED COMMENTS

MARRIOTT LINCOLNSHIRE RESORT
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL.

NOTED

6/27/18

AS

ART

11471
PG. 5













DOCUMENT 4



















One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

1

UNAPPROVED Minutes of the regularly scheduled ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD
held on Tuesday, March 19, 2019 in the Public Meeting Room of the 
Village Hall, One Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL

PRESENT: Members Orzeske, McCall, Baskin and Santosuosso  

ABSENT: Chair Kennerley and Member Tapia; Trustee-Liaison Hancock,

ALSO PRESENT: Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/Director of Community and 
Economic Development (AVM/CED)
Tonya Zozulya, Planning and Development Manager (PDM)

CALL TO ORDER

1.0 ROLL CALL
The roll was called by Tonya Zozulya, PDM and Member Orzeske declared a quorum to 
be present.

Member Baskin moved and Member Santosuosso seconded the motion to appoint 
Member Orzeske Interim Chair. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES

2.1 Approval of the Minutes of the Architectural Review Board held on Tuesday, 
February 19, 2019.

Member Baskin moved and Member Santosuosso seconded the motion to 
approve the minutes as written for the February 19, 2019 Architectural Review 
Board. The motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS

3.1  Consideration of an Amendment to Existing Master Sign Plans (Ordinance #11- 
3191- 13A) to Revise Existing Ground Monument and Directional Signs for the 
Marriott Lincolnshire Resort, 10 Marriott Drive (Marriott Lincolnshire Resort)

Brad Lajoie, General Manager of the Marriott Lincolnshire Resort, reviewed the 
proposed revisions to the two existing monument signs on Half Day Road and on 
Milwaukee Avenue/Marriott Drive. He outlined the following proposed changes:

The entrance ground sign on Marriott Drive will include the new Marriott logo 
and two revised panels to display Three Embers and Wright’s Brew and 
Bistro. No changes are proposed for the either the electronic portion of this 
sign, or its size. 

The Half Day Road/Route 22 ground sign will include the new Marriott logo 
as well as four revised panels to display Marriott Theatre, Three Embers, the 



One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

2
V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2019\03_19_2019_Minutes_Unapproved.doc

Spa at Lincolnshire and Crane’s Landing Golf Course. The sign size will 
remain the same. Landscaping will be restored to the originally-approved
landscape plan.

One interior directional signs would be updated to include the new Marriott 
logo. The background will be white and will remain illuminated.

Interim Chair Orzeske inquired about the paint finish and durability. Art Solis, 
North Shore Signs, stated the two ground and one directional sign will be 
repainted white, with life expectancy of the paint to be about 10 years.

PDM Zozulya stated the petitioner is before the ARB as this is an amendment to 
the Master Sign Plan approved in 2011. The Master Sign Plans included 
variations for sign dimensions, items of information, and an electronic display 
sign on Milwaukee. While a public hearing is not required, the ARB is required to 
make a recommendation to the Village Board for final approval.

There was discussion regarding the five remaining directional signs in the 
complex. Tonya Zozulya asked the petitioner if they would like to include those 
signs in the ARB recommendation and, if so, provide renderings of the color 
change to be included with the Village Board packet for consideration and final 
approval. Brad Lajoie agreed to include the directional signs for consideration.

Member Baskin moved, seconded by Member McCall, to recommend approval 
to the Village Board of the amendment to the Marriott Master Sign Plan 
amendment to permit revisions to the existing ground monument and directional 
signs for the Marriott Lincolnshire Resort, located at 10 Marriott Drive, as 
presented in the petitioner’s cover letter and presentation packet, date stamped 
received March 11, 2019, with approval and inclusion of additional directional 
signs, consistent in coloring with the proofs submitted, with review by Village
Staff and approval by the Village Board.

The motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

3.2 Consideration of Roof-Mounted Solar Panel Installation for Building C of Extra 
Space Storage Facility, 200 Parkway Drive (Rethink Electric LLC)

Garrison Regal, Vice President of Operations, Rethink Electric LLC
reviewed the proposal to install roof-mounted solar panels on Building C of the 
storage facility at 200 Parkway Drive, CityPark Center. He presented aerial and 
ground elevation views of the complex, adding the solar modules will be 
obscured from view by trees and other buildings in the complex. The solar panels 
will be a flush-mount, low profile, and installed with non-penetrating methods. 
The size of each solar panel on this installation will be approximately 6.5’ by 3.5’.



ORDINANCE NO. ___________________

AN ORDINANCE  
AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 11-3191-13A 

RELATED TO MARRIOTT’S LINCOLNSHIRE RESORT 
MASTER SIGN PLANS 

(10 Marriott Drive) 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities adopted Ordinance No. 11-3191-13A on February 28, 

2011, which granted approval of a Master Sign Plan on property commonly known as 10 Marriott Drive, 

Lincolnshire, Illinois (the “Subject Property”); 

WHEREAS, application has been made by [name of applicant], as authorized by [name of 

owner] (“Owner”)(collectively, the “Petitioner”), to amend such Master Sign Plan to permit the 

Petitioner to (a) reface two existing ground monument signs to replace tenant names, and (b) change the 

color of one of the existing directional signs (the “Application”); and

WHEREAS, a public meeting was convened by the Architectural Review Board on March 19, 

2019, on which date the Architectural Review Board voted in favor of recommending approval of the 

Petitioner’s Application; and

WHEREAS, the Architectural Review Board has heretofore submitted to the Mayor and Board 

of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, its findings of fact and 

recommendations related to the Application; 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have duly considered said finding and recommendations 

of said Architectural Review Board; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village 

of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in exercise of its home rule authority, as follows: 

SECTION 1:  FINDINGS:  The findings and recommendations of the Architectural Review 

Board of the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, are herein incorporated by reference as the 

findings of this Board to the same effect as if fully recited herein at length.  All references in the findings 

and recommendations are made the references of the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village of 



Lincolnshire.  All of the foregoing recitals are found to be true, complete and accurate and are 

incorporated as though fully restated herein. 

SECTION 2:  That the property which is the subject of this Ordinance is legally described as 

set forth in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated as though fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 3: Subject to the conditions described in Section 4 below, Exhibit B of Ordinance 

No. 11-3191-13A is amended only to the extent necessary to permit the Petitioner to (a) reface two 

existing ground monument signs to replace tenant names and change the color of the sign cabinet, and (b) 

change the color of the cabinet and lettering of six existing directional signs, as more specifically 

described in Exhibit B.

SECTION 4: The relief herein described shall not be implemented in a manner inconsistent 

with the following plans and conditions: 

A. Color ground and directional sign renderings prepared by North Shore Sign, dated
3/7/19, 3/13/19 and 3/29/19.

SECTION 5: Affirmation and Ratification.  The Village expressly ratifies and reaffirms the 

terms and conditions of Ordinance No. 11-3191-13A, it being the intent of the Mayor and Board of 

Trustees for this Ordinance to be supplemental to and cumulative with such Ordinance.  Any violation or 

breach of Ordinance No. 11-3191-13A shall be deemed a breach of this Ordinance the same as though all 

of the terms and conditions thereof were fully recited herein. 

SECTION 6: In the event the Petitioner, or its successor and assigns, elects to maintain the 

signs described herein in a manner providing for the same architecture, intensity and purposes approved 

by this Ordinance, any future sign face changes may be made only with the approval of the Zoning 

Administrator.  The decision whether future modifications alter the architecture or preserve or expand the 

intensity and purposes for which the approved signs are used shall be made in the sole discretion of the

Zoning Administrator. 



SECTION 7: The specific terms and conditions of this Ordinance shall prevail against other 

existing ordinances of the Village to the extent that there might be any conflict.  Except for the foregoing 

limitation, the development of the Subject Property is subject to all terms and conditions of applicable 

ordinances and regulations of the Village of Lincolnshire. 

SECTION 8: Any person violating the terms and conditions of this Ordinance shall be subject 

to a penalty not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) with each and every day that the violation of 

the Ordinance is allowed to remain in effect being deemed a complete and separate offense.  In addition, 

the appropriate authorities of the Village may take such other action as they deem proper to enforce the 

terms and conditions of this Ordinance, including, without limitation, an action in equity to compel 

compliance with its terms.  Any person violating the terms of this Ordinance shall be subject, in addition 

to the foregoing penalties, to the payment of court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees.  This section shall 

not apply to the Village of Lincolnshire, its officials, agents or employees. 

SECTION 9: The premises shall be made available for inspection by any department of the 

Village at all reasonable times for compliance with this Ordinance and any other laws or regulations. 

SECTION 10: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 

approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.  Provided, however, that this Ordinance 

shall not take effect until a true and correct copy of this Ordinance is executed by the Owner of the 

Subject Property or such other parties in interest consenting to and agreeing to be bound by the terms and 

conditions contained within this Ordinance.  Such execution shall take place within sixty (60) days after 

the passage and approval of this Ordinance or within such extension of time as may be granted by the 

Corporate Authorities by motion. 

PASSED this _______ day of ____________, 2019, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES:    



NAYS:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

APPROVED this _____th day of ________________, 2019. 

____________________________________ 
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 

ATTEST:

____________________________ 
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 

Published by me in pamphlet form 

this ____th day of ________, 2019.

ACKNOWLEDGED and ACCEPTED 
this ___ day of ___________, 2019. 

OWNER 

______________________________ 
By: 

Its: 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 

PARCEL 1: THAT PART OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 43 
NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING SOUTHERLY OF 
THE CENTER LINE OF STATE ROUTE 22 AND WESTERLY OF THE CENTER LINE OF THE 
DES PLAINES RIVER IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

AND

PARCEL 2: THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION
23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 23; THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE WEST LINE 
THEREOF, 603.05 FEET TO THE CENTER LINE OF INDIAN CREEK, AS CENTER LINE WAS 
LOCATED ON AUGUST 26, 1943; THENCE EASTERLY AND SOUTHERLY ALONG THE 
CENTER LINE AND THE CENTER LINE EXTENDED ON INDIAN CREEK TO THE CENTER 
LINE OF THE DES PLAINES RIVER, AS SAID CENTER LINE WAS LOCATED ON AUGUST 26, 
1948; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE OF THE DES PLAINES RIVER 
TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 23, 228.6 FEET SOUTHERLY OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID WEST 
HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE, 
228.60 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER, THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE 
NORTHWEST QUARTER, 1338.85 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING, IN LAKE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 3: THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 
23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,  
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT WHICH IS SOUTH 72º 40’ EAST 501.1 
FEET FROM A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 23, WHICH IS 783.9 FEET SOUTH FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
OF SAID SECTION 23, THENCE SOUTH 23º EAST 654.1 FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS 733.9 
FEET EAST OF THE WEST LINE AND 1515.7 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 
WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE NORTH 67º EAST 410 FEET, MORE 
OR LESS, TO THE CENTER OF THE DES PLAINES RIVER, AS SAID CENTER LINE WAS 
LOCATED ON SEPTEMBER 20, 1934; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE CENTER OF SAID 
RIVER, 660 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE CENTER LINE EXTENDED OF INDIAN CREEK; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE CENTER OF SAID CREEK, 433 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A 
POINT WHICH IS 542.8 FEET EAST FROM THE WEST LINE AND 750.3 FEET SOUTH FROM 
THE NORTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 
19º 20’ WEST 205 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

AND



PARCEL 4: THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION
23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID WEST 
HALF, 764.05 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF, THENCE NORTH 89º 
25’ 30” EAST, 167.60 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A CURVE TANGENT TO THE 
LAST DESCRIBED COURSE HAVING A RADIUS OF 275.45 FEET AND CONCAVE, 
SOUTHWESTERLY, A DISTANCE OF 238.06 FEET, CHORD MEASURE; THENCE SOUTH 39º 22’ 
EAST 14.15 FEET, THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A CURVE TANGENT TO THE LAST 
DESCRIBED COURSE HAVING A RADIUS OF 114.06 FEET AND CONCAVE 
NORTHEASTERLY, A DISTANCE OF 100.90 FEET, MORE OR LESS, CHORD MEASURE TO 
THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF PREMISES CONVEYED BY WARRANTY DEED DATED 
MAY 20, 1946 AND RECORDED MAY 27, 1946 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 590919, FROM GENE 
T. DYER AND HIS WIFE, TO DOROTHY T. JONES; THENCE NORTH 19º 20’ EAST ALONG
SAID NORTHWESTERLY LINE, 186.50 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE CENTER LINE OF
INDIAN CREEK AS SAID CENTER LINE WAS LOCATED ON AUGUST 26, 1948; THENCE
WESTERLY AND NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE
OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER, 603.05 FEET SOUTH OF THE
NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE, 161.0 FEET TO
THE PLACE OF BEGINNING, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

AND

PARCEL 5: THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION
23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID WEST 
HALF, 764.05 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 89º 
25’ 30” EAST 167.60 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A CURVE HAVING A RADIUS 
OF 275.45 FEET AND CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY, A DISTANCE OF 238.06 FEET; CHORD 
MEASURE; THENCE SOUTH 39º 22’ EAST 14.15 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A 
CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 114.06 FEET AND CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY A DISTANCE 
OF 100.90 FEET, MORE OR LESS, CHORD MEASURE, TO THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF
PREMISES CONVEYED BY WARRANTY DEED DATED MAY 20, 1946 AND RECORDED MAY 
27, 1946, AD DOCUMENT NUMBER 590919, FROM GENE T. DYER AND WIFE, TO DOROTHY 
T. JONES; THENCE SOUTH 19º 20’ WEST ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID
DOROTHY T. JONES PROPERTY, 18.55 FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS SOUTH 72º 40 FEET EAST
501.10 FEET FROM A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST
QUARTER, WHICH IS 783.90 FEET SOUTH FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID
SECTION 23; THENCE SOUTH 23º EAST 654.10 FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS 733.90 FEET EAST
OF THE WEST LINE AND 1515.70 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID WEST HALF OF
THE NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE NORTH 67º EAST 410.0 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO
THE CENTER OF THE DES PLAINES RIVER AS CENTER WAS LOCATED ON SEPTEMBER 20,
1964; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE CENTER OF SAID DES PLAINES RIVER TO A
POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID
SECTION 23, 999.0 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE SOUTH
ALONG SAID EAST LINE 715.20 FEET OF THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 4.30 CHAINS
(283.80 FEET) THEREOF; THENCE WEST ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 4.30
CHAINS, 1331.0 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST
QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 23 AND THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE



WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 23, 1605.75 FEET TO THE 
PLACE OF BEGINNING EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PORTION LYING SOUTHWESTERLY 
OF A LINE 1450.00 FEET NORTHEASTERLY OF AND PARALLEL TO THE CENTER LINE OF 
MILWAUKEE  AVENUE, ALL IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 6: LOT “A” IN LINCOLNSHIRE UNIT NO. 6, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN SECTION 14 
AND 23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JUNE 6, 1956 AD DOCUMENT 992285, IN 
BOOK 34 OF PLATS, PAGE 70, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 7: THAT PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 23, TOWNSHIP 43 
NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE 
NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 
283.8 FEET; THENCE EASTERLY PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST 
QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 1331.25 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF THE WEST HALF OF SAID 
NORTHWEST QUARTER, THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE WEST 
HALF OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 541.2 FEET; THENCE EASTERLY 
PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; A DISTANCE OF 493.0 
FEET TO THE CENTER LINE OF THE DES PLAINES RIVER, THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG 
THE CENTER LINE OF THE DES PLAINES RIVER, A DISTANCE OF 929.0 FEET TO THE SOUTH 
LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF 
SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 2205.0 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING 
EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PORTION LYING IN THE WEST HALF OF SAID 
NORTHWEST QUARTER, ALL IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 8: THAT PART OF THE SOUTH HALF OF SECTION 23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, 
RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS, TO WIT: 
COMMENCING AT THE WEST QUARTER SECTION CORNER OF SAID SECTION 23; THENCE 
SOUTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION, 528.7 FEET TO THE CENTER OF THE 
NORTH MILL ROAD (SO CALLED); THENCE SOUTH 64 1/4 DEGREES EAST ALONG THE 
CENTER OF SAID ROAD, 2470.2 FEET TO AN IRON BAR, THENCE SOUTH 24 1/4 DEGREES 
WEST ALONG THE CENTER OF THE WEST RIVER ROAD (SO CALLED), 70 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 71 DEGREES EAST 604.5 FEET TO AN IRON BAR IN THE CENTER OF THE ROAD TO 
LAKE FOREST, WHICH SAID BAR IS IN A LINE WITH THE CENTER OF SAID NORTH MILL 
ROAD CONTINUED; THENCE NORTH 64 1/2 DEGREES EAST ALONG THE CENTER OF SAID 
LAKE FOREST ROAD, 440.9 FEET TO A STAKE; THENCE NORTH 48 1/2 DEGREES EAST 
ALONG THE CENTER OF SAID LAST NAMED ROAD, 483.6 FEET, THENCE NORTH 7 1/2 
DEGREES EAST ALONG THE CENTER OF SAID LAST NAMED ROAD, 462.1 FEET, THENCE 
EAST ON A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE EAST AND WEST QUARTER SECTION LINE, 1725 
FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION; THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF 
SAID SECTION, 861.9 FEET TO THE EAST QUARTER SECTION CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 



           
 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE EAST AND WEST QUARTER SECTION LINE TO THE PLACE OF 
BEGINNING EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PART THEREOF, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS, 
TO-WIT: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 23, THENCE SOUTH ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION, 861.9 FEET; 
THENCE WEST ON A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE EAST AND WEST QUARTER SECTION 
LINE, 1729.2 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 6º 36’ WEST 462.1 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 48 1/2º WEST 
108 FEET, THENCE NORTH 4º 14’ WEST 180.8 FEET TO THE CENTER OF THE DES PLAINES 
RIVER; THENCE NORTH 43º 14’ WEST ALONG THE CENTER OF THE DES PLAINES RIVER, 54 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 7º 5’ WEST, 1179.5 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE SAID 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 23; THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF 
THE SAID SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 
 
AND ALSO EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PART DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING 
AT A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF NORTH MILL ROAD (SO CALLED) 2393.02 FEET 
SOUTHEASTERLY, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID CENTER LINE OF THE INTERSECTION OF 
SAID CENTER LINE AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 23; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY 
ALONG SAID CENTER LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1427.0 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY AT 
RIGHT ANGLES TO SAID CENTER LINE, A DISTANCE OF 550.0 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 83 DEGREES TO THE RIGHT 
WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE EXTENDED, A DISTANCE OF 767.0 FEET, THENCE 
SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 40 DEGREES TO THE RIGHT 
WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE EXTENDED, A DISTANCE OF 190.0 FEET; THENCE 
NORTHEASTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 86 DEGREES TO THE LEFT 
WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE EXTENDED, A DISTANCE OF 675.25 FEET, THENCE 
SOUTHWESTERLY 963.40 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING.  
 
ALSO EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PART OF THE SOUTH HALF OF SECTION 23, 
TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING 
EASTERLY OF THE CENTER LINE OF THE DES PLAINES RIVER. 
 
ALSO EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PART OF SAID SOUTH HALF DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF NORTH MILL ROAD, 
2393.02 FEET SOUTHEASTERLY, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID CENTER LINE OF THE 
INTERSECTION OF SAID CENTER LINE AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 23; THENCE 
NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE A DISTANCE OF 1427.0 FEET TO THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY AT RIGHT ANGLES TO SAID CENTER LINE A 
DISTANCE OF 550.0 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE 
OF 88 DEGREES TO THE RIGHT WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE EXTENDED, A 
DISTANCE OF 767.0 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE 
OF 40 DEGREES TO THE RIGHT WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE EXTENDED, A 
DISTANCE OF 190.0 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE 
OF 86 DEGREES TO THE LEFT WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE EXTENDED, A 
DISTANCE OF 591.3 FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY A DISTANCE OF 1323.1 FEET, MORE 
OR LESS, TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH HALF OF SAID SECTION 23; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1430.4 FEET TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH HALF; THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID SOUTH HALF 528.7 FEET TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE CENTER LINE OF 
THE NORTH MILL ROAD, THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE, A 



DISTANCE OF 966.02 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, ALL IN LAKE 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 9: THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 22, TOWNSHIP 43 
NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 22; THENCE SOUTH ALONG 
THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 22, A DISTANCE OF 764.05 FEET TO A POINT, SAID POINT 
FURTHER DESCRIBED AS NORTH 89º 25’ 30” EAST A DISTANCE OF 1313.40 FEET FROM A 
POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF MILWAUKEE AVENUE, WHICH IS SOUTHEASTERLY 813.60 
FEET ALONG SAID CENTER LINE FROM THE INTERSECTION OF SAID CENTER LINE AND 
THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 22; THENCE SOUTH 89º 25’ 30” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 
101.8 FEET; THENCE NORTH 5º 5’ 20” WEST A DISTANCE OF 262.00 FEET, MORE OR LESS, 
TO A POINT ON THE CENTER LINE OF INDIAN CREEK AS LOCATED ON AUGUST 26, 1948, 
SAID POINT BEING FURTHER DESCRIBED AS BEARING NORTH 51º 41’ 30” EAST ALONG 
SAID INDIAN CREEK CENTER LINE, A DISTANCE OF 159.61 FEET FROM A POINT ON THE 
EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 22, 603.05 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
SAID SECTION 22; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY A DISTANCE OF 519.38 FEET, MORE OR LESS, 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 10: THE EAST 466.00 FEET OF THE SOUTH 283.80 FEET OF THE WEST HALF OF 
THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 11: THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION
23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE NORTH LINE OF 
THE SOUTH 4.30 CHAINS (283.8 FEET) AND A LINE 1450.0 FEET NORTHEASTERLY OF AN 
PARALLEL TO THE CENTER LINE OF MILWAUKEE AVENUE; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY 
ALONG SAID PARALLEL LINE 454.4 FEET; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY 439.6 FEET TO A 
POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 4.30 CHAINS (283.8 FEET) OF SAID WEST HALF, 
SAID POINT BEING 448.8 FEET EAST OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF AS 
MEASURED ALONG SAID NORTH LINE; THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID NORTH LINE 
171.0 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING , IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 12: THAT PART OF THE SOUTH HALF OF SECTION 23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, 
RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, BEING A STRIP OF LAND 25.0 FEET
IN WIDTH MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENDING AT A POINT 
ON THE CENTER LINE OF NORTH MILL ROAD, 2393.02 FEET SOUTHEASTERLY, AS 
MEASURED ALONG SAID CENTER LINE OF THE INTERSECTION OF SAID CENTER LINE 
AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 23; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID 



CENTER LINE A DISTANCE OF 1427.0 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY AT RIGHT ANGLES 
TO SAID CENTER LINE A DISTANCE OF 550.0 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A 
LINE FORMING A N ANGLE OF 83 DEGREES TO THE RIGHT WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED 
COURSE EXTENDED, A DISTANCE OF 767.0 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A 
LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 40 DEGREES TO THE RIGHT WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED 
COURSE EXTENDED, A DISTANCE OF 190.0 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG A 
LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 86 DEGREES TO THE LEFT WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED 
COURSE EXTENDED, A DISTANCE OF 561.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
CONTINUING NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE 29.81 FEET; 
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY A DISTANCE OF 1232.1 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT ON 
THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH HALF OF SAID SECTION 23; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG 
SAID NORTH LINE TO A DISTANCE OF 1016.0 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT ON SAID 
NORTH LINE 414.4 FEET EAST OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SOUTH HALF, AS 
MEASURED ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, THENCE SOUTHERLY AT RIGHT ANGLES TO THE 
LAST DESCRIBED COURSE 25.0 FEET; THENCE EASTERLY PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE 
OF SAID SOUTH HALF 1008.4 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY 1208.3 FEET TO THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AND

PARCEL 13: THE SOUTH 4.30 CHAINS (283.8 FEED) OF THE WEST HALF OF THE 
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 23, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE 
THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE EAST 466.0 FEET AND THAT 
PORTION LYING WEST OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON
THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 4.30 CHAINS (263.8 FEET) OF SAID WEST HALF, 44.8 FEET 
EAST OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF AS MEASURED ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, 
THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY 285.4 FEET MORE OR LESS TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE 
OF THE SOUTH 4.30 CHAINS (263.8 FEED) OF SAID WEST HALF, 414.4 FEET EAST OF THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID WEST HALF, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, IN LAKE 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



EXHIBIT B 

GROUND AND DIRECTIONAL SIGN PLANS



 

Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

 

 
V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_04_08_COW_PrairieViewMetraStationPlan_BoundaryAgreement.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole  

April 8, 2019 
 

Subject:  Draft Plan for the Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan and the 
Existing Boundary and Planning Agreement between the Village of 
Lincolnshire and Village of Buffalo Grove 
 

Action Requested: Discussion and Direction Regarding the Village of Buffalo Grove’s 
Draft Plan for the Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan as it Relates 
to the Existing Boundary and Planning Agreement between the 
Village of Lincolnshire and Village of Buffalo Grove 
 

Originated By/Contact: Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic 
Development Director 
 

Referred To:  Village Board  
 

 
Background:   
In April 2018, the Village of Buffalo 
Grove began work on an update to its 
comprehensive plan for the Prairie 
View Metra Station Area (Prairie View 
Plan). The project area encompasses 
approximately 128 acres, portions of 
which are in Buffalo Grove’s 
jurisdiction as well as unincorporated 
Vernon Township. The plan is 
scheduled to be presented and 
approved by the Buffalo Grove Village 
Board on April 15th. Prior to the plan’s 
approval, Buffalo Grove is soliciting 
public comment.  
 
In 2005, the “Boundary and Planning 
Agreement between the Village of 
Lincolnshire and Village of Buffalo 
Grove” (Boundary Agreement) was 
approved by both Village Boards. This 
intergovernmental agreement was 
intended to define logical municipal 
boundaries and guide development of 
undeveloped and underdeveloped 
property within the combined planning 
jurisdictions of both Villages consistent 
with their respective Comprehensive 
Plans. The Prairie View Plan 
contemplates development on the 40-
acre, unincorporated Stancliff Property 

Figure 1 



 

Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

 

 
V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_04_08_COW_PrairieViewMetraStationPlan_BoundaryAgreement.doc 

(see Figure 1). The Stancliff Property is also subject to land use restrictions delineated in the 
Boundary Agreement. Based upon the Boundary Agreement, the Stancliff Property is eventually 
to be annexed by Buffalo Grove at a future date.  
 
Given the interplay between the Prairie View Plan and Boundary Agreement, staff is requesting 
feedback from the Village Board regarding the Prairie View Plan recommendations for the 
Stancliff Property. In turn, this may impact any potential changes to the Boundary Agreement as 
well as the Prairie View Plan itself. 
 
Summary – Draft Plan for the Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan:  
The Plan’s main objective is to create a “cohesive vision” across three Buffalo Grove planning 
subareas in an effort to leverage the Prairie View Metra Station as an amenity for future 
residents. 
 
� North Subarea: The North Subarea consists of the 40-acre Stancliff Property. The Plan 

recommends a mix of compact single-family detached and attached housing, as well as 
incorporating sustainable strategies. This is the only subarea governed by the Boundary 
Agreement. 

� Central Subarea: The Central Subarea contains unincorporated properties west of the 
Prairie View Metra Station and north of Half Day Road. This subarea calls for a variety of 
housing choices and commercial activities. 

� South Subarea: The South Subarea proposes a corner mixed-use building with gateway 
signage and plaza at the southwest of Half Day Road and North Prairie Road. Stacked 
townhomes and stormwater detention areas are located throughout this subarea. 

 
Three types of housing are recommended across the three subareas, totaling 658 units. All of 
the proposed housing units would be within the Lincolnshire-Prairie View School District 103 
(D103) and the Adlai E. Stevenson High School District 125 (D125) school district boundaries 
(see Documents 4 and 5, respectively). Of the 658 units, the Stancliff Property calls for 131 
units (approximately 20% of all units). See Table 1 below for additional details. 
 

Table 1: Prairie View Metra Plan – Housing Type and Unit Recommendations by Subarea 

North Subarea 
Stancliff Property 

Central Subarea 
Prairie View Station 

South Subarea 
(Half Day Rd. /  

Prairie Rd. Corner) 
TOTAL 

Townhome/ 
Rowhome 

                         58                              87                           64             209  

Single-Family 
Detached 

                         73                              15                           39             127  

Multi-Family                           -                             332                            -               322  
TOTAL                       131 

(3.3 units/acre) 
                         434 

(4.6 units/acre)  
                      103 

(9.5 units/acre) 
           658 

(4.6 units/acre)  
 
On several occasions within the proposed Prairie View Plan, the Village of Buffalo Grove 
acknowledges the Boundary Agreement as well as the need for Buffalo Grove to revisit it in 
concert with the Village of Lincolnshire to “reflect the vision set forth in the Plan.” Revisiting the 
Boundary Agreement is necessary because the Stancliff Property units/acre recommendation 
(3.3) exceeds the agreed-upon units/acre in the Boundary Agreement (2.0). At 40 acres, this is 
a difference of 51 units. The Plan is silent with respect to projected household size and student 
generation. Nonetheless, public engagement sessions found some concerns with the impact of 
the development on Stevenson High School, as well as some desire to keep single-family 
housing on the Stancliff Property.  



 

Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

 

 
V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_04_08_COW_PrairieViewMetraStationPlan_BoundaryAgreement.doc 

Summary – Boundary Agreement and Amendment Process: 
The Boundary Agreement was approved by both Villages in 2005. The Boundary Agreement 
identifies the most logical municipal boundaries for Lincolnshire and Buffalo Grove; clarifies 
the appropriate land uses; and designates the desired densities for a variety of unincorporated 
areas within the municipalities’ overlapping planning jurisdiction areas. The Boundary 
Agreement also ensures that local residents and officials – not real estate developers – 
determine the most desirable development scenarios for undeveloped and underdeveloped 
properties within the Boundary Agreement map area. Furthermore, the Boundary 
Agreement marked the successful conclusion of a long-term goal of the Mayor and Board of 
Trustees to secure the annexation of desirable properties and ensure Lincolnshire’s vision for 
appropriate growth and development is realized. Since adoption of the Boundary Agreement, 
several properties have been annexed by Lincolnshire that are subject to the Boundary 
Agreement, including the 34-acre Boznos/Par King property, the 20-acre Lincolnshire Trails 
property, and the four-acre former Cubby Bear (now Loft 21) property. 
 
It is important to reiterate that the Prairie View Plan is an update to Buffalo Grove’s 
Comprehensive Plan. Comprehensive Plans for all communities are not “legally binding”, but 
rather offer recommendations for future land use to help guide cohesive development. As 
such, were the Buffalo Grove Village Board to adopt the Prairie View Plan with the 3.3 
units/acre recommendation for the Stancliff Property, this would not supersede the 2.0 
units/acre recommendation in the Boundary Agreement. This process has been confirmed by 
Village Attorney Simon. 
 
For the density to be permitted to increase on the Stancliff Property, the Boundary Agreement 
must be amended and approved by both Village Boards. Neither Village may directly or 
indirectly seek any modification of the Boundary Agreement through court action. The 
Boundary Agreement stands as approved until amended or changed by the mutual agreement 
of both Village Boards. Otherwise, the Boundary Agreement is in full force and effect through 
May 23, 2025. Either Village may terminate the agreement by serving written notice not less 
than 180 days prior to the expiration of the agreement. If no written notice is delivered, the 
Boundary Agreement automatically renews for successive five-year terms. 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends the Lincolnshire Village Board leverage the Prairie View Plan 
recommendations to engage the Village of Buffalo Grove to holistically review the Boundary 
Agreement in its entirety. Although the Lincolnshire Village Board has been prudent with 
respect to the impact of development on D103 and D125 student populations, the 51-unit 
difference between the Boundary Agreement and Prairie View Plan recommendations should 
not deter the Village Board from identifying other areas of the Boundary Agreement that could 
better serve the broader interests and initiatives of Lincolnshire.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

 

 
V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_04_08_COW_PrairieViewMetraStationPlan_BoundaryAgreement.doc 

 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Village of Buffalo Grove’s Draft Plan for the Prairie View Metra Station Area 

Plan 
� Document 2: Executed 2005 Boundary and Planning Agreement between the Village of 

Lincolnshire and Village of Buffalo Grove 
� Document 3: Boundary Agreement Map, prepared by MGP 
� Document 4: Adlai E. Stevenson School District 125 – Boundary Map 
� Document 5: Lincolnshire-Prairie View School District 103 – Boundary Map 

 
Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole April 8, 2019 
 



Draft Plan
Village of Buffalo Grove 
Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan

February 2019

DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



01 Introduction   4

02 Principles & Concepts   20

03 Land Use & Development   28

04 Transportation & Infrastructure Plan   48

05 Open Space & Sustainability   62

06 Implementation   66

A Appendix   74

Table of Contents

DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Steering Committee
Eric Smith, Trustee, Village of Buffalo Grove Board

Daniel Didech/Jonathan Altenberg, Supervisor, Vernon Township

Patrick Palbicke, Assistant Superintendent for Business at 
Lincolnshire Prairie View District #103

Allison Buchwach, Senior Planner, Metra

Kyle Olson, Resident, Village of Buffalo Grove

Frank Cesario, Chair, Village of Buffalo Grove 
Planning and Zoning Commission

Bill Hoffman, Resident and business owner, 
Village of Buffalo Grove

Jim Kedroski, Local builder and resident, 
Village of Buffalo Grove

Village of Buffalo Grove
Dane Bragg, Village Manager

Jenny Maltas, Deputy Village Manager

Chris Stilling, Community Development Director

Nicole Woods, Principal Planner

Rati Akash, Village Planner

Darren Monico, Village Engineer

Consultant Team

Acknowledgments

DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Introduction
The Prairie View Metra Station Area is an asset to the Village of 
Buffalo Grove. A cohesive vision for this area can unlock its potential 
by providing a framework for future development. The Station Area is 
primarily made up of residential, commercial, retail, and institutional 
uses. There are underutilized parcels and unincorporated land that 
have both economic development and quality of life potential. 
A diversity of tenancies ranging from scrap metal to landscape 
supplies, from healthcare to residential, from school and church 
facilities to an active retail center. The immediate station area is 
surrounded by residential development made up of primarily single-
family homes with adjacent local small businesses. An historic 
mixed-use hamlet adds character and context to the study area. 
Improving connectivity between the Prairie View Metra Station, 
businesses along Half Day Road, adjacent residential properties and 
commercial businesses that make up the Station Area can attract 
more investment.

The planning process focused on making an authentic destination 

the Station Area and then drawing upon those elements to make 
a cohesive and legible environment that is attractive to investors 
and developers. By leveraging the strengths of the Station Area 
– proximity to regional transportation and roadway systems, 
connectivity to regional trail systems, access to natural resource 
amenities such as the nearby Forest Preserve District lands, 
established neighborhoods with historical characters, and a variety 
of retail, civic, commercial, religious and institutional businesses – 

1
4 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT

For Review

Document 1



Local and regional plans served as a framework and guidance to 
the development of the Prairie View Station Area Plan. These plans 
include:

 • Buffalo Grove Lake Cook Corridor Market Study and Plan (2018)
 • Buffalo Grove Economic Development Strategic Plan (2015)
 • Buffalo Grove Annexation Strategy and Plan (2016)
 • Buffalo Grove 2018-2023 Strategic Plan (2018)
 • Buffalo Grove Homes for a Changing Region (2013)
 • Buffalo Grove Comprehensive Plan (2009)
 • Buffalo Grove Transit Station Areas Plan(2007)
 • Lake County Strategic Plan (2017)
 • Lake County Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (2013)
 • CMAP Go To 2040 (2010)/On To 2050 (2018) 

The vision and planning framework for the Prairie View Station 
Area integrate future land use, economic development and 
multimodal transportation planning strategies. This plan serves as 

will assist the Village in making informed decisions that best serve 
residents needs in the community over the next 15 to 20 years.

The Plan was created to achieve the following objectives:

 • Objective 1: Provide a Framework for the Community’s 
Aspirations

 • Objective 2: Integrate Previous Plans to Strengthen 
Community Identity

 • Objective 3: Support Activation of the Station Area

 • Objective 4: Build Consensus through Outreach with Key 
Stakeholders 

HOW TO USE THIS PLAN
The Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan establishes policies that 
will guide the physical development of the Prairie View Metra Station 
Area. These policies are vital in supporting the Village’s staff, elected 

evaluate future projects, development, and land annexation. The Plan 
can serve as a marketing tool to highlight the Village and the Prairie 
View Metra Station Area’s unique assets and economic advantages 
within the Chicagoland region. It can also be used to support 
applications for grants and to demonstrate that future projects align 
with the Village’s larger, holistic strategy and developmental vision 
rather than stand-alone efforts.

Introduction 5DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



HISTORY OF PRAIRIE VIEW
The original homes of Prairie View were mostly established in a 
piecemeal fashion along Easton Avenue during the late 19th century and 
early 1980s. At that time, Prairie View had an old train station that was 
named after the “Soo Line,” a passenger rail line that served Prairie View 
residents but was discontinued in the early 1960s. This structure was 
torn down and was replaced with the present Prairie View Metra Station 
in 1996. At that time, the Prairie View Metra Station did not look “new,” 
as its architecture was intended to have the same architectural style as 
the residences in the Prairie View community.

Prairie View was also home to the Vernon American Legion Post 
1247 (presently at 16595 Easton Avenue). However, aging veterans 
and declining membership prompted the relocation of this service. 
Instead of leaving this historic building to neglect, local architects 

Over time, the area in and around Prairie View was slowly annexed 
by adjacent municipalities, including the Village of Buffalo Grove 
and Lincolnshire. This trend has resulted in northern Prairie View 
being landlocked by incorporated lands. As a result, newer and more 
contemporary residential developments are being developed. There is 
also a boundary agreement between the Village of Buffalo Grove and 
Lincolnshire that affects 40 acres of land near Prairie Road.

Past news article showing the current and previous train station in Prairie View.

Past news article showing a rendering of the rehabilitated Vernon Legion Post 1247 A map showing Prairie View’s parcels and development in the 19th Century.

6 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Aerial view of Prairie View area in 1994. | Credit: Google Earth

Introduction 7DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



STUDY AREA & LOCAL CONTEXT
The Prairie View Metra Station Area roughly covers 128 acres 
and is located in the northern part of Buffalo Grove, centered 
around the Prairie View Metra Station. This encompasses land on 
both east and west sides of Main Street that includes of Noah’s 
Landing, Prairie Landing, Easton Station residential developments; 
Woodlands Shopping Center; Sunrise Retirement facility; and other 
businesses, and homes in the unincorporated Vernon Township. The 
Stancliff property, a vacant 40 acre parcel just southeast of Port 
Clinton and Prairie Roads, marks the northern edges of the study 
area while the vacant triangle parcel southeast of Half Day and 
Prairie Roads denotes the southern edge.

The Prairie View Metra Station area is one of two Metra stations 
that is located within the Village of Buffalo Grove. It has access to 
Half Day Road, which is a critical east-west roadway that connects 
residents to the regional transportation network. Buffalo Grove 
Road is located one-half mile west of the station, which provides 
residents access Interstate 94, Milwaukee Avenue (US Highway 
45), and County Highway 83. 

The Station Area is located near prominent destinations and 
community facilities. These include the Arboretum Club, the Adlai 
E. Stevenson High School to the east, and Sullivan Woods and 
Peterson Woods to the north.

AKLAKKE
NCOUNNTY

COOCOOCCOOK
OUNTYOO YOUO TYCOUNT

LA
K

E  M
I CH

I G
A

N

Palatine
NorthbrookWheeling

Inverness

Arlington
Heights

Glencoe

Winnetka

Northfield

Barrington

Prospect
Heights

Palatine

Lake
Forest

Long Grove Highland
Park

Lake
Zurich

Mettawa

Deerfield

Mundelein

Lincolnshire

Deer Park
Riverwoods

Vernon HillsHawthorn
Woods

Kildeer

North
Barrington

Wauconda

94

94
294

83

21

22

68

43

43

60

68

83

53

53

59

176

12

12

41

41

14

21PRAIRIE VIEW
METRA STATION AREA

VILLAGE OF BUFFALO GROVE

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

ROSLYN LN

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

PARK AVE

PRAIRIE RD

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

N M
AIN ST

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

W EASTON AVE

W BROCKMAN AVE

22

Study Area Boundary

Village of Buffalo Grove 
Municipal Boundary

STUDY AREA

8 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



1

4

3

2

APR - MAY 2018
Project Initiation

MAY - JUL 2018
Data Collection, Land Use &
Market Assessment

FEB- APRIL 2019
Final Station Area Plan

AUG- FEB 2019
Draft Station Area Plan

At the onset of the project, logistics regarding schedule, milestones, data source availability, and 
critical issues affecting the project were established. Additionally, the consultant team, along with the 
Village Staff, hosted the first public workshop and an online survey to gain input from residents and 
stakeholders regarding the Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan. Interviews were also conducted with 
key stakeholders.

During this stage, the consultant team assessed and evaluated physical conditions of the Prairie View 
Metra Station Area context. Land use and zoning, current and ongoing planning activities, open space, 
key urban design features, utilities, strategic properties, area assets, and environmental considerations 
as well as vehicular, bicycle, and pedestrian systems, and traffic patterns were investigated. 

In this phase, specific recommendations and strategies for the Prairie View Metra Station are devel-
oped that incorporate best practices for transit supportive development including mixed use, increased 
densities, and balanced parking requirements to create an economical and vibrant environment. The 
Draft Plan “tests” the proposed location of recommended development sites identified in the market 
assessment with the vision and character goals of Buffalo Grove. 

The Final Plan illustrates the refinement of the project vision, development goals, transportation, market 
analysis, and implementation. The information gathered in Stages 1-3 is compiled and used in the Final 
Prairie View Station Area Plan.

PROJECT SCHEDULE
The planning process had four stages that created a station area plan for Prairie View.

Introduction 9DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



MAY JUN JULAPR2018

April 12
Kick-Off Meeting
The project Steering Committee met to kick-off the planning process. 
The project Steering Committee is composed of long-time Prairie View 
residents, business owners, property owners, transportation agencies, 
Buffalo Grove staff, school representatives, and adjacent community 
appointed officials. During the kick-off meeting, the Steering Committee 
was given a presentation to orient them to the planning process, project 
goals and objectives, and was asked to share their vision and 
experience for the project area.

Ongoing
Project Website
A project website was created for the 
project to extend the in-person public 
engagement and allow project 
stakeholders to participate in the planning 
process at their convenience. The website 
provides information on upcoming and past 
project events, communicates the goals 
and objectives of the Plan, and updates 
visitors on progress towards project 
implementation.

May 29 & June 29
Village-led Key Person Interviews
The Village of Buffalo Grove facilitated a series of key person 
interviews with local residents, developers, business owners, 
and representatives of the Lincolnshire-Prairie View School 
District 103 and Stevenson District 125. 

May 15 - 25
Online Survey
An online survey was provided for those that could not 
attend the Workshop #1. The online survey asked 
participants similar questions to those discussed in the 
in-person workshop.

May 10
Public Workshop #1
On May 10th, 2018, the Village of Buffalo Grove kicked-off its 7-month process to create the 
Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan with a public workshop held at the Arboretum Club on 
Half Day Road. The workshop had over 150 community members attend who had an 
opportunity to shape the future of the Station Area. The workshop was organized into five 
stations in which participants could share their vision, development preferences, and defining 
characteristics of the Station Area.

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT
To create the Prairie View Station Area Plan, the voices of the community needed to be heard. The 
public engagement process provided a variety of methods to solicit input into the planning process by 
understanding the public’s needs, preferences, priorities, and vision for the Prairie View Metra Station 
Area. 

10 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



20192018

AUG SEP - DEC FEBJAN MAR APR

Interactions with the Public

Steering Committee  &
Village Meetings

Online Survey

Project Website

2019

August 2
Steering Committee 
Meeting
The project Steering Committee met 
with the consultant team to review the 
findings of the Existing Conditions 
Report. The meeting also included 
discussion in formulating a vision and 
goals for the Prairie View Metra 
Station Area Plan.

January 30
Steering Committee Meeting
This meeting focused on reviewing the draft Prairie 
View Metra Station Area Plan and formulated 
implementation strategies.

FEB 21 - MAR 4
Online Survey
An online survey was parovided for those that 
could not attend Workshop #2. The survey asked 
respondents for their feedback regarding the 
vision presented. 

February 20
Public Workshop #2
The consultant team and Village staff 
facilitated the second public 
workshop to present the vision and 
the draft Prairie View Metra Station 
Area Plan to the public.

MAR 4 - APR 5
Public Comment 
Period
The public comment period 
included various opportunities for 
the public and the Board to provide 
any comments on the Draft Plan. 
These opportunities included the 
Committee of the Whole, public 
hearing with the Planning and 
Zoning Commission, and other 
open houses.   

APR 15
Presentation & 
Approval of 
Final Plan

Introduction 11DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



SUMMARY OF 
EXISTING CONDITIONS

Land Use Patterns
The Prairie View Metra Station can be characterized by three 
distinct zones. Land uses within these areas vary slightly, however, 
there are notable spatial patterns. 

Zone 1
Zone 1 is the area fronting W Half Day Road and west of N Main 
Street, in addition to the site at the southeast corner of W Half 
Day Road and N Prairie Road. The portion west of W Easton Ave 

living facility are within the Village limits. The rest of Zone 1 is 
within unincorporated Lake County. This area includes: a plant 
nursery, a scrap metal business, and single-family detached 
housing, which is in the southeastern portion of Zone 1. This area is 
currently unincorporated and is not connected to the Village’s utility 
infrastructure and public services. 

Zone 2
The second zone primarily consists of residential development east 
of Prairie Road and north of W Half Day Road. There is a residential 
subdivision that consists of townhomes. Prairie Landing Townhomes, 
which consists of the lots at the northeast corner of W Half Day Road 
and Prairie Road, is to be constructed as townhomes.

12 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Zone 3
The third zone consists of parcels on both sides of the 
Metra rail tracks and north of Zone 1 and 2. The west 
side of the tracks contains small-scale businesses 
along N Main Street, in addition to pockets of vacant 
lots. These businesses provide services and limited 
commercial offerings. Further west are mostly single-
family detached homes within unincorporated Lake 
County. The Easton Station Townhomes, within the 
Village limits, are recent examples of more modern 
housing typologies coming into the community. They 
offer different housing types and amenities and are 
geared towards the changing Village demographic, 
in contrast to older and more suburban-style housing 
subdivisions, such as Noah’s Landing.

To the east of the rail tracks, the land use is mostly 
comprised of single-family detached housing. Some of 
these parcels are within unincorporated Lake County. 
To the north, the 40-acre Stancliff Property remains 
mostly agricultural. This property is under a boundary 
agreement between the Village of Buffalo Grove and 
the Village of Lincolnshire.

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

ROSLYN LN

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

PARK AVE

PRAIRIE RD

1S
T 

ST

2N
D 

ST

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

N M
AIN ST

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

W EASTON AVE

W BROCKMAN AVE

22

Study Area Boundary
Village of Buffalo Grove 
Municipal Boundary

Zone 1
Zone 2
Zone 3

CHARACTER ZONE

Introduction 13DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Land Jurisdiction
Land within the Prairie View Metra Station Area includes parcels 
that are incorporated into the Village of Buffalo Grove as well as 
unincorporated parcels. Incorporated parcels are serviced by the 
Village’s utility infrastructure and public service departments. The 
remaining parcels, including the Stancliff Property are unincorporated 
and are under the jurisdictional authority of Lake County. There 
are observable physical differences between unincorporated and 
incorporated areas including lack of sidewalks, lack of utility 
infrastructure, and fewer streetlights.

Some of the unincorporated area within the Prairie View Metra 
Station Area, including the 40-acre Stancliff Property, is subject to 
the 2005 boundary agreement between the Village of Buffalo Grove 

boundary lines as well as future land uses.

14 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Lincolnshire

Vernon Hills

Long
Grove

Peterson 
Park

Adlai E. Stevenson H.S.
School Yard

The Arboretum Club

Indian Creek

BRANDYWYN LN

M
ILL

BR
OO

K 
DR

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

M
AD

IE
RA

 LN

N 
PR

AI
RI

E 
LN

PA
LA

ZZ
O 

DR

CHESTNUT TER

DAULTO
N DR

AP
PL

E 
HI

LL
 LN

FOXFORD DR

N 
HO

TZ
 R

D

ROSLYN LN

N RALEIGH DR

ST
EV

EN
SO

N 
DR

W HALF DAY  

CREEK BEND DR

W
HISPERING OAKS DR

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

CARLYLE LN

PARK AVE

W
ATERBURY LN

CREEK VIEW DR

DU
NS

TA
N 

LN

1S
T 

ST

LEE LN

TAYLOR CT

N 
KI

NG
ST

ON
 R

OW

OV
ER

VI
EW

 D
R

2N
D 

ST

AVALON CT

PRAIRIE RD

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

BU
FF

AL
O 

GR
OV

E 
RD

N M
AIN ST

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

N
 B

UF
FA

LO
 G

RO
VE

 R
D

W EASTON AVE

W BROCKMAN AVE

N M
AIN ST

22

22

0 500 1,000250
FeetNorth

Legend
Study Area Boundary
Village of Buffalo Grove 
Municipal Boundary
Future annexation into Village of 
Buffalo Grove via Boundary 
Agreement

Stancliff Farm (40 acres)
Village of Buffalo Grove
Village of Vernon Hills
Village of Lincolnshire
Unincorporated Lake County

Prairie View Metra Station

JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY

Introduction 15DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Architectural Typologies & Character
The overall development of the Prairie View Metra Station Area 
presents a cohesive and comprehensive cross section of Post-War 
suburban residential development in the Midwestern United States.

Five Primary Typologies were observed within the six area zones 

 • The American Foursquare (Early 1900s)

 • The Post-War Building Boom (1940s - 1970s)

 • The Late 20th Century Single Family Home (1980s-2000s)

 • The 21st Century Paired Home (1990s-2000s)

 • The New Urbanist Townhome (2010s)The American Foursquare
@ Zone 5

The Post-War Building 
Boom @ Zone 4

The Late 20th Century Single 
Family Home @ Zone 1 & 3

The 21st Century 
Paired Home @ Zone 6

The New Urbanist 
Townhome @ Zone 2

16 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Lincolnshire

Vernon Hills

Long
Grove

Peterson 
Park

Adlai E. Stevenson H.S.
School Yard

The Arboretum Club

Indian Creek

BRANDYWYN LN

M
ILL

BR
OO

K 
DR

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

M
AD

IE
RA

 LN

N 
PR

AI
RI

E 
LN

PA
LA

ZZ
O 

DR

CHESTNUT TER

DAULTO
N DR

AP
PL

E 
HI

LL
 LN

FOXFORD DR

N 
HO

TZ
 R

D

ROSLYN LN

N RALEIGH DR

ST
EV

EN
SO

N 
DR

W HALF DAY  

CREEK BEND DR

W
HISPERING OAKS DR

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

CARLYLE LN

PARK AVE

W
ATERBURY LN

CREEK VIEW DR

DU
NS

TA
N 

LN

1S
T 

ST

LEE LN

TAYLOR CT

N 
KI

NG
ST

ON
 R

OW

OV
ER

VI
EW

 D
R

AVALON CT

PRAIRIE RD

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

BU
FF

AL
O 

GR
OV

E 
RD

N M
AIN ST

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

N
 B

UF
FA

LO
 G

RO
VE

 R
D

W EASTON AVE N M
AIN ST

22

22

Zone 4

Zone 3

Zone 2

Zone 6

Zone 5

Zone 1

0 500 1,000250
FeetNorth

ARCHITECTURAL TYPOLOGY ZONES
Legend

Study Area Boundary
Village of Buffalo Grove 
Municipal Boundary
Proposed Roadway Alignment
Prairie View Metra Station

North Subarea
Central Subarea
South Subarea
Parks/Open Space

Introduction 17DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Transportation

The Prairie View Metra station is located approximately 3.5 
miles west of Interstate 94. East-west access to the study area is 
provided by Half Day Road (IL Route 22). Located approximately 
one mile east of the study area, Milwaukee Avenue (IL Route 21) 
provides north-south access to the study area.

Throughout the study area, the street system is predominantly a 
network of local and collector roadways with arterial roadways 
around the perimeter. 

Transit
The Prairie View station serves as a key activity center for the 
study area. Located along the Metra North Central Service (NCS) 
Line, commuter rail service is provided on track owned by Canadian 
National Railway Company (CN). The tracks also support active 
freight. According to data provided by the Illinois Commerce 
Commission, an average of 42 daily trains, including 22 passenger 
trains, is reported at the at-grade crossing on Buffalo Grove Road. 
In addition to the Buffalo Grove Road crossing, an additional at-
grade crossing is located within the study area at Half Day Road. A 
dedicated pedestrian crossing is also provided near the Prairie View 
station building.

The NCS Line provides north-south commuter access between 
Chicago Union Station and the Village of Antioch. Monday through 
Friday, Metra operates a total of nine inbound trains from Prairie 
View to Union Station, and a total of ten outbound trains from 
Union Station to Prairie View. These trains also provide access 
between Prairie View and the O’Hare Transfer station. Weekend 
Metra service is not provided along the NCS Line.

Prairie View is the second busiest station on the NCS Line with a 
total of 388 boardings (all trains). With a total of 590 boardings 
(all trains), Buffalo Grove is the busiest station along the NCS 
Line. The Prairie View Metra Station’s parking lot has a capacity 
for 431 spaces and it has an observed utilization of approximately 
73%. A good portion of the commuter parking space are utilized by 
Stevenson High School students. 

Approximately 20 percent of commuters are dropped-off at the 
station. Vehicle pick-up/drop-off activity currently occurs in the 
commuter parking lots on both the east and west sides of the train 

commuters who walk to/from the station. It is important to note 
that approximately 20 percent of commuters using the Prairie View 
station walk, which is about double the percentage of commuters 
walking to both the Vernon Hills and Buffalo Grove stations.

Fixed route bus service to the Prairie View Metra station is not 
currently provided.

Pedestrian and Bicycle Network
In general, pedestrian connectivity in the study area is 
discontinuous with sidewalk provided along some segments. 
Although the study area maintains a pedestrian-scale development 
pattern, infrastructure to support pedestrian activity is limited and 
in some cases, the built environment discourages pedestrians. 

The existing bicycle network provides connectivity between 
adjacent residential subdivisions, commercial areas (e.g., 
Woodland Commons), Prairie View Metra Station, area parks and 
recreational and institutional uses such as local parks, schools, 

18 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Market and Economic Assessment

and market base. The population approximately a quarter of a mile 
from the Prairie View Metra Station, which encompasses the study 
area, has approximately 504 people and 200 households in 2018. 

The Prairie View Metra Station Area’s residential market is strong 
as families with children are attracted to the area’s high quality 
public school district. Single-family homes, condominiums, and 
townhomes are being quickly absorbed into the market. The Prairie 
View Metra Station Area’s is positioned well to offer housing 
typologies that are appealing to the empty-nester and millennial 
demographics. These demographics value walkability (especially 
near commercial options), open space, condominium/townhome 
housing products that offer little to no maintenance. Access to the 
Metra train station will also be one of the greatest amenities the 
Prairie View Metra Station area offers.

The Prairie View submarket is positioned between two relatively 
strong retail areas. To the west of Prairie View is the Woodland 
Commons shopping center and to the east is the Milwaukee Road 
Corridor. There are also other numerous retail and shopping choices 
within a few miles of the Prairie View station. 

Based on market analyses, the area may be able to support 
approximately 40,000 to 50,000 square feet of retail oriented 
towards commuter and residential needs as well as destination 
businesses.

With the local resident household’s higher proclivity for health 

nearby residents. Personal health care services such as: hair/

foods represent another potential retail market. Drinking/food 
establishments that complement other health and wellness 
businesses are also viable. All retail should contribute to the 
identity and character of the area.

Introduction 19DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



2
Principles & Concepts
Developing a community-driven vision was a fundamental objective of the Plan. Consequently, the 

the plan’s principles. These principles guided the vision’s direction and development.

7 Principles

Principle 1

Preservation and celebration of area’s historical character, charm and small 
town feel. The Prairie View area’s buildings and architecture provide a distinctive 
character and charm. The Plan should look to enhance and celebrate this character.

Principle 2

Create a Destination and establish an identity. The Plan should look to establish 
the Prairie View Area as a destination and help it achieve a sense of identity. The 
place-making elements should be authentic and unique to the area, but support and 
complement the area’s context and strengths.

20 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Principle 3

Incorporate and leverage the area’s greatest assets. The neighborhood has 
access to various amenities, assets, and resources including the Prairie View Train 
Station, Vernon Township, and Stevenson High School. The plan should look to build 
off these assets as they provide additional means of vibrancy and character.

Principle 4

Provide residential options that accommodate the changing demographics. 
The Plan should look to provide residential options that can accommodate the needs 
of the area’s emerging demographics which include millennials, young families, baby 
boomers, and empty nesters.

Principle 5

Look to add neighborhood and convenience commercial establishments. The 
Plan should include neighborhood and convenience commercial development that can 

Principle 6

Enhance the connectivity of the area – roads, train, bike paths, and 
pedestrian. Emphasis on walkability. The Plan should look to expand the 
neighborhood’s connectivity to, from, and within the neighborhood. This accessibility 
should be examined for all modes of transportation but there should be an emphasis on 
walkability. 

Principle 7

Incorporate open space and environmental sustainability. The Plan should look 
to preserve and celebrate the natural environment in the area by incorporating open 
space and other sustainability initiatives. 

Principles & Concepts 21DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



KEY PLAN CONCEPTS
The following highlights potential concepts the Village of Buffalo 
Grove may consider in implementing the goals and strategies of 
the Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan. They can also serve as 
discussion points between the Village and stakeholders in regards 
to the Plan’s goals and strategies.

Unique Businesses in Prairie View

Changing Trends and Retailers’ Health Clinics
Consumer’s behavior in approaching their health and wellness has 
shifted over the years. In the past, this mostly involved people having 
regularly scheduled doctor’s visit and exercise and a mindful diet. 
With the proliferation of easily accessible information, consumers are 
beginning to engage more in “self-care” to meet their health goals 
in a more personal and meaningful ways, in addition to avoiding 
chronic diseases, that annual check-ups could not. Additionally, the 
growth of sales and manufacturing has been sluggish at best over 
the past few years. According to Neilsen’s Health and Wellness 2020 
Report, the sales are forecasted to grow by only 0.9 percent. These 
trends present an opportunity for retailers to impact consumers’ lives 
by supporting consumer’s medical needs. The Prairie View Metra 

which presents an opportunity to attract contemporary medical and 
wellness-focused tenants.

In recent years, many retailers have prioritized healthy foods in 
the center of their store to emphasize the notion of healthy eating 
and established health clinics to provide consumers’ guidance at 
a more personal level. In fact, Accenture projected there would be 
an increase of at least 2,800 in-store retail clinics in the U.S. by the 
end of 2017. This would equate to about 47 percent increase from 
2014. This demonstrates that there is a growing acceptance among 
consumers in regard to the clinics’ ease of access and convenience.
Source: https://www.nielsen.com/us/en/insights/reports/2017/capitalizing-on-
health-and-wellness-trends.html

Local food Incubator
The concept of food incubator began in the 1960s as a mean to 
spur economic development in the U.S. Food incubator take in 
specialty food entrepreneurs and provide them a shared and low-
cost commercial kitchen space, in addition to education, for them 

their food products. These spaces provide a stepping stone for 
food entrepreneurs in establishing and selling their brand and food 
to the larger market. They also provide a supportive environment 
where each entrepreneur learns the business insight they need on 
accounting, sales, and marketing.
Source: https://www.eater.com/2016/2/26/11110808/food-incubator-accelerator-
small-business

22 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Shop Local
In many cities, success and vitality are integrally linked to the 
economic health of local businesses which are the foundation of 
the local economy and serve the needs of residents and visitors 
alike. Because local owners live in the community they do business 
in, they are free to make decisions based on local needs rather than 
corporate policies handed down from decision-makers far removed. 
Additionally, studies have shown that independent, local owners 
spend more money at other local businesses creating a “multiplier 
effect”- money recirculates within the community rather than 
“leaking out” to remote corporate headquarters or a centralized 
purchasing department. Listed below are reasons why locally-
owned businesses are good for a city’s long-term viability.

Buy Local - Support Yourself: Several studies have shown 
that when you buy from an independent, locally owned business, 

your money is used to make purchases from other local businesses 
and service providers, and farms. “For every $100 spent in locally 
owned independent stores, $68 returns to the community through 
taxes, payroll, and other expenditures. If you spend that in a 
national chain, only $43 stays here. Spend it online and nothing 
comes home.”

Support Community Groups:
average 250% more support from smaller locally owned businesses 
than they do from national businesses.

Keep The Community Unique: Where you shop, where you eat 
and have fun - all of it makes your community home. The one-of-a-
kind businesses are an integral part of the distinctive character of 
Burlington. Tourism also increases as visitors seek out destinations 
that offer them the sense of being someplace, not just anyplace.

Reduce Environmental Impact: Locally-owned businesses 
can make more local purchases requiring less transportation and 
contributing less to sprawl, congestion, habitat loss and pollution.

Create More Good Jobs: Small locally-owned businesses are the 
largest employers nationally offering jobs to residents.

Get Better Service: Locally-owned businesses often hire people 
with a better understanding of the products they are selling and 
take more time to get to know customers.

Invest In Community: Locally-owned businesses have owners and 
employees who live in the community, are less likely to leave, and 
are vested in the community’s future.

Put Your Taxes To Good Use: Local businesses in town centers 
require comparatively little infrastructure investment and make 

owned stores entering the community.

Buy What You Want, Not What Someone Wants You To Buy: 
A multitude of small businesses, each selecting products based not 
on a national sales plan but on their own interests and the needs of 
their local customers, guarantees a much broader range of product 
choices.

Encourage Local Prosperity: A growing body of economic 
research shows that in an increasingly homogenized world, 
entrepreneurs and skilled workers are more likely to invest and 
settle in communities that preserve their one-of-a-kind businesses 
and distinctive character.
Source: http://www.sbnportland.org/

Principles & Concepts 23DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Example of an in-law unit that is above a detached garage. 
Source: https://www.theplancollection.com/garage-apartments-house-plans

Non-Traditional Housing

Aging In Place
The US Census estimates that between 2005 and 2020:

 • Population aged between 50 and 64 will increase by 21 percent.
 • Population aged 65 or older will increase by 33 percent.
 • Population aged under 50 will increase by only 4 percent. 

This can be attributed to the 72 million baby boomers going through 
their life cycle in conjunction with a profound increase in life 
expectancies. In Buffalo Grove, about 23 percent of the Village’s 
population is aged between 50 and 64 years old in 2016. This 

aged 65 and above in the coming years. These trends demonstrate 
that aging in place is becoming a more critical issue for the Village 
to tackle as its population ages. It is important for the Village 
to allow innovative land uses to allow its elderly population to 
independently live in their homes and community safely and 
comfortably, regardless of their socio-economic background.

Multi-Generational Housing
The US Census showed that 18.1% of the U.S. population (57 million 
Americans) lived in multi-generational households in 2012. This is 
double the number of such household in 1980. This growth spiked 
during the Great Recession of 2007-2009 and continued to grow, 
despite at a slower pace, during the post-recession period. Racial and 
ethnic minorities are more likely to live in a multi-generational family, 
which has been increasing since the 1970s. The Pew Research Center 
founded that Asians are most likely of all minority groups to live in 
multi-generational arrangements. In2016, the Asian population consists 
of 19 percent of the total population in the Village of Buffalo Grove. 

There are various reasons for this phenomenon. Young adults are 
marrying in later stages and staying in school longer. This contributes 
to an increasing share of young adults living with their parents. 
Declining employment and wages may also undermine adults’ ability 
to live independently. Many existing residential units in the Village of 
Buffalo Grove are designed for single-generation living, and this issue 
came up in previous Steering Committee meetings and the public 
workshop. There is an interest to promote new housing types that are 
conducive to multi-generational living. The following are design and 
housing examples that promote such concepts.
Source: Pew Research Center | http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2014/07/17/in-
post-recession-era-young-adults-drive-continuing-rise-in-multi-generational-living/

Design Features of a Multi-Generational Housing

 • Multiple Masters: Multi-generational homes may require a 

better access and privacy for older parents. This also give 
them a sense of privacy in a shared home.

 • Suite Addition: One of the best ways to make multi-
generational housing work is to construct an in-law suite/
apartment with a separate kitchenette and entrance (see 
In-Law Units / Carriage House for greater detail). The 
feasibility this feature will depend on zoning restrictions. 

 • Versatile Living Room: Multi-generational housing can 
either feature segregated living room or a large space with 
appropriate amenities to enable different generations to 
coexist. An example is to install shelving/storage units in the 
living room to help keep the space free from toys and clutter, 
which can pose a safety issue to seniors.

 • Flex Space: Rooms should be designed to be adaptable for 
various uses. For example, an underutilized living room can 

space for a young adult who decided to move home, and then 
an entertainment space. 

 • Universal Design / Open Access: This works in tandem 

can use. Examples of universal design include wide-enough 
hallways to accommodate a wheelchair and zero-entry 
threshold to accommodate people with physical disabilities. 

interior-designer-cook/ & http://www.morseconstructions.com/blog/key-features-of-
multi-generational-homes

24 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



In-law units can be designed to conform to existing development’s character. 
Source: http://www.verseksmsek.com/

In-Law Units / Carriage Housing

an accessory to a primary residence. They have their own entrance, 
kitchen, bedroom, and living area. In-law units are typically situated 
above the garage of the primary residence or an as a separate 
structure in the primary residence’s rear lawn. The unit is not 
rented out. Rather, it is occupied by the primary residence’s guest 
or relative.

families, and elderly alike. Having in-law units increases the 
number of persons per households in existing residential 
neighborhoods. This reduces the need for municipalities to extend 
utilities and services. This option helps municipalities increase their 
diversity of housing options at moderate pricing points without 
requiring local funding. Having in-law units enables the elderly 
population to independently remain in the community and to have 
continued to access to nearby community amenities.

Currently, municipalities may have regulations pertaining to 
what certain relatives and guests can live there and whether 
rents may be charged. The Village of Buffalo Grove’s Zoning 
Ordinance currently does not permit residential uses on accessory 
dwelling units (see 17.12.005 - Accessory building or structure 
in the Village’s Municipal Code). The Village should evaluate its 
permitting and regulatory process to see how its neighborhoods can 
accommodate in-law units in a fashion that they would contribute 
to the neighborhood’s sense of place.

Temporary Art Installations
Pilot art installation programs enhance the public realm, create 
interim uses for vacant lots and underutilized space, and transform 
urban space into art. Temporary installations may include parklets 
and plazas, window clings in vacant storefronts, public sculpture, 
or community-led and built gardens. The act of improvising and 
proactively reinvigorating the public realm, is also known as a 
Pop-up or Tactical Urbanism. These DIY sessions are intended to be 

are relatively low-budget and are not generally capital intensive. 
They are opportunities for community members to participate in the 
improvement of their neighborhood. Based on the character of Prairie 
View, events and programs can be created in coordination with 
property and business owners to ensure they gain greater exposure 
from the events. Opportunities for these urban interventions include:

 • Window decals/window clings
 • Temporary stages
 • Urban gardens
 • Parklets/Plazas
 • Food Trucks
 • Music
 • Art Walk
 • Temporary art installations

An example photo of a parklet. 
Source: Flickr / Steve Chou

An example photo of a pop-up gathering space. 
Source: Flickr / Kent State University

Principles & Concepts 25DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Source: http://api.ning.com

Urban Tree Canopy

branches, and stems of trees that cover an area when viewed from 
above. It is useful in absorbing rainfall that would otherwise run 
off on a paved surface, picking up pollutants along the way, and be 
transported to the local storm drainage system. UTC provides many 

urban heat island effect, increasing property values and energy 

Enhancing UTC in a community, such as street tree planting, is a 

A concentration of street trees can contribute to a greater 
concentration of UTC in Prairie View. Street trees are often thought 
of as a liability to maintenance. However, a Modesto, California 
study revealed that the asphalt on streets shaded by large 
canopy tree lasts longer than that on unshaded streets, reducing 
maintenance costs by sixty percent over thirty years.1

1 McPherson, E. Gregory, and Jules Muchnick. (2005). Effects of Street Tree Shade on 
Asphalt Concrete Pavement Performance. Journal of Arboriculture, 31(6), 303-310.

Energy Savings for Homeowners

Illinois Homeowner Performance (IHP) 
with ENERGY STAR
This program aims to assist Illinois homeowners and property 
owners to reduce their energy costs and improve their homes’ 
comfort, safety, durability, and property value. This is achieved 

a “whole-home” approach when improving the home’s energy 

for the entire home and all its systems when evaluating their 
performance and prescribing remedies.

After completing the improvements, the homeowner receives 

and investment the homeowner has made. Illinois’s multiple 
listing services (MLS) and the Midwest Real Estate Data (MRED) 
recognize this program, which enables homeowners to display 

homes faster and/or an increased price point.

Eligibility

 • Single-family home, townhome, or individual condo in a 
building of 4 or fewer units with heating and/or cooling 

 • A building of 4 or fewer units with shared heating and/
or cooling equipment may also be eligible if the upgrade 
addresses the building as a whole*

 • The building’s original construction must be completed prior to 
audit (that is, IHP is only applicable to existing homes, not new 
construction)

 • The home must be located within ComEd, Nicor Gas, Peoples 
Gas, and North Shore Gas utilities. 

Source: http://www.illinoishomeperformance.org/what-is-ihp

26 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



This page is intentionally left blank.

Principles & Concepts 27DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Land Use & Development
LAND USE
The Land Use and Development Chapter is intended to guide the 
Village’s land use and development decisions to be consistent with 
the Village’s long-term vision and strategic goals. The land use 
plan will designate desired land uses within the Prairie View Metra 
Station Area, including the three subareas. These subareas are 
situated within unincorporated Lake County parcels, including the 
40-acre Stancliff Property.

To promote cohesive and legible development of the Prairie View 
Metra Station Area these parcels will require incorporation into 
municipal boundaries. This is critical to ensure redevelopment 
within the subareas and the Station Area fall under a 
comprehensive vision and have similar access to the Village’ 
infrastructure and services. The following describes the three 
subareas the Plan has designated.

3

28 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



North Subarea
The North Subarea consists of the 40-acre Stancliff Property. It 
is envisioned that future development in this area accommodate 
compact single-family detached and attached housing and 
incorporate sustainable strategies.

Central Subarea
This subarea contains unincorporated Lake County Parcels west of 
the Prairie View Metra Station and north of Half Day Rd. There will 
be a variety of housing choices within this subarea, and commerical 
activiities are hosted within mixed-use buildings fronting N Main 
Street. Streetscpe improvements, with corner plazas at Easton Ave. 
and N Main St. will welcome Metra Commuters into the Station Area.

South Subarea
The South Subarea will accommodate a corner mixed-use building 
with gateway signage and plaza at the southwest of Half Day Rd. 
and N Prairie Rd. Stacked townhomes and stormwater detention 
areas are located throughout this subarea. The roadway entryway 
into the South Subarea will align with the existing Willow Parkway.

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

ROSLYN LN

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

PARK AVE

PRAIRIE RD

1S
T 

ST

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

N M
AIN ST

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

W EASTON AVE

W BROCKMAN AVE

22

Study Area Boundary

Village of Buffalo Grove 
Municipal Boundary

North Subarea

Central Subarea

South Subarea

REDEVELOPMENT
OPPORTUNITY SITES

Land Use & Development 29DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Land Use Designations

Single-Family Detached
This land use designation consists of single-family detached 
homes. This is the predominant existing land use surrounding the 
Prairie View Metra Station Area. The Plan calls for this use to be 
concentrated at Brockman Avenue and at the North Subarea. The 
character of single-family detached neighborhoods includes a 
variety of architectural style, including the American Foursquare 
and the Late 20th Century Single-Family Homes, on suburban street 
networks.

Single-Family Attached
Single-family attached residential typically consists of townhomes. 
These units are horizontally connected but have separate entrances 
from the public street and sidewalk. This land use is prevalent 
within and around the North (including Stancliff Property), Central 
(including Brockman Avenue), and South Subarea. The Plan calls 
for a planned expansion of the newly-constructed Easton Station 
townhomes on Easton Avenue. The existing townhomes at 
Waterbury Place is a good model for future single-family attached 
developments.

Multi-Family Residential
Multi-family residential areas include apartment/condominium 
buildings where units share a common entrance or hallway. The 
future land use plan envisions an additional multi-family building 

multifamily units along N Main Street.

Commercial
Commercial includes general retail, dining, and services that are 
tailored to the local customer base. The plan suggests incorporating 
all future commercial space within mixed-use buildings.

To help bolster occupancy, the building should look into accommodating 
non-traditional medical uses, such as wellness and health businesses.

Mixed-Use

The intersection of W Half Day Road and N Main Street and N 
Main Street across the Prairie View Metra Station are intended to 
be an attractive, pedestrian-scaled, and mixed-use environment. 

building is located at the northwest corner of N Main Street and W 
Half Day Road.

Education
Stevenson High School is located east of the Prairie View 
Metra Station and can be accessed from W Half Day Road and 
Stevenson Drive. Being a reputable high school, it has attracted 
many families to move into the Village of Buffalo Grove. There are 
also opportunities to improve and increase connections between 
neighborhoods around the Prairie View Metra Station Area and the 
Stevenson High School.

Religious
The Westminster Reformed Presbyterian Church (16670 W Easton 
Avenue) is the only religious land use within the Prairie View Metra 
Station Area. It provides important functions that serve nearby 
residents and features a distinct architectural character that is 
desired in future developments in Prairie View.

Government
The Village’s Fire Station 27 is a government land use located at 
the northwest corner of W Half Day Road and Easton Avenue. The 

Parks / Open Space

the Vernon Township and future open space, which accommodate 
both active and passive recreation. These spaces also include 
tot lots, central green space with year-round programming, and 
stormwater detention area. Where possible, connections to parks 
and open space should be strengthened through the development 
of pedestrian and bike trails that provide safe passage into the 
surrounding neighborhoods and commercial areas.

30 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Lincolnshire

Vernon Hills

Long
Grove

Peterson 
Park

Adlai E. Stevenson H.S.
School Yard

The Arboretum Club

Indian Creek

BRANDYWYN LN

M
ILL

BR
OO

K 
DR

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

M
AD

IE
RA

 LN

N 
PR

AI
RI

E 
LN

PA
LA

ZZ
O 

DR

CHESTNUT TER

DAULTO
N DR

AP
PL

E 
HI

LL
 LN

FOXFORD DR

N 
HO

TZ
 R

D

ROSLYN LN

N RALEIGH DR

ST
EV

EN
SO

N 
DR

W HALF DAY  

CREEK BEND DR

W
HISPERING OAKS DR

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

CARLYLE LN

PARK AVE

W
ATERBURY LN

CREEK VIEW DR

DU
NS

TA
N 

LN

1S
T 

ST

LEE LN

TAYLOR CT

N 
KI

NG
ST

ON
 R

OW

OV
ER

VI
EW

 D
R

AVALON CT

PRAIRIE RD

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

BU
FF

AL
O 

GR
OV

E 
RD

N M
AIN ST

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

N
 B

UF
FA

LO
 G

RO
VE

 R
D

W EASTON AVE N M
AIN ST

22

22

0 500 1,000250
FeetNorth

Legend
Study Area Boundary
Village of Buffalo Grove 
Municipal Boundary
Proposed Roadway Alignment
Prairie View Metra Station
North Subarea
Central Subarea

South Subarea
Single-Family Detached
Single-Family Attached
(ex: townhomes/rowhomes)
Multi-Family (ex: condominiums)
Commercial
Mixed-use

Office
Education
Governmnet
Religious
Parks/Open Space
Transportation

FUTURE LAND USE

Land Use & Development 31DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



This page is intentionally left blank.

32 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



North Subarea 

South Subarea

Central Subarea

W HALF DAY RD

NEW STREET

1S
T 

ST

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D
PR

AI
RI

E 
RD

PORT CLINTON RD

W
 E

AS
TO

N
 A

VE

W EASTON AVE

N M
AIN ST

22

M
ETRA N

ORTH CEN
TRAL SERVICE

0 100 400300200 feet
North

SUBAREAS

OVERVIEW
The Prairie View Metra Station vision has been designed to guide 
the Village in making land use and development decisions. As a 

respond to changing market demands and needs. Consequently, the 

the type of character of development that could occur. The vision 
includes three subareas: North Subarea, Central Subarea, and 
South Subarea.

Prairie View 
Metra Station

Land Use & Development 33DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



ALLEY

ALLEY ALLEY

ALLEY

AL
LE

Y
AL

LE
Y

NEW STREET

NEW STREET

NEW STREET

N
EW

 S
TR

EE
T

NEW STREET

N
EW

 S
TR

EE
T

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

0 10050 200 feet
North

The 40-acre former Stancliff property is located in the north section 
of the Prairie View Station Area. Residential units are clustered 
around green space which is connected throughout the whole 
development. The detention pond in the north east corner of the 
site is an amenity and includes native plantings and a walking trail. 
The development is organized around a large, central park that can 
be programmed with seasonal events for residents.

NORTH SUBAREA

SITE PLAN
Total Housing Units: 131 units

Townhome/Rowhome: 58 units

Single-Family Detached: 73 units

Parks/Open Space: 554,853 SF 
(12.7 acres)

Nature-based 
public open 
space with 
stormwater 
detention

Single-family 
detached 
housing with 
detached 
garage

Public open 
space / 
neighborhood 
park

Rear alley

Townhomes/
Rowhomes

Public open space

Access point

Access point

Access point

Townhomes/
Rowhomes

34 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



ALLEY

ALLEY ALLEY

ALLEY

AL
LE

Y
AL

LE
Y

W PORT CLINTON RD

NEW STREET

NEW STREET

NEW STREET

N
EW

 S
TR

EE
T

NEW STREET

N
EW

 S
TR

EE
T

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

0 10050 200 feet
North

Legend
Single-Family Detached
Single-Family Attached
(Townhome/Rowhome)

Parks/Open Space

NORTH SUBAREA

LAND USE PLAN
The primary land use is residential. Single family attached 
residential units are located along Prairie Road and are buffered 
by a planted parkway. The remainder of the residential units on the 
interior of the site are single family detached units.

Land Use & Development 35DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



NORTH SUBAREA

CENTRAL PUBLIC 
OPEN SPACE 
PERSPECTIVE
The north subarea is organized around a central green space that 
can be used for community programming. This gathering space 
adds amenity to the development and captures the identity of 
the community through integration of naturalized landscapes 
and diverse plantings. Residential units in the north subarea are 
clustered around shared open space. A variety of residential units 
including townhomes, single family home and attached rowhomes 
are located in the development. Higher density development 
along Prairie Road and Port Clinton Road is buffered by parkway 
plantings. A continuous trail system through the development 
encourages recreational walking and biking. 

36 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



NORTH SUBAREA

CROSS SECTIONS

60’ ROW

52’ ROW

1

2

1

2

Land Use & Development 37DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



W HALF DAY RD

NEW STREET

NEW STREET

1S
T 

ST

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

N M
AIN ST

W EASTON AVE

W
 E

AS
TO

N
 A

VE

22

0 10050 200 feet
North

The Central Subarea Plan is the gateway to the Prairie 
View Station Area. The intersection of Main Street 
and Half Day Road includes a large mixed-use building 
and gateway elements that identify the entry into 

development include public plazas adjacent to the Prairie 

programming. Smaller scale residential development on 
the west side of the site acts as a transition and buffer 
from more intense residential and mixed uses along 
Main Street. 

CENTRAL SUBAREA

SITE PLAN
Total Housing Units: 434 units

Townhome/Rowhome: 87 units

Single-Family Detached: 15 units

Multi-Family Units: 332 units

Commercial: 35,000 SF

Parks/Open Space: 106,118 SF 
(2.4 acres)

Existing Easton 
Station Townhomes

4-story multi-family 
building

Public open space

Parking & 
amenity deck

Townhome/
Rowhome

Stormwater 
detention

Access to 
existing road

New sidewalk
Extend 1st St to 

access W Half Day Rd

Existing Church 

Single-family 
detached housing with 
detached garages

Townhome/
Rowhome

Mixed-use 
building

4-story mixed 
use building

Ground-

Corner gateway 
signage

Public plaza

Mixed-use 
building

Prairie View 
Metra Station

Gateway plaza

Vernon Legion 
Post 1247 building 

Townhome/Rowhome

38 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



W HALF DAY RD

W EASTON AVE

W BROCKMAN AVE

NEW STREET

NEW STREET

1S
T 

ST

W
 E

AS
TO

N
 A

VE

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

N M
AIN ST

22

0 10050 200 feet
North

Legend
Single-Family Detached
Single-Family Attached
(Townhome/Rowhome)
Multi-Family

Mixed-Use
(Ground-floor Commercial with 
Multi-Family)
Parks/Open Space
Religious

Existing Buildings

CENTRAL SUBAREA

LAND USE PLAN
Retail development is located in high visibility 
areas along major arterials. Residential land uses 
become less dense towards the western portion 
of the site and act as a transition to existing 
neighborhoods. A variety of open space types 
and locations encourages recreation and offers 
additional potential for public gatherings throughout 
the subarea. 

Land Use & Development 39DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



CENTRAL SUBAREA

EASTON STREET 
ENTRYWAY 
PERSPECTIVE
The Easton Street gateway is framed by two public plazas that can 
be programmed with seasonal events. Gateway elements identify 
this public gathering space as one of importance in the community. 
An enhanced streetscape along Main Street and Easton provide a 
highly amenitized public realm and encourage walking or cycling in 
the development. The landscape buffer along Main Street provides 

entry into the Prairie View development, add to its unique character, 
and create a sense of arrival for residents and visitors to the area.

40 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



CENTRAL SUBAREA

N HALF DAY RD 
GATEWAY 
PERSPECTIVE
The corner of North Main Street and Half Day Road is an important 
intersection and gateway into the Prairie View Station Area. The 
intersection marks a transition of character between the major 
arterial of Half Day Road and the Station Area district. Discovery 
of Prairie View’s unique character can be experienced at this 
intersection and movement along North Main Street. This also 
provides opportunities for native habitat for pollinators and green 
infrastructure elements to facilitate development. The sidewalk 
network is extended along Half Day Road to ensure continuity of 
the pedestrian framework.

Half Day Road

Main Street

Land Use & Development 41DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



CENTRAL SUBAREA

CROSS SECTIONS

60’ ROW

60’ ROW

50’ ROW

1

2

3

1

2

3

42 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



W HALF DAY RD

NEW STREETWILLOW PKWY

NEW
 STREET

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

22

0 10050 200 feet
North

SOUTH SUBAREA

SITE PLAN
The South Subarea is made up of primarily 
townhomes. The roadway framework and 
composition of the buildings takes its cues from 
adjacent developments of similar building typology. 
A main entrance off of Prairie Road leads to a 

portion of the site. The north corner of the site 
including the intersection of Prairie Road and Half 
Day Road is occupied by a mixed use building with 

in the northwest corner of the site and provides 
outdoor cafe seating and event space for seasonal 
programming.

Total Housing Units: 103 units

Townhome/Rowhome: 64 units

Multi-Family Units: 39 unit

Commercial: 16,000 SF

Parks/Open Space: 17,681 SF 
(0.4 acres)

Townhome/
Rowhome

Access is aligned 
with Willow Pkwy

Stormwater 
detention basin

Access to adjacent 
subdivision

Rear alley

Mixed-use 
building

Stormwater 
detention basin

Loading / 
drop-off area

Public open 
space

Corner plaza with 
gateway signage

Land Use & Development 43DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



W HALF DAY RD

NEW STREET

NEW
 STREET

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

WILLOW PKWY

22

0 10050 200 feet
North

Legend
Single-Family Attached
(Townhome/Rowhome)
Mixed-Use
(Ground-floor Commercial with 
Multi-Family)
Parks/Open Space

SOUTH SUBAREA

LAND USE PLAN
Land uses for the South Subarea are primarily 
single-family residential with the exception of 
the north corner of the site which is occupied by 
mixed-use. Open space is distributed throughout 
the site and offers amenity and pubic open space to 
residents. 

44 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



SOUTH SUBAREA

ENTRY GATEWAY
PERSPECTIVE
in the South Subarea. Diverse planting and a gateway signage 

ample front yard. Street trees are planted throughout the roadways 
to provide residents a sense of enclosure and act as buffer between 
pedestrians and vehicles. 

Land Use & Development 45DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



SOUTH SUBAREA

CROSS SECTION

1

1

46 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



SUBAREAS

SUMMARY
North Subarea

Central Subarea

South Subarea

Total

Commercial Space
N/A

Commercial Space
35,000 SF

Commercial Space
16,000 SF

Commercial Space
51,000 SF

Residential
131 units

Residential
434 units

Residential
103 units

Residential
668 units

Retail Sales
N/A

Retail Sales
$10.1 M

Retail Sales
$4.6 M

Retail Sales
$14.7 M

Market Value
$60 M

Market Value
$70 M

Market Value
$20 M

Market Value
$150 M

Land Use & Development 47DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Transportation & 
Infrastructure Plan

4
CIRCULATION AND MOBILITY 
As part of the implementation of the Prairie View Station Area 
Plan, opportunities to enhance the multimodal transportation 

and circulation options for vehicles, pedestrians, and bicycles 
throughout the station area through a more interconnected network 
of streets, sidewalks, and trails that link homes, businesses, 
recreation/open space, the Metra station, and nearby institutional 
uses. Furthermore, the multimodal transportation improvements 
seek to support the overall redevelopment goals, preserve the 
character and scale of the neighborhood, create a sustainable 
network, and enhance resident’s quality of life.

Street Network Improvements
The Prairie View Station Area Plan provides for an interconnected 
grid street network. The future streets would be designed to 
Village standards and would include pedestrian accommodations. A 
summary of the future street network is outlined below.

Easton Avenue
This existing east-west street would be improved to Village 
standards with a 60-foot right-of-way. The recommended cross-
section includes a single travel lane in each direction, on-street 
parking on one side of the street, curb, gutter, and a 15-foot 
pedestrian zone to include sidewalks and parkway landscaping. 
Because of its role in connecting the residential area to the Prairie 
View Metra Station, Easton Avenue should be a priority street for 
pedestrian improvements.

48 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Main Street
This street will continue to serve as a primary north-south route 
through the study area. The redevelopment concept introduces curb 
and gutter on the west side of the street and creates a continuous 
sidewalk in order to enhance pedestrian safety and comfort. 
Commuter parking would continue to be provided on the east side of 
the street. On the west side of the street, the existing perpendicular 
parking would be removed and and the street would be aligned with 
commercial buildings.

Half Day Road
This street would continue to be the primary east-west arterial 
with two travel lanes in each direction and exclusive left-turn lanes 
provided at key intersections. Based on the existing cross-section, 

as the roadway is under IDOT jurisdiction, right-of-way permits 
will be required for any work within the right-of-way, including 

intersection of Half Day Road/1st Street will be subject to IDOT 
review and approval. 

Prairie Road

to the Prairie View Metra Station via Prairie Road; therefore, 
pedestrian improvements along this street should be prioritized. 
Continuous sidewalk should be provided on both sides of Prairie 
Road between Port Clinton Road and Half Day Road. With the 

contemplated via a new roadway aligned opposite Roslyn Lane, 
and an additional site access approximately 450 feet to the south. 
In addition, connectivity would also be provided via Port Clinton 

Prairie Road, a new southbound left-turn lane is anticipated on 
Prairie Road at Roslyn Lane/Future Site Access. The existing striped 
median would be restriped to accommodate the left-turn lane.

Transportation & Infrastructure Plan 49DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



New Streets
Future completion of the grid street network would provide for an 

be incorporated in order to promote a walkable character and 
support active transportation as a viable option for residents. A 
summary of the new streets planned for the Prairie View study area 
is outlined below.

1st Street
Within the Central Subarea, 1st Street would be relocated to the 
east in order to create a redevelopment opportunity site on the 
northwest quadrant of Main Street/Easton Avenue. Relocated 1st 
Street would align with the existing stub street on the south side 
of Easton Avenue and provide connectivity between Brockman 
Avenue and Half Day Road. 1st Street would be improved to 
Village standards with a 60-foot right-of-way and a recommended 
cross-section including a single travel lane in each direction, 
on-street parking on one side of the street, curb, gutter, and a 
12-foot pedestrian zone to accommodate sidewalks and parkway 
landscaping. South of the Central Subarea’s New Street, 1st 
Street’s drive lanes will become narrower, resulting in a 50-foot-
right-of-way.

New Street
A new east-west street is recommended south of Easton Avenue 
(referred to as “New Street” for purposes of this study). A reduced 
cross-section should be considered in order to optimize the Central 
Subarea for redevelopment. Based on the Central Subarea plan, 
the street should be designed to prioritize pedestrians with an 
approximately 15-foot pedestrian zone to include sidewalks and 
parkway landscaping. On-street parking is recommended on one 
side of the street in order to provide short-term parking and loading 
zones supporting the adjacent residential and commercial uses.

Site Design Considerations

of-way, site design should consider opportunities to support the 
transportation network and facilitate on-site access and circulation. 
Key site design considerations for the study area are outlined below.

Access Management
Where feasible, commercial driveways should be consolidated to 

along Main Street. As redevelopment occurs in the Central 
Subarea, opportunities to provide cross-access between properties 
and facilitate internal site circulation should be explored. Provision 
of shared parking that serves multiple uses, in combination with 
cross-access, should also be considered. 

Loading Activity
As commercial and mixed-use (re)development occurs within the 
Central Subarea and South Subarea, consideration should be given 
to the access and circulation for service/delivery truck loading 
activity. To the extent possible, consolidated delivery truck loading 
areas and dumpsters should be provided. Consolidated dumpsters 
should be provided in order to minimize the number of collection 
sites and reduce truck activity. 

50 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Lincolnshire

Vernon Hills

Long
Grove

Peterson 
Park

Adlai E. Stevenson H.S.
School Yard

The Arboretum Club

Indian 

22

22

0 500 1,000250
FeetNorth

Legend

FUTURE ROADWAY NETWORK

Key Intersection
Existing Sidewalk
Shared Use Path
Future Sidewalk
Existing Street
Future Street

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

UB
LAFF

G 
O

EV
OR

DR 

N M
AIN ST

DR EIRIARP 
N

DR EV
OR

G 
OLAFF

UB 
N

W EASTON AVE N M
AIN ST

BRANDYWYN LN

R
D K

O
ORBLLI

M

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

M
A

NL AREI
D

P 
N

NL EI RI AR

PA
LA

ZZ
O 

DR

CHESTNUT TER

DAULTO
N DR

NL LLI
H ELPPA

FOXFORD DR

N 
HO

TZ
 R

D

ROSLYN LN

N
 RALEIGH DR

S
R

D 
N

OS
NEVET

W HALF DAY  

CREEK BEND DR

W
HISPERING OAKS DR

EIRIARP
DR 

CARLYLE
 LN

PARK AVE

W
ATERBURY LN

CREEK VIEW DR

NL 
NATS

N
U

D

TS TS1

LEE LN

TAYLOR CT

N
W

OR 
N

OTS
G

NI K 

O
R

D 
WEIVREV

AVALON CT

PRAIRIE RD

Study Area Boundary

Municipal Boundary
Incorporated Area within 
the Study Area Boundary
Uncorporated Area within 
the Study Area Boundary

Metra Train Station

Transportation & Infrastructure Plan 51DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Parking
In order to support existing and future commercial uses in the Prairie 
View study area, and to continue to support commuters at the Metra 
Station, the Village should continue to work with property owners 

extent possible and where appropriate, the Village should work 
with property owners and developers to identify opportunities for 
consolidated, shared parking. A summary of future parking conditions 
in the Prairie View Station Area is outlined below.

Commuter Parking
Commuter parking should continue to be provided for the Prairie View 
Metra Station. Based on the 2016 Origin-Destination Survey completed 
by Metra, approximately 55 percent of commuters at the Prairie View 
Metra Station drive alone. While existing parking utilization data 
suggests approximately 74 percent of the spaces are occupied, this 

School students. As (re)development occurs in the Prairie View Station 
Area and with any future changes to Metra ridership, commuter 
parking utilization should continue to be monitored and rebalanced in 
partnership with Metra and Vernon Township. 

During off-peak commute periods, commuter parking should 

businesses, such as restaurants, shopping, and entertainment 
uses, that experience peak parking demand that is complementary 
to commuter parking patterns. During evenings and weekends, 
opportunities to utilize the commuter parking lots for community 
programming and special events (e.g., farmer’s market) should be 
explored. The Village should continue to coordinate with Vernon 
Township in order to optimize the existing commuter parking supply 
and existing infrastructure.

(Re)development Parking Requirements
The parking supply provided for future mixed-use and residential 

Prairie View Metra Station and the multimodal nature of resident 
commuting patterns.

characteristics of the proposed (re)development, data from 
the Regional Transportation Authority (RTA) Access & Parking 
Strategies for Transit-Oriented Development should be consulted 
as a resource for Village review and approval of proposed parking 
conditions. According to the RTA, a reduced parking ratio of 0.5 to 
1.5 spaces per dwelling unit may be appropriate for multi-family 
residential developments in TOD areas. For any duplex, townhome, 
or multi-family residential development, consideration should be 
given to the supply and location of guest parking. Residential guest 
parking may be accommodated on-site or alternatively designated 
on-street parking spaces may be provided. 

Due to the proximity to the Metra Station and the future pedestrian 
and bicycle network, future residents are anticipated to rely on 
active transportation (e.g., walk, bike) and transit; and therefore, 
parking requirements for future (re)development should be adjusted 

View Station Area. 

52 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



On-Street Parking
On-street parking should be provided adjacent to commercial 
and mixed-use developments. These parking spaces should be 
time restricted in order to promote healthy turnover of spaces for 
customer and visitor convenience. Employee parking should be 
prohibited on-street unless otherwise permitted by the Village 
while customer/visitor parking availability is prioritized. As (re)
development occurs in the Central Subarea, the Village should 
explore opportunities to create short-term parking opportunities 
(e.g., 15-minute parking spaces for pick-up/drop-off activity) 
and loading zones in order to provide parking options for quick 
convenience-oriented trips and curbside loading activities for 
transportation network companies (TNCs), such as Uber and Lyft.

Pedestrian Improvements
In general, pedestrian connectivity in the study area is 
discontinuous with sidewalk provided along some segments. The 
Village should prioritize continuous sidewalk through the study area 
as part of future (re)development. As property is (re)developed, the 
Village should require installation of continuous sidewalk across 
the property frontage, and as appropriate, to complete nearby gaps 
or connections. Alternatively, a fee-in-lieu contribution should be 
provided as part of the (re)development in order to allow the Village 
to install the sidewalk at a later date as part of a comprehensive 
roadway improvement project. 

A continuous sidewalk network will improve access and overall 

be provided in order to buffer pedestrians from the adjacent street. 
In order to prioritize pedestrians in the study area, sidewalks 
should be delineated through access driveways. Redevelopment 
should incorporate new sidewalk installation at gap locations. In 
addition to new sidewalk, site design should consider opportunities 
for pedestrian accommodations, including sidewalk connections 
between the public sidewalk and the commercial or mixed-use 
development and outdoor seating areas or amenitized public 
places (e.g., parks, open spaces, plazas, courtyards, streetscape, 

incorporate pedestrian-scaled architectural details in order to 
enhance pedestrian safety and comfort. 

Pedestrian improvements should also be provided at key 
intersections within the study area in order to enhance mobility, 
safety, and comfort. A summary of the pedestrian improvements 

the following sections:

Transportation & Infrastructure Plan 53DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Main Street / Easton Avenue
This intersection will continue to serve as a key gateway to the Prairie View area. Based on its 
adjacency to the Metra Station and close proximity to the residential and commercial uses planned in 
the area, striped crosswalks should be provided on both the north and south legs of Main Street at its 
intersection with Easton Avenue. In tandem with the crosswalks, a curb bump-out should be provided 
on the eastside of the street in order to reduce the crossing distance and improve visibility between 
pedestrians and motorists. The curb bump-out introduces an opportunity to provide a landscaped 
area further enhancing this intersection as a gateway. Additional intersection improvements include 

an enhanced intersection paving treatment that improves the character, differentiates the intersections 
as a focal point, and contributes to the gateway opportunity. A summary of the recommended 
improvements is highlighted in the adjacent graphic.

��������	
����������	��������������
��������	
���	���

������	��	�����������������	�����	�������
������������������	���������	��������

������	��	�����������������	��
�����	����	�������������

��������	���������	��������

������	��������������	��������	�������	��	����
����	���������	������������������� ���!������

��"�!��	������������������������	��	���	��	�

��#������$�������������%������	��������	��	�
���������	���%����������	������	�������	��

&���������������������(')��	
����������������
��������$���
����������������������	�����$������
�	�������������	�������	��(��)���������������
���%��������������� ���������������	(

*	��������������	������	�����	���
�
������	

�


��������
�


*	����������	�������	���������������	������	�
+����������	���

*	��������������	������	�����	���

*	����������	�������	���������������	������	�

� � � � �
� � � � � � � � 	 
 � �

54 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Prairie Road / Port Clinton Road
A striped crosswalk is recommended on Prairie Road at its intersection with Port Clinton Road. With 
the shared-use path on the south side of Port Clinton Road, the crosswalk would enhance connectivity 
and increase motorist awareness of pedestrian and bicyclist activity. Existing utilities on the southwest 
corner of Prairie Road/Port Clinton Road would require relocation in order to accommodate the 

the intersection in order to increase mobility and connectivity for existing and future area residents. A 
summary of the recommended crosswalk enhancements is depicted in the adjacent graphic.

&�������������������	������
	��������������		�����	

����	�����������

������	��	���������������	�����������
������������)��	��	�&���

�	
��
	�

�	

��
�

��	����������	���

������	��	���������������	����������
��������������&���

,�������������������	�������������
���	���-��������

,����������$��	������
��	���	���	����������
��������������������������������	�

,�������������������	�������������
���	���-��������

����	������������

����	����������������	�����������

� � � � �
� � � � � � � � 	 
 � �

Transportation & Infrastructure Plan 55DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Half Day Road / Main Street / Prairie Road

opportunity site. In order to facilitate pedestrian connectivity 
between North Prairie Road and the Prairie View Metra Station 
and Central Subarea, adding a striped crosswalk is recommended 
on the east leg of Half Day Road/Main Street/Prairie Road. High-
visibility crosswalks are recommended on all four legs of this 
intersection. Based on the size of this intersection, a channelized 
island is recommended for the northbound right-turn movement in 
order to reduce new crosswalk distances and provide a pedestrian 
refuge area to/from the southeast corner of the intersection.

Bicycle Improvements
The Village of Buffalo Grove has an extensive bicycle path network. 
In the vicinity of the study area, existing bicycle paths are provided 
on Port Clinton Road, Half Day Road, Buffalo Grove Road, Main 
Street, and Prairie Road. The existing bicycle paths will remain with 
the proposed improvements to the area. As part of the planned 
improvements the existing shared-use path on the north segment 
of Main Street should be extended south to Half Day Road. In 
addition, a shared-use path should be provided on the south side of 
Port Clinton Road across the Stancliff Property frontage.

In order to facilitate bicycle connectivity to the future redevelopment 
areas, site design should consider connections to the bicycle network 
and provide for convenient on-site bicycle parking.

���������	��	���������������	������
�����������	������

��������������	����������	����	�������
������������.����/���&����������	������

)�������	�����%���	����������
�����	�

*	��������	��	���������������	�
	������������.����/���&���

���������	��	���������������	������
��������������&���

&���������������	���������0����������	��������	�
�	��������������	���������������������

�	��	�
�	���
�
������	

�

���������	���

�������		���%�	������	���������
��	�
������	����������	������	���	���������
���������

��������0����	���������������
�����������
����$����������	��

+����������	���

+����������	���

� � � � �
� � � � � � � � 	 
 � �

56 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Lincolnshire

Vernon Hills

Long
Grove

Peterson 
Park

Adlai E. Stevenson H.S.
School Yard

The Arboretum Club

Indian 

BRANDYWYN LN

R
D K

O
ORBLLI

M

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

M
A

NL AREI
D

P 
N

NL EI RI AR

PA
LA

ZZ
O 

DR

CHESTNUT TER

DAULTO
N DR

NL LLI
H ELPPA

FOXFORD DR

N 
HO

TZ
 R

D

ROSLYN LN

N
 RALEIGH DR

S
R

D 
N

OS
NEVET

CREEK BEND DR

W
HISPERING OAKS DR

EIRIARP
DR 

CARLYLE
 LN

PARK AVE

W
ATERBURY LN

CREEK VIEW DR

NL 
NATS

N
U

D

TS TS1

LEE LN

TAYLOR CT

N
W

OR 
N

OTS
G

NI K 

O
R

D 
WEIVREV

AVALON CT

PRAIRIE RD

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

UB
LAFF

G 
O

EV
OR

DR 

N M
AIN ST

DR EIRIARP 
N

DR EV
OR

G 
OLAFF

UB 
N

W EASTON AVE N M
AIN ST

22

22

0 500 1,000250
FeetNorth

Legend

FUTURE BICYCLE PATH NETWORK

Study Area Boundary

Municipal Boundary
Proposed Roadway 
Alignment
Prairie View Metra Station

N Prairie Road
Existing Bicycle Path
Planned Bicycle Path
Planned Shared-Use Path

Transportation & Infrastructure Plan 57DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



ENTRY NODES & GATEWAY
Gateways into the Prairie View Station Area communicate to 
visitors that they have arrived in an environment that values 
pedestrians and supports a high-quality multi-modal environment. 
The proposed gateways at the Prairie View Station area are at the 
following intersections: 

• W Half Day Road and N Main Street

• N Main Street and N Buffalo Grove Road 

• W Half Day Road Willow Parkway 

These intersections are considered entry points into Prairie View. 
Smaller, neighborhood-scale retail/commercial development 
is proposed along N Main Street with a transition into more 
residential land uses at W Easton Avenue and W Brockman 
Avenue. Gateway signage should be designed to provide a sense of 
arrival and sense of place.

WAYFINDING
A legible environment helps orient travelers and communicates 

environmental signage and cues in the physical design of the public 

In addition, the road design helps travelers navigate through the 
different land uses to support ease of circulation. Public art can be 
installed at key locations to give residents and visitors orientation 
and educational information about their location relative to the 

appropriate locations within and around Prairie View, in coordination 
with gateway signage, to communicate major destinations to 
travelers, parking lots, bicycle routes, and trails nearby.

 • Provide a minimum amount of information on a sign.
 •
 • Present information logically.
 • Use fonts and graphic elements that are easy to read. Bold 

colors and simple text are encouraged.
 • Place so the view of the sign is not obstructed by other 

elements.
 • Be sure that signs are mounted, they have font sizes and 

information that are appropriate to the mounting height.
 • Locate signs ahead of where turns need to be made.
 • The overall system must be cohesive.

Source: City of Madras & 
brewpublic.com

Source: Flickr | Jimmy Emerson, DVM

Source: https://bestoklahomahomes.com Source: Flickr / Robb Edge

Source: Flickr / Amy Smith

Source: Corbin Designs

58 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Lincolnshire

Vernon Hills

Long
Grove

Peterson 
Park

Adlai E. Stevenson H.S.
School Yard

The Arboretum Club

Indian Creek

BRANDYWYN LN

M
ILL

BR
OO

K 
DR

N 
AP

PL
E 

HI
LL

 LN

M
AD

IE
RA

 LN

N 
PR

AI
RI

E 
LN

PA
LA

ZZ
O 

DR

CHESTNUT TER

DAULTO
N DR

AP
PL

E 
HI

LL
 LN

FOXFORD DR

N 
HO

TZ
 R

D

ROSLYN LN

N RALEIGH DR

ST
EV

EN
SO

N 
DR

W HALF DAY  

CREEK BEND DR

W
HISPERING OAKS DR

PR
AI

RI
E 

RD

CARLYLE LN

PARK AVE

W
ATERBURY LN

CREEK VIEW DR

DU
NS

TA
N 

LN

1S
T 

ST

LEE LN

TAYLOR CT

N 
KI

NG
ST

ON
 R

OW

OV
ER

VI
EW

 D
R

AVALON CT

PRAIRIE RD

W HALF DAY RD

W PORT CLINTON RD

BU
FF

AL
O 

GR
OV

E 
RD

N M
AIN ST

N
 P

RA
IR

IE
 R

D

N
 B

UF
FA

LO
 G

RO
VE

 R
D

W EASTON AVE N M
AIN ST

22

22

0 500 1,000250
FeetNorth

Legend
Study Area Boundary
Village of Buffalo Grove 
Municipal Boundary
Prairie View Metra Station
North Subarea
Central Subarea

South Subarea
Gateway Signage
Wayfinding

GATEWAY & WAYFINDING

Transportation & Infrastructure Plan 59DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



INFRASTRUCTURE
The Village currently operates and maintains a vast network of 
public infrastructure, including stormwater, utilities, roadways, and 
sidewalks. In order to accommodate the future (re)development 

existing infrastructure network will be expanded. A comprehensive 
plan to address future infrastructure construction, operation, 
and maintenance is recommended. A comprehensive plan will 1) 
provide for a connected system; 2) minimize disruptions to existing 
residents and commuters; and 3) optimize use of Village funds for 
capital improvements, operations, and maintenance.

Stormwater
Future (re)development in the Prairie View Station Area will be 
subject to the Village of Buffalo Grove Development Ordinance and 
the Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance. Based on a 
review of topographical data available from Lake County, potential 
areas to be allocated for stormwater management have been 
incorporated into the concept plans for the Central Subarea, North 

details for the stormwater management facilities will be subject to 
Village review as part of the (re)development plan.

Maintenance of the future public stormwater infrastructure is 
anticipated to be managed through the Village’s Stormwater 
Management System. Under the Stormwater Management System 
(effective January 1, 2016), the Village would collect a bi-monthly 
Stormwater Utility Fee. The fee is based on the parcel size, land 
use, impervious area, and the funds required to maintain and 
update the stormwater infrastructure. Through this system, the 
Village would operate and maintain existing and future stormwater 
infrastructure including, but not limited to, storm drains, pipes, 
ditches, curbs, gutters, culverts and open stream channels. 

Public Utilities
The Village of Buffalo Grove currently operates and maintains the 
following water and sanitary systems:

 • 136 miles of sanitary sewer pipe, force mains, manholes, catch 
basins, and inlets

 • 12 sanitary lift stations

 • Water supply from Lake Michigan, purchased from Evanston 
and delivered through the Northwest Water Commission

 • 4 emergency back-up aquifer wells 

As (re)development is proposed within the Prairie View Station 
Area, the Village will require abatement of existing well(s) and 
septic systems (as applicable) and connection to the Village’s water 
and sanitary system.

Under the Village’s current practice, the developer would be 
obligated to extend the water and sanitary mains and provide a 
service connection(s) to the subject (re)development site. Based 
on the infrastructure currently available in the Prairie View Station 
Area, extension of existing water and sanitary mains may be 
extensive. Phased (re)development may provide for reduced utility 
extension costs and minimize disturbance to area residents.

In order to plan for future (re)development in the Prairie View 
Station Area, a comprehensive assessment of existing and future 
water and sanitary sewer capacity is recommended in order to 
determine future system needs. The analysis of future conditions 

shown on the concept plans prepared for the Central Subarea, 
North Subarea, and South Subarea. 

Based on a previous analysis completed in 2006 by Hancock 
Engineering, sanitary sewer extension is anticipated as follows:

 • Central Subarea – Extend sanitary sewer on Easton Lane 
north of Half Day Road and/or the sewer at the intersection of 
Half Day Road/Willow Parkway

 • North Subarea – Extend existing sanitary sewer from Roslyn 
Lane

 • South Subarea – Extend sanitary sewer from intersection of 
Prairie Road/Willow Parkway

60 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Private Utilities
As (re)development plans are reviewed for the Prairie View Station 
Area, the Village should work in coordination with property owners, 
developers, and utility companies to bury existing overhead 
utility lines. The Village should continue to review the placement 
of transformers and switch boxes in order to minimize their 
appearance.

Transportation
The existing and future multimodal transportation network will be 
designed to support the needs of residents, businesses, commuters, 
and visitors within the Prairie View Station Area. Multimodal 

this chapter. Dedication of right-of-way will be required in order to 
accommodate the future roadways, including but not limited to 1st 
Avenue and New Street. As (re)development proposals are submitted 
to the Village, right-of-way dedication should be required in order to 
complete the 60-foot cross-section where applicable. Installation of the 
streets, sidewalk, and parkway should be designed and constructed in 
coordination with public utilities. 

Implementation
Several options exist for infrastructure investments in the Prairie 

in the study area, a comprehensive approach to design and 
construction should be considered as properties are assembled. 
In order to provide for a comprehensive approach to infrastructure 

considered by the Village:

 • Impact Fees – An impact fee is a charge assessed by a public 
agency against new (re)development that generates revenue to 
fund the master improvements or recover capital costs. 

 • Bonds – A bond may be assessed for future public 
improvements. Note that the assessment of an impact fee 
is one way to repay the bond. A bond could also be repaid 
through implementation of an increased utility fee on a 
monthly utility bill or through a utility rate increase. 

 • Special Service Area (SSA) – A special service area is 
a taxing mechanism that can be used to fund a range of 
infrastructure improvements and services (e.g., storm sewers, 
sanitary sewers, roadway improvements, sidewalks, curbs, 

 • Tax Increment Financing (TIF) –

area to pay for local capital improvements. All property within 
the TIF district is subject to the tax based on a common rate. 
Establishment of a TIF district does not increase property 
taxes; this tool reallocates how taxes are used. TIF funds 
may be allocated to public improvements (e.g., roadways, 
streetscape) and development activity (e.g., property assembly 
or land acquisition).

 • Recapture Agreements – Through the use of recapture 
agreements, the Village could require a developer to pay for 
the extension of public infrastructure necessary to support 
the proposed (re)development. If the infrastructure serves 
additional users associated with the future (re)development 
of adjacent property, a recapture agreement is executed. 
Based on the recapture agreement, the developer would be 
reimbursed for a pro rata portion of the improvement cost. 
Recapture agreements are an effective tool to manage the 
overall cost of public infrastructure; however, the upfront 
cost to the developer may be an obstacle to initiating (re)
development within the Prairie View Station Area.

Transportation & Infrastructure Plan 61DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Open Space & 
Sustainability

5
Sustainable strategies are incorporated in each subarea and project 
theme to ensure the longevity, health and wellness of Prairie 
View and its residents. Strategies include social, economic and 
physical opportunities to lower costs, create value and maintain a 

resources contributes to the character and identity of Prairie View. 

green infrastructure where detention is required, and incorporated 
into developments as a public space amenity.

LANDSCAPE & STREETSCAPE 
DESIGN STRATEGY
Based on the input received throughout the planning process, there 
is a strong desire to incorporate the natural elements of Prairie 
View and promote the concept of a conservation community. The 
landscape and streetscape strategy responds to this desire with 
the incorporation of landscaped parkways on existing and proposed 
streets within the Prairie View Metra Station Area. The reduction 
of curb-cuts provides longer stretches of uninterrupted and planted 
parkway without impeding vision or safety of travelers.

62 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Additional street trees can be planted to 
increase Prairie View’s existing tree canopy 
and will include both ornamental and shade 
trees. Integration of green infrastructure 
projects, such as rain gardens and 
stormwater planters, can be accommodated 
as part of the Village’s larger environmental 
and green infrastructure strategy. Areas of 
proposed stormwater detention can include 
additional green infrastructure elements 

as well as incorporating special planting 
palettes to differentiate these places.

Open Space & Sustainable Strategies 63DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Raingardens
Rain gardens, also known as bioretention 

portion of the initial runoff from the storm 
sewer system and allow it to reenter the 
system through an underdrain or leave the 

are shallow depressions with engineered 
soils and various deep-rooted plantings and 

sewer system. 

Bioswales
Bioswales serve a combination of 

Unlike traditional drainage swales or 

as well as engineering soils to slow 
the conveyance rate of runoff so that 

removed through evapotranspiration 
prior to entering the storm sewer system. 

Stormwater Planters
Stormwater planters are considered 
urban rain gardens by the EPA. They 

piping systems, but they are designed as 
streetscape elements. The soil level is 
lower than the sidewalk and street curb so 
that runoff can be collected and detained in 
the planter. 

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE TOOLS
Green infrastructure tools assist with stormwater management by slowing the rate of runoff into the 

of runoff. Rain gardens, bioswales, stormwater planters, water harvesting, and permeable pavement 

future as conditions and needs change. The tools vary in their purpose, design, requirements, and costs. 
Parameters that need to be considered when choosing the appropriate tool include:

Source: Flickr/Center for Neighborhood TechnologySource: Flickr/cara ruppertSource: Flickr/MSU Infrastructure Planning and 
Facilities Facility Information Services 

64 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Permeable Pavers

of rainwater through the pavement. 
This lowers the amount of runoff that 
is delivered to the storm sewer system. 
Permeable pavement can include paver 
systems, porous asphalt, or pervious 
concrete. 

Water Harvesting
Water harvesting practices promote 
productive reuse of rainwater by 
capturing and storing rainwater on-
site for a variety of uses, such as toilet 

can be achieved by either downspout 
disconnection or installing rain barrels. 
The former involves diverting runoff from 
the roof to on to the property’s yard for 
irrigation. The latter involves capturing and 
storing rainwater 

Tree Planting
Tree planting provides a multitude of 

basis and of larger scale like an urban tree 
forest. Trees assist in reducing stormwater 
runoff by intercepting rainfall and help soil 
better store rainwater. It also can assist 
in groundwater recharge. When trees are 
properly placed, they can provide shade, 
which helps reduce energy consumption to 
cool a home, and they can block winds that 
increase the need for indoor heating. Trees 
are vital carbon sinks, absorbing carbon 
dioxide and air pollutants.

Source: Flickr/Stanley ZimnySource: Flickr/Craig TSource: Flickr/Philadelphia Water Department

Open Space & Sustainable Strategies 65DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Implementation

6
To implement the Vision set forth in the Plan, the Village should 
undertake the following recommendations and action steps. These 
recommendations and action steps can be grouped under four main 
categories:

 • Village Commitment

 • Leverage Market Opportunities 

 • Create a Neighborhood Identity and Brand

 • Enhance Sustainability and Quality of Life

VILLAGE COMMITMENT
The Village of Buffalo Grove should provide its commitment and 
support to the Plan by undertaking regulatory, communication, and 
planning initiatives as well as anticipate and support infrastructure 
improvements that create an enhanced network throughout the 
Prairie View Metra Station Area.

66 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Recommendation 1: 
Continue to engage with the Buffalo Grove 
community, property owners, and other 
stakeholders about the Plan.

Action Steps:
A. Make the plan available online and advertise the availability 

and contact information of Village staff to address questions 
and comments.

B. Meet with residents, businesses, key property owners, 
Vernon Township, Metra, Lake County, institutions, and others 
in the Prairie View Area to review the Plan, discuss future 
improvements, considerations, and work together for a shared 
future.

Recommendation 2: 
Integrate the Prairie View Metra Station 
Area Plan into long-term planning 
documents including the comprehensive 
plan and the Lincolnshire/Buffalo Grove 
Boundary Agreement. 

Action Steps:
A. Amend Buffalo Grove’s current Comprehensive Plan (2009) 

with the Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan.

B. Integrate the Prairie View Metra Station Area Plan as part of 
the forthcoming Comprehensive Plan and establish the Prairie 
View Metra Station Area as one of the several key sub-areas 
in the community.

C. Revisit the Lincolnshire/Buffalo Grove Boundary Agreement 
with the Village of Lincolnshire and update the agreement to 

Recommendation 3: 
Explore policies to support and advance 
future annexation opportunities. 

Action Steps:
A. Identify and prioritize development sites that can encourage 

the extension of utilities to help reduce the utility connections 
for existing residential parcels. 

B. Promote the expansion of Village utilities to encourage 
annexation into the Village. Explore tools such as special 
service areas to help offset the costs of extending utilities into 
the unincorporated areas.

C. Determine alternate sites for existing businesses that may 
want to relocate to other locations in the nearby area

Fiscal Impact 67DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Recommendation 4: 
Explore amending zoning and associated 
building and design regulations to help 
achieve the vision. 

Action Steps:
A. Consider amendments to the zoning ordinance or utilize 

actions may include:

A1.  Considering a form-based code or form-based 
elements.

A2. Introducing overlay zones and/or creating a better 

A3. Incorporating multi-generational housing elements such 
as accessory dwelling units as well as aging in place. 

B. 
may include:

B1. Evaluate and potentially modify parking minimum 
requirements to align with the Plan. 

B2. Partner with Vernon Township to explore potential 
shared parking opportunities the Prairie View Metra 
Station.

B3. Identify opportunities for complementary or alternate 
uses of the commuter parking lots during non-peak 
commuter periods (e.g., farmer’s market, neighborhood 
festival, shared parking for nearby restaurants and 
businesses). 

C. Review and potentially modify the sign code to ensure 
consistency with the Plan.

Recommendation 5: 
Support an improved road network.

Action Steps:
A. Review development and redevelopment plans for the 

inclusion of an improved road network consistent with the 
Plan.

B. Explore jurisdictional options for the ownership.

C. Ensure future development provides the necessary right-of-
way (ROW) dedication needed to accommodate for future 
improvements.

D. Monitor changes in emerging technology, policy, and 
requirements related to autonomous vehicles and use of 
shared mobility options to inform design of (re)development 
and both public and private infrastructure.

Recommendation 6: 
Plan and Budget for Capital Improvements.

Action Steps:
A. Modify and update, as needed, the Capital Improvement Plan 

B. 
funding improvements. Options may include but not exclusive 

68 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



LEVERAGE MARKET 
OPPORTUNITIES
The Village of Buffalo Grove should leverage market opportunities 
to spur development/redevelopment within the Station Area Plan 
that aligns with the Plan.

Recommendation 7:  
Communicate and market the Plan to the 
development community to convey Buffalo 
Grove’s vision and commitment to the 
area’s future.

Action Steps:
A. Continue to meet with those interested in selling and 

redeveloping the properties in the area and present and 
discuss the Plan.

B. Target brokers and other representatives who could best 
understand and deliver the character and residential and retail 
needs unique to this area. Look to attract neighborhood-scaled 
commercial and retail uses. 

C. Showcase the Plan at developer industry events.

Recommendation 8:  
Explore Economic Development 
Incentives.
Development/redevelopment sites may have challenges 
that require economic development incentives to encourage 

analyses. If appropriate, Buffalo Grove should explore such 
opportunities and size them appropriately. A list of common 
economic development incentive tools includes:

Common Economic Development Incentives
 • Tax-Increment Financing (TIF) District
 • Special Service Area (SSA)
 • Business District (BD)
 • Property Tax Abatement
 • Sales-Tax Sharing 

Action Steps:
A. Evaluate the need and potential for economic development 

incentives to facilitate projects that implement the vision and 
ensure market competitiveness.

B. 
development tools including but not limited to Tax-Increment 
Financing (TIF) District and/or Business District.

C. 
development specializations to carry out the evaluation and 
development (if needed) of incentives.

Recommendation 9:  
Target retail and restaurant businesses 
and other services that are compatible 
with the vision for Prairie View Area and 
are suitable for its market. 

Action Steps:
A. Target retail and restaurant neighborhood businesses that 

are oriented towards commuter and residential needs as well 
as destination businesses. Potential niches could be towards 

specialty foods, local food incubators, as well as other drinks 
and food establishments.

B. Work collaboratively with neighborhood businesses on 
leveraging existing assets such as nearby Stevenson High 
School, which allows open campus during lunch hours for 
upper grades and is an employment center.

Fiscal Impact 69DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



CREATE NEIGHBORHOOD 
IDENTITY AND BRAND 

history, character and uses in the area. 

Recommendation 10:  
Draw upon the area’s history to help 
establish an identity and “sense of place.” 

Action Steps:
A. Explore retaining existing buildings such as the Westminster 

Reformed Presbyterian Church and former Vernon Legion Post 
1247 Building. 

B. Utilize the historical architecture as an inspiration for 
design and character for future buildings and development, 

C. Consider providing an indoor or outdoor dedicated space that 
would be devoted to showcasing the Prairie View’s history.

Recommendation 11: 

and Design. 

Action Steps:
A. 

incorporating the recommendations into Buffalo Grove’s 
Appearance Plan. This should include design guidelines 
illustrating the Village’s desired architectural characteristics of 
non-residential and residential buildings which can be inspired 
by the area’s historical buildings. 

B. Review the future plans for the inclusion of landscaping, 

Recommendation 12: 
Incorporate civic, community, institutional 
and art in spaces that can enhance the 
identity and local culture of the Prairie 
View Metra Station Area. 

Action Steps:
A. Work with Stevenson High School on utilizing space in 

the Prairie View Area for academic, extracurricular, and/or 
administrative purposes. 

B. Collaborate with Buffalo Grove Park District and Vernon 
Township to program and activate open spaces and plazas. 

C. Explore opportunities to display public art to help activate 
public spaces through collaboration with local partners.

Recommendation 13: 
Establish a Brand for the Prairie View 
Metra Station Area.

Action Steps:
A. Develop a brand for the Corridor that would represent its uses 

and importance to the Village.

B. Integrate this brand throughout the Corridor especially in 
signage and other gateway features a well as in marketing 
materials.

70 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



ENHANCE SUSTAINABILITY AND 
QUALITY OF LIFE 
The Village of Buffalo Grove should look to promote sustainability 
and quality of life in the Prairie View Area. 

Recommendation 14: 
Enhance the Area’s Walkability. 

Action Steps:
A. Review all future plans for an inclusion of a comprehensive 

sidewalk/pedestrian path system that connects to the 
surrounding neighborhoods and the Village’s larger sidewalk 
network.

B. 
consisting of evenly spaced right-of-way trees, pedestrian 

signage, and other pedestrian- oriented improvements.

C. Strengthen and enhance crosswalks throughout the area to 
improve pedestrian orientation and safety. 

D. Emphasize active transportation and transit-supportive design 
as part of Village review of future (re)development concept 
plans (e.g., curbside designations, pedestrian-scale character.)

Recommendation 15: 
Improve Bicycle Accessibility.

Action Steps:
A. Ensure all proposed plans complete the existing bicycle 

network in the Prairie View Metra Station Area and connect 
with larger existing bicycle networks, parking, and other 
infrastructure. 

B. Provide appropriate signage and maps to for trail connections 
and networks.

Recommendation 16: 
Collaborate with partners on improving the 
Metra North Central Service (NCS) line’s 
ridership and frequency of service. 

Action Steps:
A. Continue to serve on the Steering Committee for the RTA 

Community Planning Program North Central Service Corridor 
Analysis and Implementation Plan. This Plan, which is 
guided by a steering committee of municipalities along the 
NCS line, aims to identify the major investments needed to 
accommodate more service along the NCS line.

B. Educate businesses and residents about transportation 
connections from the Prairie View Metra Train to places of 
residence or employment, which includes shuttle services 
such as Transportation Management Association of Lake-Cook 
Shuttle Bug, Chariot Shuttle as well as carpooling options such 
as SPLT and Pace Vanpool. 

Recommendation 17: 
Optimize open space opportunities as they 
arise. 

Action Steps:
A. As redevelopment and development occurs, look for 

development plans to provide open space, in large open parks, 
tot lots, small plazas, and/or other types of open space.

B. Work collaboratively with partners such as Vernon Township, 
Buffalo Grove Park District, and Stevenson High School, on 
ideas for shared open spaces and programming. 

Recommendation 18: 
Encourage sustainable development, 
stormwater management and other best 
practices. 

Action Steps:
A. 

Homeowner Performance with ENERGY STAR and Come Ed’s 
Net Metering. 

B. Encourage green infrastructure as a strategy for stormwater 
management with a focus on detention areas, parks, and right 
of way plantings.

C. Select a landscaping and planting palette that is 
representative of plant types that thrive in the Midwest and 
are low-maintenance.

Fiscal Impact 71DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



VILLAGE 
COMMITMENT

ENHANCE 
SUSTAINABILITY AND 
QUALITY OF LIFE

LEVERAGE MARKET 
OPPORTUNITIES

CREATE A 
NEIGHBORHOOD 
IDENTITY AND BRAND

 • Engage Community and Property Owners

 • Amend Comprehensive Plan and Boundary 
Agreement

 • Support Future Annexation

 • Amend Zoning Regulations

 • Improve Road Network

 • Capital Improvement Planning

 • Enhance Street Grid 

 • Market Plan

 • Explore Incentives

 • Target compatible businesses

 • Expand Walkability

 • Improve Bicycle Accessibility

 • Collaborate to improve Metra Train Service

 • Optimize open space

 • Encourage sustainable practices

 •

 • Incorporate Civic, Community, and Art Uses

 • Establish Brand

72 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



This page is intentionally left blank.

Fiscal Impact 73DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Appendices

A
Architectural Typology Analysis   71

Steering Committee (August 2, 2018) Meeting Summary   77

Workshop 1 Summary   83

Steering Committee / Kick-Off (April 12, 2018) Meeting Summary   89

74 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



TYPOLOGY #1: 
THE AMERICAN FOURSQUARE

FEATURES
The American Foursquare is one of the most dominant styles of home 

roof accentuated by a central dormer.

These houses developed in reaction to the overly ornate Victorian 
homes of the late 1800s and escew excess detail in favor of 
handcrafted “craftsman” woodwork.

Years Constructed: circa 1890 - 1930
Construction Type: Wood Framed or Brick
Exterior Materials:
Use: 
Height: Two and a half Stories
Parking:
Special Features: Front Porch (potentially enclosed for addition)

Punched 
Windows

Front Porch
Brick or Stucco

Architectural Typology Analysis

Appendices 75DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



TYPOLOGY #2: 
POST-WAR BUILDING BOOM

FEATURES
The suburban building boom following World War II established the 

as the dominant housing styles of the latter half of the 20th century.

with an open layout that embraces a more informal living style. The 
“model home” design method allowed for rapid construction to suit 
soaring demand.

Years Constructed: circa 1940s - 1970s
Construction Type: Wood Framed
Exterior Materials:
Use: 
Height:
Parking:
Special Features:

Attached Garage

Picture Window

Level Entry
One-and-a-Half Stories

Punched Windows 
with Faux Shutters

Limited Brick

Wood or 
Alum Siding

76 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



TYPOLOGY #2: 
POST-WAR BUILDING BOOM

FEATURES
The suburban building boom following World War II established the 

as the dominant housing styles of the latter half of the 20th century.

with an open layout that embraces a more informal living style. The 
“model home” design method allowed for rapid construction to suit 
soaring demand.

Years Constructed: circa 1940s - 1970s
Construction Type: Wood Framed
Exterior Materials:
Use: 
Height:
Parking:
Special Features:

Attached Garage

Picture Window

Level Entry
One-and-a-Half Stories

Punched Windows 
with Faux Shutters

Limited Brick

Wood or 
Alum Siding

Appendices 77DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



TYPOLOGY #3: 
LATE 20TH CENTURY SINGLE FAMILY HOME

FEATURES

residential construction turned toward a contemporary version of 

combine a wide array of decorative techniques from an assortment 

simple post-war residence.

accents.

Years Constructed: circa 1980s - 2000s
Construction Type: Wood Framed
Exterior Materials:
Use: 
Height: One - Two Stories
Parking:
Special Features:

Front-loaded

Multi-Story Entry
Bay Window

Faux Shutters

Large Windows

78 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



TYPOLOGY #4: 
21ST CENTURY PAIRED HOME

FEATURES
The 21st Century has seen a revision on the Neo-Eclectic 
Single Family Home that focuses on smaller living and reduced 

with fewer children.

greater aesthetic harmony exists across several homes

Years Constructed: circa 2000s
Construction Type: Wood Framed
Exterior Materials:
Use: 
Height: One - Two Stories
Parking:
Special Features:

Complex 
Large Windows

Cross 
Gable

Front-loaded

Appendices 79DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



TYPOLOGY #5: 
NEW URBANIST TOWNHOME

FEATURES
Continuing the trend towards denser living and less emphasis on 

dominated by the car.

Years Constructed: circa 2010s
Construction Type: Wood Framed
Exterior Materials:
Use: 
Height: One - Two Stories
Parking:
Special Features:
consistency.

Complex 

with Front Porch

Large Windows

80 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Steering Committee (August 2, 2018) 
Meeting Summary

Appendices 81DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



 

 

82 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



 

 

Appendices 83DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



 

84 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



M E E T I N G  S U M M A R Y  

 

 

 

 

Architecture 

Preservation 

Interior Design 

Landscape Architecture 

Urban Planning & Design 

RATIO Architects, Inc. 

RATIOdesign.com 

30 West Monroe Street, Suite 500  Chicago, Illinois  60603  312.465.2359   

Chicago, IL   Indianapolis, IN   Champaign, IL   Raleigh, NC  

To: Project Team, Village of Buffalo Grove  
RATIO Project No.: 18021  
Date: May 30, 2018  
Subject: Prairie View Metra Station Plan – Public Workshop #1 Outreach Summary 
 
On May 10, 2018, the RATIO team and Village of Buffalo Grove planning staff hosted a workshop to solicit public input 
on the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats of the area surrounding the Prairie View Metra Station. This is 
the first public workshop for the Prairie View Metra Station Plan and was held at the Arboretum Club (401 Half Day Rd, 
Buffalo Grove, IL 60089). Over 90 participants attended, including: residents, stakeholders, business leaders, Steering 
Committee members, Village staff, and elected and appointed Village officials. The workshop was structured as an 
informal interactive event. The workshop consisted of five stations where participants shared their thoughts and 
opinions during the 2-hour workshop. These stations were designed to optimize input from the public, while gaining 
meaningful input into preferences and address concerns. The five stations included: 

Station 1 – Welcome 
Station 2 – Visioning 
Station 3 – Be the Planner 
Station 4 – Area Destinations 
Station 5 – What Makes A Great Place? 
 

The results and input gathered from the public pertaining to each station are summarized in the following sections. 

Station 1 - Welcome 
The first station included a staffed sign-in and welcome table. Participants then proceeded to watch a brief 
presentation that was displayed on a monitor. The presentation provided an overview of the planning process and the 
public workshop, in addition to the purpose of the Prairie View Metra Station Plan. Snacks and refreshments for 
participants to enjoy were provided.   

Workshop 1 Meeting Summary

Appendices 85DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Prairie View Metra Station Plan - Workshop 1 Summary 
Page 2 
May 30, 2018 
 

Station 2 – Visioning 
The second station was a topical visioning exercise that was designed to create a vision statement for the Station Plan. 
Participants were engaged in an activity where a series of cards with various images were available at the station for 
review. Participants picked a card that symbolizes their vision for the Prairie View Metra Station area. After selecting 
the card, each participant spoke with the facilitator and other participants about their vision for the Prairie View Metra 
Station area. The consultant staff facilitated this exercise and recorded the results on a flipchart. The bullet points 
below are the participant’s vision for the Prairie View Metra Station area that were recorded on the flipchart (the 
numbers next to each vision indicates how many times a vision was repeated by multiple participants): 

3 Votes  
Restaurant 
Café/Bakery 
Quaint/charming 
 
2 Votes  
Smaller scale development / keep area density 
Add sidewalks 
Natural landscapes 
More shops – boutiques (unique) 
Better train service 
 
1 Vote  
Add weekend train service 
Walkable 
Unique homes 
Improved streetscape 
Shopping 
School capacity 
Reuse of homes 
Preserve Prairie View 
No parking (students) 
No noxious (industrial) uses 
No junkyard 
No condos 
More parks and gardens 
 

1 Vote, cont. 
More homeowners 
More compact 
Main St. needs traffic-calming 
Complete the last mile -> train to home 
Keep SFH in boundary agreement 
Keep historic homes 
Inclusive of township 
Improve traffic flow (Eastbound on Rte 22) 
Ice cream shop 
Higher home values 
Greenery 
Future focused development 
Farm to table 
Family 
Evaluate historic significance 
Downtown needed 
Dark skies 
Cultural heritage center 
Creative space 
Country feel 
Connect bike paths 
Capitalize on train commuters 
Bucolic 
Best practices 
Affordable housing ($200k-$300k)   

86 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Prairie View Metra Station Plan - Workshop 1 Summary 
Page 3 
May 30, 2018 
 

Station 3 – Be the Planner 
The third station invited participants to ‘Be the Planner’ for the Prairie View Metra Station area. A board was provided 
that showed the study area’s existing conditions. Participants were given foam blocks, which represented potential 
building massing, and were asked to place the blocks on the board to create their ‘vision’ of what the Prairie View 
Metra Station area should look like in the future. During the workshop, there were many discussions among 
participants regarding future (re)development within the study area. The following summarizes the main points 
gathered from the discussions: 

Most of the participants were very vocal about opposition to development around Prairie View. Many pointed 
out previous plans that didn’t meet with the community’s expectations and ultimately weren’t implemented. 
Prairie View has a strong identity within the community however, some participants asked the question “why 
do we need development or additional amenities here if I can get it in neighboring communities such as Long 
Grove/Lincolnshire, etc.” 
Participants voiced concerns about the impact of additional development on Stevenson school. Over-
crowding is perceived to be a problem at Stevenson. New development could increase pressure on this 
desirable resource.  

Existing conditions in the Prairie View Station Area 

Existing traffic patterns, specifically turning movements, are problematic, particularly during rush hour. 
Student traffic in and out of Stevenson creates congestion twice a day. 
Neighbors have observed increased cut-through traffic in their neighborhoods from travelers wishing to avoid 
congestion along major arterials. 
Strategies to mitigate traffic around Prairie View have created additional challenges. For example, there is no 
left turn permitted from Prairie Road to eastbound Half Day Road. 
Current parking is a challenge at certain times of day around the Prairie House. Metra Parking is by permit, 
not available after hours, and participants wondered if this can be improved. 

What would a future Prairie View look like? 

The community’s historic and unique character should remain. However, there were contradicting viewpoints.  
o Some participants expressed a preference for narrow roads with overhanging trees, without 

sidewalks. 
o Some participants believed there could be higher-density development around the rail line. 

Main Street has potential to be a more robust commercial corridor with the following elements: 
o Community amenities 
o Experiential retail 
o No chain or franchise establishments 
o Multi-story mixed-use (not family-residential) 
o Walkable 
o Low rise, mixed use 
o Arts District 
o Restaurants (some participants asked how many the community and the market can support) 
o Boutique-scale retail 
o Experiential retail 
o Incubator-type commercial 
o Lower-scale 
o More affordable than luxury Appendices 87DRAFT

For Review

Document 1



Prairie View Metra Station Plan - Workshop 1 Summary 
Page 4 
May 30, 2018 
 

Easton Road could be repositioned as a historic downtown, Long Grove type development. 
Farmland should be preserved as open space, not developed. 

o Community asset 
Parkland 
Play fields (can never have too many) 

Participants were concerned about potential for increased crime if area becomes more developed. 
Need for convenience retail along Prairie Road, south of Half Day Road. 
Infill is desired on existing vacant lots however, a substantial increase in density should be avoided. 

o Intimate scale is preferred 
o “Norman Rockwell” 

Increased rail traffic would be a long-term win, but there are concerns about safety of the rail line. 
o A grade separation would be ideal 
o The line is a barrier between west and east Prairie View 

What are elements that would be positive additions to Prairie View? 

An integrated neighborhood-scale park 
Walking trails / pedestrian pathways 
Skate park 
Convenience retail, flower shop,dry cleaners, etc 
Hospital or medical office 
Larger scale development should be focused along Half Day Road 

o Scrap yard site could be a site for higher density development with parking to support the Main 
Street corridor 

   

88 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Prairie View Metra Station Plan - Workshop 1 Summary 
Page 5 
May 30, 2018 
 

Station 4 – Area Destinations 
This station involved two maps where participants used colored stickers to identify destinations, gateways, and other 
important design features on the map. Participants were also asked to identify their homes and places they regularly 
frequented in the 1-mile radius. One map illustrated a ¼ mile (5-minute walking distance) and the other illustrated a 
½ mile (10-minute walking distance) circle around the station area. Both map boundaries reached 1-mile from the 
station area. Each color sticker represented a theme, as follows: 

Yellow: Home 
Red: Commercial 
Green: Recreational 
Light Blue: Institutional 

 
The station facilitator asked the participants to write on the maps any other ideas they had that were not necessarily 
site-specific or represented by the colored stickers. The following graphics show the features the participants 
identified. 
 
   

Appendices 89DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Prairie View Metra Station Plan - Workshop 1 Summary 
Page 6 
May 30, 2018 
 

 
90 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT

For Review

Document 1



Prairie View Metra Station Plan - Workshop 1 Summary 
Page 7 
May 30, 2018 
 

 
Appendices 91DRAFT

For Review

Document 1



Prairie View Metra Station Plan - Workshop 1 Summary 
Page 8 
May 30, 2018 
 

Station 5 – What Makes A Great Place? 
At this station, participants selected words they felt answered the question ‘What Makes a Great Place?’. The station 
facilitator documented each participant’s selection. Participants were encouraged to write new words if those provided 
did not capture their vision. The following summary shows the descriptive words that participants selected. The 
number next to the words indicate the number of times a word was re-selected among different participants. Words 
with stars (*) are descriptive words written by participants. It should be noted that some of the words participants 
wrote occurred throughout public workshop. Some participants who completed the exercise earlier may not have seen 
some of these words. 
 

20 Votes 
Walkable 
 
15 Votes 
Family Friendly 
Dining Options 
 
14 Votes 
Bike Lanes 
 
10 Votes 
Festival/Events 
Accessible 
 
9 Votes 
Safe/Protected 
 
7 Votes 
Streetscape 
Residential Neighborhood 
Nature Based 
 
6 Votes 
Recreation 
Destination 
 
5 Votes 
Heart of Community 
Entertainment 
Diverse 

 
4 Votes 
Retail District 
*Rural 
 
3 Votes 
Multi-Generational 
Cultural Heritage 
Celebrate History 
 
2 Votes 
*Was Affordable 
*Separated 
*Quaint 
*More Metra Service 
*Lower Taxes 
*It Was A Community with Roots 
*Better infrastructure (roadways) 
 
1 Vote 
*Downsizing in the area 
Vibrant 
Public Art 
Convenient 
*Quiet 
*Park 
*Less Rules 
*Housing for Senior 
*Dark Skies 

 

 
 

92 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Steering Committee / Kick-Off Meeting 
(April 12, 2018) Meeting Summary

Appendices 93DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

94 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

• 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

• 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

• 
 
 
 

Appendices 95DRAFT
For Review

Document 1



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

96 Prairie View Metra Station Area PlanDRAFT
For Review

Document 1



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Prairie 
R

d

Half Day Rd

Tower Pkwy

L incolnsh
ire 

Dr
W

e stgate D
r

Port Clinton Rd

Jamestown Ln

O
xford 

D
r

Pa

lazzo 

D
r

N Indian Creek Rd

S
ch

el
te

r R
d

R
al

e i
gh 

D
r

R
ic

ha
rd 

C
t

Aptakisic Rd

Rivershire Ln

G 
K 

Ln

Ho
tz Rd

Bond 
St

M

il l brook Dr

Route 45

M
ilw

aukee 
Ave

P
rairie 

Ln

Madiera 

Ln

Wiltshire Dr

O
ve

rlo
ok 

P
t

Olde Half D
ay 

Rd

K
ings t o n Row

Stevenson Dr

R

ive r shire 

Ct

Margate Dr

Ch
am

bo
ur

d Dr

Gregg Rd

Marriott Dr

Londonde rry Ln

Apple Orchard Ln

C
um

b erla
nd Dr

P
arkway Dr

Rive rs
hire 

Pl
Audub on Way

Heathrow Dr

In
du

st
ria

l D
r

River Oaks Dr

Elm Rd

B
arclay Blvd

Mayland Villa Rd

A
pp

le 
H

ill 
L n

Riverside Rd

Buffalo
Grove

Buffalo
Grove

Riverwoods

Buffalo
Grove

Vernon
Hills

A
B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K
M2

L

M1

Buffalo Grove and Lincolnshire
Boundary and Planning Agreement

´
1 inch = 1,083 feet

Proposed owner
Flex Parcels

Village of Buffalo Grove

Village of Lincolnshire

Parcel boundary

Street

Lincolnshire

Document 3



Adlai E Stevenson District 125

Prepared by:
Lake County Department of Information Technology
GIS Division
18 North County Street
Waukegan, Illinois 60085-4357
(847) 377-2388

!

!

! ! !
! ! !

!
!

! !

!
!

!
!

! !
!

!

! !
!

! ! !
! !! ! !

!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! !!

! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!
! !

!
! ! !

!
!

! !

! !
! !

! ! ! ! !
! !

!
!

!
! !

!
!

! ! !

! ! !

!

!
! !

!

!
!

!

! !

! !

! !!
!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!
! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! !

! !
! ! ! ! !

!

! !
!

! !
!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!

!

!
! ! ! !

!
! ! !

!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!

!!

! !! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! !

! !

!

! !
!

! !

!

!
! !

! ! ! !
!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

! !

!

!

! !

! ! !

! ! ! ! !

!!!! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !!

!!!!!!

! ! ! !

! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! !! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! !

!

! !
!

! !
!

!

!

!
!

!

! ! !
! ! !

!

!
!

!
!

! ! !

!

! ! ! !

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!!!!

!

!!!!!!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
! !

!

!

! !
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! !
!!

!
! ! !

!

!! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! !
!

! !
! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!!

! ! ! !

!

!
! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !
!

!

!

! ! !
!

! !
!

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

! !
! ! ! !

! ! !
! ! ! ! ! !

!
! ! ! !

!

!

! !

!
! !!

!
!

! ! !

!

! !

!
!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

! !
! ! ! ! !

! ! !

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!!
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!
! ! ! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

!
!

!

!!!!
!!!!

!

!
!

!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

! !
! ! !

! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!!

!
!!!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
! ! ! !

!
! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!
!

!

! !

!!!
!!!!!!!!! !!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! ! !
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

! !

!!!!!!!!

!

! !
!

! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
! ! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

! !
!

!!

!

! !

! ! !

!
!

!
!

! !

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!
! !!!!

!
!

! ! ! !

!
!!

! !

!

! ! !

!!

!

!
!

!

!
! !

! !

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

! !
! !

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!
!

!
!!

!!!
!

!!

!!!!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

! ! ! ! !
! !!

!

! ! ! ! ! !!
! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!!!!
!!!!

!

!
! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !
!

! !

!

!
! ! !

!
!

! !
! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!

! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

!
! !

!

! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!
!!

! !
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!
!!!

!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!!
!

!!

!
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!

!!

!!!
!

!

!
!

! ! ! !

!
!

! ! !

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

! ! ! ! ! !

!!!

!
!!!

!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!!!!

! ! !

! !

!

! ! !

!!

! !

! !

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

! ! !
! ! !

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
!!!!!!

!!

! ! !

!!
!

!
!

!!!
!

!
!!!

!
!

!

!
! !

! !

!

! !! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! !

!!!!!

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

!

!!

!!

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!
! ! ! ! ! !

!

!! !

! ! !
!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

! !

!

!!

!

! !

!

! !
!

!

!
!!!!!

!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

!
! ! ! !

!
!

! !

!
! ! !

!! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

!
!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!!!!
!

!
!

! !
!!! !

! ! !
! !

!

!

!

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! !

! !

!
!!

!

! !!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! !
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! ! !

!

!

! !

!
! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! !
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! !

!

!
!

!

!!!

! ! ! !
!

! !

!

!

!
!!!

!!!!!!
!!

!!
!!!

!!

!!!!!!!!
!

! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! !

!

! !
! !

! !
!

! !

!

!

!!!!!!!!!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

! ! ! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
! !

!
!!

! ! ! !
! !

!
! !

!

!

!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
!!

!

! ! ! !!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!

!

!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

! ! ! !
! ! ! ! !

!!!!! ! !!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
! ! !

! !
! ! !!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

! !
!

!
! !

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! !

!

!

!!
! ! ! !

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!! !
! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
! ! !!

! !
! !

!

! ! ! ! !
!

!

!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !!

!!

!
! ! !

!

!
!

!

! ! ! !!! ! ! !!! ! !!

!
!

! !!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

! !
! !

!

! ! ! ! !

!

!

! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!! !

!!

! !
!

! !
!

! ! !
! !

!
!

! !
!

! !
!

! !
!

! !
!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!
!!

! ! !! !

!

! !

! ! ! ! !
! ! !

! !

! ! ! !!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!!!!!

! ! !
! ! !

!
!

!

!

!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!
! ! ! !

!

!

! ! ! !

! !

!

!

!

!!!
!!!

!
!!

!!
!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

! ! !

!

! ! ! !

!
! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!!
!

! !

!

! !

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

! ! !
! ! ! ! ! !

! !
!

!!

!

!!!!

!
! !

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
! ! !

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
! ! !

!

!
!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! ! ! !

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!
!

!

! ! ! !

!
!!

!

!

!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!!

!
!

!!!!

! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! !

! !!

!
!

!

!!

! !
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! !

! !

!
!

!

!

!!!

! ! !

!
!

! !

! !

!

!
!

! !

!

!!!!!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

! ! !

!

! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! !

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

! !
!

! !
!

!
!! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

!
! ! !

! !
! !

!! !

!
!

! ! !

!

!
! ! ! ! !

!!

!

! ! !
!

!

!

!
!

! !

!
! ! ! !

!!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!!

!!

!!

!
!!!

!

!

!

! ! ! !

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!!

!

!

! !

!!
!!

!!

!!

!

! !
! ! !

!
!

!
!!!

!
!

!
!! !

!

! !

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!!!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

! ! !

!

!

! ! !
! !

! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

! ! !

!!!!!!!!

!!!

!!!!!
!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

! !

!

! ! !

! ! !

!

!

! !

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !
! !

!

!!
!!

!!

! ! ! !

!

!
!

! !

!

! ! !
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!!!!
!!!!!

!

!
!

!
!

! !

!!
!!!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !
! !

!!!!!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!!
!

!!!!

!

!

! !
!

!

!!

!

! !
!

!
!

! !

! !

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

! !

!

! ! ! ! !

!!
!

! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

!
!

! !

!

!
!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! ! ! !

!

!

!!!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

! !

!
! !

! ! !
!

! ! !

! !
!

! ! ! !

! ! !

! !

!

!!

!
!!

!

! !
! !

! !
!

! !
! ! !

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!!
!!!!!

!!
!!!!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!!!

! !!!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !
! !

!
! ! ! !

!

! ! !

! !

!
!

!
!!!

! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

! !

!

!

! !

!!

!
!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

! ! ! ! !
!

!
!

! !

! ! !

!!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! !

!!

!

!!!

! !

!

!!!!!!!

!

! !

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!!!!
!!!!!!!

!
!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

!

! !

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

! !

!

! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

! ! !
!

! ! ! !

!

! ! !
!

! ! !

!

!
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!

! !
!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!! !!!!!

! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! !
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! !
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!
!

!
!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!!!!

! !

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

! ! ! ! !

! !
!

! !

!

! !

!
!

!!!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!

! ! ! !
!

!
! !

!

!
!

!

!
!

! ! !

!

! !
!!

!

!

!

! !

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

! ! ! ! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! !
! !

!

!
! !

!
! !

! !
! ! !

!
!

!
! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! !

! ! !
!

! !

!

! !!

!

!!!!!
!!!!!!

! !

!!

!

! !

!! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!
!
!

!

!
! ! !

!

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!!!

!

! ! ! !
!

!
! ! !

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

Aptakisic Rd

IL Route 53

IL Route 53

IL Route 22 IL Route 22

stmorel

Deerfield Pkwy

Aptakisic Rd

W Lake Cook Rd

W Aptakisic Rd

Port

Lake Cook Rd

Deerfield Rd Deerfield Rd

Checker Rd

W Port Clinton Rd

Duffy Ln

Cuba Rd

Indian Creek Rd

Townline Rd

W Hawley St

W Kennedy Rd

W IL Route 22 W IL Route 22

W IL Route 60

Half Day Rd

W Everett Rd

W Indian Creek Rd

W Schwerman Rd

Allanson Rd

E Cuba Rd W Cuba Rd

Deerfiel d

E Hawle

W IL Rou

E Townline Rd

W Old School Rd

W Lake Cook Rd W Lake Cook Rd

W

d

W

E Lake Cook Rd E Lake Cook Rd Lake Cook Rd

W ay Rd

La

W Imperial Dr

Hilltop Rd

Pauline Ave

W South Rd

Thomp o

W

W Highland Dr

Cherrywood Ln

Berkley Rd Ct

A s

Portshire Dr

G

k

Dr

W Lake Vi

Dr

Lakeview Pkwy

verrary

White Barn Rd

Dr

W Eleanor Ln

vd

hea

W Y hire

W Paulin e

eer Trail L

W Hawthorn Pkwy

Gemini Ln

Tra

C mden Pl

ndon Ln

rths ore Dr

Monitor Ln

W Hickory St

n r

ook

Sul

Breckenridge Dr

n

e

Hillside D

Ne wn Dr

Ivy Hall

mter Dr

W

Oakwood Rd

r

Oak Creek

E High St

Peregrine
Shady Ln

sse

Falki

Th

Hills

Falcon Dr

Westwood

Linden Ave

n St

E Orchard St

asalle Ln

Rd

w

Exmoor Ln

i a

Lakevie

Sa

William Dr

oventr

Ring Dr

S Lakeshore Dr

r

Hunters Ln

W

r

clair Rd

iv

Ri

Ensell Rd

Golf

Gin

Lea

Bla kthorn Rd

Busch Pkwy

Armour Blvd

H

Ln

W Hammond St

erby Ln

W Willow Rd

W Division St

Oak Trail

W Crystal St

W Orchard St

b

ge Way

Oak Ln

k View L

Woodlawn Dr

Ct

u

Lucky Lake

Cambridge Ln

Center

Sherw

D

Creek

olly Ct

Chicory Ln

h Dr

D

n een Dr

Unnamed

W High Dr

Cedar Ln

W

ckburn

Cross Dr

Chaucer Way

Rivershir

Wiltsh

W Tahoe Dr

Farner Ct

Carlisl

nwo D

W Co

u berry

Timb r

Chicory Ln

Midway Dr

W Hillcrest Rd

W Buckthorn Ct

Oakdale Ave

Sheffie

D

W Forest Dr

Bunk

Lak

Orange Brace Rd

T k

Cardinal Dr

N Lakeshore Dr

Juel Dr

Elm

Footb

g

u e Ln

Ogden Ln

Pleasure Dr

Ct

ph

o

Way

Rose Rd

Al

d

Way

ee

Cor ll Dr

W Sum

dian n

W Willow Dr

Whyt

L
nderry Ln

W Linden Ln

r

W F

Unna

righton Dr

a y

Kildeer

di

Mer dith Dr

W m

r Ln

S

urtla

ll Gras

Shadydell Ave

P

awthorn wy

Meadow Lane

p R

Onondaga Dr

Arrowwood Trl
Ringland Rd

W Oak Ave

W Hawthorne Ave

tt Dr

r

Ct

Norbert Dr

Heathrow Dr

ew Ln

n Valle r

land Villa Rd

W Boschome Dr

W Sylvan Dr S

W River O

W Brandon Rd
Asbury Dr

Hickory Hill Dr

Unnamed

Dr

Knights wy

lody Ln

P

e

urn Ln

d

l

Cherr

Rd

ed

Armstrong Dr

N

Thorngate L

Regent Dr

d

wood

sew od Dr

and St

O Br

Ln

ndo

g

Field Ct

N Oakmo

d

Knollwood Dr

pto

Pkwy
Dr

M
Dr

Ln

ros

G

r

P w

Pekara Dr

idg

ut Ter

C twe l

N F

Cir

Edingt n Ln

in

u

d

Pi

Surrey

lo w

llantr

Rd

shire Rd

Ma

Con

Foxford D

xNoble

e

Forest e

ghts e

N Me

u

onial

dbine

Old Barn Rd

r

Ct

Wei

nie

D

D

L

Shilo

od

Tama

Lak

rin

Crestwood

Walnut Dr

eerfield

u

om
Ln

Acaci

Caren

D

il

Grove St

avini

L

n

tgers t

Tall

D

Har

n Ln

o

Lynn Dr

cel

e

ike Pkwy

ver Cir

wood

Ab

deen

o n ale

e Woods Pkw

eorget

American Way

c

y T

ington

z{V76

z{V62

z{V62

z{A38

z{A38

z{V62

z{A43

z{W24

z{A44

z{W17

z{W17

z{W14

z{V69

z{W24

z{W24

z{A47

z{W11

z{W11

z{W11

z{A44

z{V77

z{V77

z{V77

z{W14

z{V77

z{A44

z{A40

z{A49

z{A47

z{A47

z{V76

z{V76

z{V76

z{V75

z{V75

z{W19

z{W19

z{W14

z{A40

YoZ94

YoZ94

YoZ94

YoZ94

Lucky Lake

Lake
Charles

LCFPD Pond

Countryside
Lake

Diamond Lake Big Bear
Lake

Sylvan
Lake

Bresen Lake

Forest Lake

Kemper
Lake 1

Salem Lake

Albert
Lake

ScottScott
BrownBrown
ParkPark

HighlandHighland
PinesPines
ParkPark

AppleApple
HillHill

ParkPark

Century ParkCentury Park

HanrahanHanrahan
ParkPark

HawthornHawthorn
Mel lodyMel lody

ParkPark

SullivanSullivan
WoodsWoods

Oak Hi llsOak Hil ls

TownTown
Center ParkCenter Park

Reed-TurnerReed-Turner
WoodlandsWoodlands

AugustaAugusta
ParkPark

HickoryHickory
ParkPark

HighviewHighview
ParkPark

LemmonLemmon
Hill ParkHill Park

PromontoryPromontory
ParkPark

Rol lingRol ling
HillsHills
ParkPark

StockbridgeStockbridge
WetlandWetland

GreenGreen
LakeLake
ParkPark

WildernessWilderness
ParkPark

CambridgeCambridge
Country ParkCountry Park

Stonehaven ParkStonehaven Park

MirielleMirielle
ParkPark

FlorsheimFlorsheim
NatureNature

PreservePreserve

LakeLake
CharlesCharles

ParkPark

Deerpath ParkDeerpath Park

RivershireRivershire
ParkPark

Old FarmOld Farm
ParkPark

BuffaloBuffalo
GroveGrove

LongviewLongview
Meadows ParkMeadows Park

BalzerBalzer
ParkPark

PrairiePrairie
School ParkSchool Park

SugarSugar
CreekCreek
ParkPark

TorreyTorrey
PinesPines
ParkPark

CherbourgCherbourg
ParkPark

Wil lowWil low
StreamStream

Park andPark and
PoolPool

GreentreeGreentree
ParkPark

MauriceMaurice
NollNoll
ParkPark

SpringSpring
Lake ParkLake Park

HighlandHighland
Point ParkPoint Park

Cynthia TCynthia T
Peterson ParkPeterson Park

Gridley FarmGridley Farm

TwinTwin
CreeksCreeks

ParkPark

WehrenbergWehrenberg
WoodsWoods

Old SchoolOld School
Road OpenRoad Open

SpaceSpace

GordonGordon
RayRay
ParkPark

GrosseGrosse
Pointe ParkPointe Park

ButterfieldButterfield
Road Open SpaceRoad Open Space

WoodlandWoodland
Park -Park -

Buffalo GroveBuffalo Grove

CharlesCharles
BrownBrown
ParkPark

HeronsHerons
LandingLanding

ParkPark

HawthornHawthorn
WoodsWoods

CommunityCommunity
ParkPark

ChestnutChestnut
CornerCorner

- Hunters- Hunters
Creek ParkCreek Park

Wil liam E.Wil liam E.
PetersonPeterson

ParkPark

Ivy HallIvy Hall
SchoolSchool

ParkPark

OrchardOrchard
ViewView
ParkPark

WorthamWortham
ParkPark

Mike RylkoMike Rylko
CommunityCommunity

ParkPark

RedRed
TopTop
ParkPark

Lions FieldLions Field

North ParkNorth Park
LincolnshireLincolnshire

ChildrensChildrens
ParkPark

ChurchillChurchill
ParkPark

Village ofVillage of
RiverwoodsRiverwoods
Open SpaceOpen Space

WhippoorwillWhippoorwill
Farm PreserveFarm Preserve

Village ofVillage of
Buffalo GroveBuffalo Grove
Open SpaceOpen Space

Village ofVillage of
Long GroveLong Grove
Open SpaceOpen Space

Village of KildeerVillage of Kildeer
Open SpaceOpen Space

Village ofVillage of
Vernon HillsVernon Hills
Open SpaceOpen Space

Village ofVillage of
LibertyvilleLibertyville

Open SpaceOpen Space

OasisOasis
ParkPark

EverettEverett
PondPond
NorthNorth

EverettEverett
Pond SouthPond South

BuffaloBuffalo
Creek ForestCreek Forest

PreservePreserve
CahokiaCahokia

FlatwoodsFlatwoods
Forest PreserveForest Preserve

Captain DanielCaptain Daniel
Wright WoodsWright Woods

Forest PreserveForest Preserve

CountrysideCountryside
Golf ClubGolf Club

Egret MarshEgret Marsh
ForestForest

PreservePreserve

GraingerGrainger
WoodsWoods

ConservationConservation
PreservePreserve

HalfHalf
Day ForestDay Forest
PreservePreserve

HeronHeron
Creek ForestCreek Forest

PreservePreserve

MacArthurMacArthur
Woods ForestWoods Forest

PreservePreserve

MiddleforkMiddlefork
Savanna ForestSavanna Forest

PreservePreserve

Old SchoolOld School
ForestForest

PreservePreserve

Edward L.Edward L.
RyersonRyerson

ConservationConservation
AreaArea

The Shoppes
of Gregg's
Landing

Depke Juvenile
Justice

Complex

The Shops
at Kildeer

Hawthorn
Hills

Square

Woodland
Commons

Congregation
Beth Judea

Deer Park
Town

Center

Country Meadows
Elem/ Woodlawn
Middle Schools

Carl Sandburg
Middle School

Laura B
Sprague
School

Carmel
Catholic High

School

New Hope
Christian

Fellowship

Lake
Plaza

CityPark

Oak
Creek
Plaza

Meridian
Middle School

Riverwoods
Village Hall

The
Quentin

Collection

Vernon
Plaza

Vernon Hills
Athletic

Complex

Fairhaven
School

Tripp
Elementary

School

Lake
Forest

Academy

Target Plaza

Temple
Chai

Westfield
Hawthorn

Diamond
Lake Sports

Complex

Prairie
Elementary

School

Long
Grove

Commons

Chase
Plaza

Vernon Hills
High School

Saint
Mary of
Vernon

Patriots
Plaza

Vernon
Area Public

Library

Quentin
Road Bible

Baptist Church

Diamond Lake
Recreation

Center

Greentree
Plaza

Earl
Pritchett
School

Townline
Commons

Rivertree
Court

Hawthorn
Village

Commons

Sullivan
Center / Aquatic

Center

Adlai E Stevenson
High School/District

125 Office

Palbok
Church

Daniel Wright Junior
High School/District

103 Office

Marketplace
Shopping

Plaza

Half
Day

School

Mundelein
Plaza

Torah
Academy

Red
Top

Plaza

Korean
Full Gospel

Church

Colonial
Court

Aspen Pointe

College of Lake
County - Southlake
Educational Center

Mundelein
Meadows

Town Center
Promenade

Adlai E Stevenson
Historic Home

Cherry
Hill Plaza

Sunset
Grove

Libertyville
Post Office

Lakeview
Fitness
Center

Brentwood
North

Sedgebrook

Spring
Meadows
Libertyville

Sunrise of
Buffalo
Grove

The
Wealshire

Bradford
Town

Crossing

The
Grove

Vernon
Hills Town

Center

Schwind
Crossings

Lincolnshire
Commons

Allanson
Industrial

Park

Bradley Road
Industrial Park

Hawthorne
Industrial Park

Mundelein
Industrial

Park

Abbott
Business

Center

Ahnen's
Mundelein

Business Park

Aptakisic Creek
Corporate Park

Arbor
Creek Business

Centre

Artaius

Buffalo Grove
Business Park

Butterfield 60

Chevy
Chase Business

Park East

Chevy Chase
Business Park

West

Continental
Executive

Parke

Conway Park
at Lake
Forest

Corporate
Grove

Covington
Corporate

Center

Deer
Park Office

Center

Deerpath
Atrium

Discover
Financial
Services

Hamilton
Office

Lake Trail
Business Park

Lake Zurich
Commerce

Center

Lincolnshire
Business Center

Lincolnshire
Commerce

Center
Lincolnshire

Corporate Center

Lincolnshire
Office Center

Midlothian
Center

Millbrook
Business

Center

Motorola
Deer
Park

Oasis
Business
Center

Opus
Landmark of
Lake Forest

Polo Park
Business Center

Rivershire
Commercial

Area

Riverwalk

Riverwalk
North

Rogers
Centre for
Commerce

Terrace
Trade
Center

The Corporate
Woods

Tower
Road

Tri-State
International
Office Center

Lake Forest
Municipal
Services

Village of
Mundelein

Public Works

Lake County Public
Works Wastewater

Treatment Plant

Village of Mundelein
Wastewater

Treatment Plant

Lake
County Jewish

Community Campus

Estonian
House

Mellody Farm

Steeple
Chase Golf

Club

Traditions
At Chevy

Chase

Fairfield
Cemetery

Arboretum
Golf Club

Diamond
Lake

Cemetery

Vernon
Hills Golf
Course

Buffalo
Grove Golf

Course

Libertyville
Golf Course

White
Deer Run
Golf Club

Vernon/Half Day
Cemetery

Conway
Farms Golf

Club

Crane's
Landing

Golf Club

Hawthorn
Woods

Country Club

Kemper Lakes
Golf Club

Knollwood
Club

Ravinia
Green

Country Club

Royal
Melbourne

Twin Orchard
Country

Club

The Grove
Country

Club

Department
of the Navy

Willow Lawn Memorial
Park / Aarrowood

Pet Cemetery

Buffalo Grove

Vernon
Hills

Hawthorn
Woods

Kildeer

Lincolnshire

Long Grove

Riverwoods

Indian Creek

Mettawa

Wheeling

Horatio
Gardens

Prairie View

Forest Lake

Sylvan Lake

Diamond Lake

Countryside
Lake

Mundelein

Arlington
HeightsPalatine

1,500 0 1,5003,0004,500 Feet

®
18 -

Revised:
2017 Cemetery

Golf Course

Water

Landmark Classification
Agriculture, Food, and Livestock

Banking and Finance; Commercial and Retail

Education

Health and Medical

Emergency Response and Law Enforcement

Parks and Forest Preserves

Public Attractions

Industry; Mail and Shipping District Boundary

170

Tax Parcels

Railroad
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! Trails and Paths

Document 4



Lincolnshire-Prairie View School District 103

Prepared by:
Lake County Department of Information Technology
GIS Division
18 North County Street
Waukegan, Illinois 60085-4357
(847) 377-2388

!
! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!! !

! !
!

!

! ! !

!

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !! ! !

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! ! !
!

! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! !
!

! !
!

!

! ! !
! !

!
! ! ! !

!
! ! !

!

!
!

! !

!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

! !
! ! !

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! !

!
! !

!

!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
! !

! ! !
! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! !

!

!

!
!

! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! !

!!

! ! !
!

!
! !

!
! ! !

!
!

!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!!!!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! !

!

! ! !!

!! ! !

! ! ! ! !! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!

!

!!!
!

!
!!

!!
!

! ! ! !

! ! !
! !

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

! !
!

!

! !
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!
!!!

!
!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!
!

!

!!!!
!!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!!
!!!

!

!
! ! !

!!!!
!

!
!

!

!!
!

!!!!
!

!
!

!!!
!

!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!
! ! !

! ! !
!! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!!

!
!

!!
!!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

!

!
!!!!!!!!!

!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! !! ! ! !

!

!!!

!!!!!

!

!

!

! !

! !
! ! !

!

!

! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

!

! ! !! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !
!

!
!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

!

!!

! !

!!

! !

! ! !!

!

!

!!!

! ! !

!

!!

! ! ! !
!

! ! !!

! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! ! ! !

! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

! !
! ! ! !

!

!
!!

!!

!

! !
!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!

! ! !
!

!

!
! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! !

! ! ! ! !
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! ! !
!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!!

!!!
!!

! ! ! ! ! ! !
! !

! !
! !

! !
! !

!

!!
!

!!!

!!
!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!
!!!

!!!!!!!

!!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! !

!
!

!
! !

! ! ! !
! ! !

!
!

!
!

!

! ! !

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!
!!!!!!

!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! !

!
!

!

! ! !

!!
!!!!!!!

! ! ! !
!

!

!
!

!
! !

!
! !

!
!

! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

! ! ! ! ! !
!

!
!

!

!

!
! !! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

!
!

! ! !
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !
!

!

! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! !!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!!!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! !

!

!! ! ! ! ! ! ! !!! ! ! ! ! ! ! !!! ! ! ! ! ! ! !!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! !!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! ! ! ! !
! ! !

! !
!

!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !! !

!

!

!

! ! !

!!!!!!!!!!!!

! !
! !

! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! ! !

!
!

!

!
! !

! !

! !

!!!!!!!!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! !!

!

!

!

!

! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! !

! ! ! ! ! !
! !

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! !

! !
! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! !
! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

! !! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! !
!

!
! !

! ! !
!

!
!

!

!!!!

!
!

! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! !
!

!
! ! !

!
!

! ! !

! ! ! ! !
!

!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
! !

! ! !

!
! !

! ! ! ! ! !
! !

!
!

!!!!!

!
!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!!!!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!!

!!!!!!
!!!

!!

!
! ! !

! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

! !

!
!!

!

!!

!!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! !

!

! !! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!!!
!!!!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!
! ! ! !

!

! !

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!!!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

! ! ! !

!!!

! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! !
!

! !
! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !

!
!

!
!!

!

!!!!!!!

!!

!
!

!

! !
! !

!
!

!
!

!!!
!!

!
!!!

!

! ! !
! !

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
! ! ! !

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !
! !

! ! !

!

!
! ! !

! !
!

!
! !

! !
! ! ! ! !

!
! !

! ! ! !
!

! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! !
!

!

!!
!

!!!!!!!!!

!
!!

!!!
!!

!!!!

!

!
!

!
!

! ! !

!
!

!
!

! !!!!

!!!!
!!

!
!

!!!
!!!

!
!!

! !
!

!
!

!
!

!

! ! !
!

! ! ! ! !
!

!
!!!

!!!!!!
!!

!

! ! !
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!!!
!

!
!

!
!!!

!
!

!

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

!
!

!

!

!
! !

! !

!!!!

! !

!

!

! ! !
!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

! ! !
!

! !

!
!

!!
!

!!

!

!!!
!!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! !

!
!

! !

! ! ! !

!
!

!!!!
!!!!

!!
!!!!!

!!
!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!
!!!!!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!!!!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!
!!!!!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! !

! ! !

!
! ! !

! ! !

!
! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !
! !

!

!
!!

!!!
!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!!

!

! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!
!

! ! ! !
!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!
!!

!
!

!
!

!!
!!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!
!!!

!

!!

!

!!!!

!!!

!
!

!!
!!!

!

! ! !
!

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! !

!!

!

!
!

!!!!!!!

! ! !

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!!

!

!!!!

!
!!!!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! !

!

!

!

!
!

! ! !

!
! ! ! !

!
!

!!
!

!

!

! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
! ! ! !

!
! !

!

!

!

! !

!

!

! ! !
! !

!

!!
!

!!
!!!

!!

!

! !

! ! ! !

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !

!!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!!!!!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!!!!

!

!

!

! ! ! !
! ! !

! ! ! !
!

! ! !

!

! ! !

!
!

! !
! !

!

!

!
! !

! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! !

! !

!
!

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! !
!

!!

!
! !

!

!!

!

!
!

! !

!
!

!
! ! !

! ! ! ! !
! !

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
! !

!

!!

!
!

!!!!!
!!!!!!

!!!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!

! !

!!

!!!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

! !

!
!

!
!!

!

! !

! !

!

! !

! !

!
!

!
! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! !

! !
!

! !

!! ! ! !

! !

!!!!!!!!
!!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!
!

!!! !

!
!

!

!

! ! ! ! !
!

!!! !! !

! !

! !! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! ! !

!

!
!

!!!!

!
!!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !!

! !

!
!!!

!

! ! !

!

!
!

! !

! !

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!
!!!!!!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

! !

!
! !

! !

!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

! ! !
!

!

!

!

!

2

Aptakisic Rd

isic RdW Aptakisic Rd W Aptakisic Rd E Aptakisic Rd

W Kennedy Rd W Kennedy Rd

Half Day Rd Half Day Rd Half Day Rd

W ett Rd W Everett Rd

Duffy Ln

W Port Clinton Rd W Port Clinton Rd

Duffy Ln

W IL Route 60

W IL Route 60
E Townline Rd

W IL Route

E Townline Rd

Half Day Rd

alf Day Rd

Brandywyn Ln

Lasalle Ln

W Easton Ave

Dr

Knightsbridge

Cherrywood Ln

Portshire Dr

Apple Hill Ln

White Barn Rd

Bro
d

Cherokee Rd

W Phillip Rd

Lindon Ln

M

evie

Bedford Dr

Bitternut Dr

S Windsor

all Dr

Blue Ash

Miramar Ln

Westwood Ln

w d

alvern Ln

Exmoor Ln

n

Park Ave

C

Surrey L

Olive Hill Dr

Jordan Ter

Oak

Cheroke

Green Dr

Cambridge Ln

Sherwood Dr

Arcadia

Ct

t

r m Ln

Dukes Ln

Yorkshire Dr

Unnamed

Lee Ln

Cedar

Altoona

Ln

Royal Ct

Brist

W Arlyd Rd

Farner Ct

E Port Clinton Rd

nadier

E

Ct

S

Fr iar Tuck Ct

t

b y Rd

eens Way

Bu

Woodland Ln

Presto

Dev

Buckingham Pl

ton

k y

Lamont T

arwo
Ln

Regent Ln

ie L

Fairfa

Trailway Dr

M air Ln

B

Anglican

Greenview Ct

w Way

ks

Tri State Intl
Nottingham Dr

Alexandra Dr

Margate Dr

oo

Cornell Dr

W ytegate Ct

n

re

Unnamed

Dr

b rley

Heathrow Dr

r n

W M nd Vil

W River Oaks D

te Woods Pkwy

Asbury Dr

Hickory Hill Dr

W

Ol

d

Creek View Dr

Ter

Ln

Carlyle Ln

E Fa ish Dr

od

A

er

arton D

Taylor Ct

Carlisle Ln

Joseph

Ronnie D

Foxford Dr

Pkwy

Dov r

Edgewood Ln

Georgetown Way

American Way

z{A43

z{W14

z{A43

z{W24

z{W17

z{W24

z{W24

z{W17

z{A44 z{A44

z{W24

z{W24

z{W24

z{W14

z{W14

z{A44

z{W24

z{A40

z{W14

z{A40

z{A40

z{W19

z{W19

YoZ94

YoZ94

YoZ94

YoZ94

HamptonHampton
InnInn

MarriottMarriott
LincolnshireLincolnshire

ResortResort

HomewoodHomewood
SuitesSuites

HomesteadHomestead
StudioStudio
SuitesSuites

The CorporateThe Corporate
Woods ofWoods of

Vernon HillsVernon Hills

InternationalInternational
CorporateCorporate

ParkPark

RogersRogers
ExecutiveExecutive
Parke IIParke II

RogersRogers
Execut iveExecut ive

ParkeParke

HotelHotel
IndigoIndigo

TheThe
PhysicianPhysician

CenterCenter

DeerpathDeerpath
Office ParkOffice Park

HawthornHawthorn
FashionFashion
SquareSquare

CourtyardCourtyard

Adlai EAdlai E
StevensonStevenson

HighHigh
SchoolSchool

DanielDaniel
WrightWright

Junior HighJunior High
SchoolSchool

Grainger
Pond 2

Coop
Pond

Werhane Lake

LCFPD
Pond

Halfday
Pit - W Halfday

Pit  - E

Rivershire
Pond 1

Stone
Quarry

Lake

Grainger
Pond 1

WhytegateWhytegate
ParkPark

AppleApple
Hill ParkHill Park

CenturyCentury
ParkPark

Sull ivanSullivan
WoodsWoods

Kell iKell i
GarvanianGarvanian

ParkPark

StoneStone
FenceFence
FarmsFarms
ParkPark

Mirielle ParkMirielle Park

FlorsheimFlorsheim
NatureNature

PreservePreserve

Deerpath ParkDeerpath Park

RivershireRivershire
ParkPark

Old FarmOld Farm
Park -Park -

Buffalo GroveBuffalo Grove

VeteransVeterans
ParkPark

BuffaloBuffalo
GroveGrove

WestchesterWestchester
ParkPark

Balzer ParkBalzer Park

SugarSugar
CreekCreek
ParkPark

SpringSpring
Lake ParkLake Park

TwinTwin
CreeksCreeks

ParkPark

PrairiePrairie
GroveGrove
ParkPark

HawthornHawthorn
Club ParkClub Park

HeronsHerons
LandingLanding

ParkPark

OldOld
MillMill

Common ParkCommon Park

Will iam E.Will iam E.
PetersonPeterson

ParkPark

DonnelleyDonnelley
ParkPark

RanneyRanney
ParkPark

NorthNorth
Park -Park -

LincolnshireLincolnshire

ChurchillChurchill
ParkPark

Village ofVil lage of
RiverwoodsRiverwoods
Open SpaceOpen Space

TownshipTownship
of Vernonof Vernon

Open SpaceOpen Space

Village ofVillage of
Buffalo GroveBuffalo Grove
Open SpaceOpen Space

VillageVillage
of Vernonof Vernon
Hil ls OpenHil ls Open

SpaceSpace

City of LakeCity of Lake
ForestForest
OpenOpen
SpaceSpace

Village ofVillage of
LincolnshireLincolnshire
Open SpaceOpen Space

EverettEverett
PondPond
NorthNorth

EverettEverett
PondPond
SouthSouth

CaptainCaptain
Daniel WrightDaniel Wright
Woods ForestWoods Forest

PreservePreserve

GraingerGrainger
WoodsWoods

ConservationConservation
PreservePreserve

Half DayHalf Day
ForestForest

PreservePreserve

MacArthur WoodsMacArthur Woods
Forest PreserveForest Preserve

Edward L.Edward L.
RyersonRyerson

Conservation AreaConservation Area

Vernon
Hills Police
Department

Depke Juvenile
Justice

Complex

Hawthorn
Hills

Square

Woodland
Commons

Laura B
Sprague
School

Village
Church of

Lincolnshire

CityPark

Meridian
Middle
School

Ascension
of Our
Lord

Vernon Hills
Athletic

Complex

Lake Forest
Academy

Target Plaza

Westfield Hawthorn

Lutheran
Church of

the Holy Spirit

Vernon
Hills High

School

Oak Tree
CornersVernon

Area Public
Library

Lincolnshire
Village Hall

/ Police Dept

Townline
Commons

Rivertree
Court

Highland
Korean
Church

Hawthorn Village Commons

Adlai E Stevenson High
School/District

125 Office

Daniel Wright Junior
High School/District

103 Office

Northwest
Suburban
Chabad

Marketplace
Shopping

Plaza

Half
Day

School

Aptakisic Junior
High School/District

102 Office

Community
Christian
Church

Vernon
Township Office

/ Ball Fields

College of Lake
County - Southlake
Educational Center

Village Green
of Lincolnshire

Adlai
E Stevenson

Historic Home

Lincolnshire
Public
Works

Lincolnshire
Post Office

Vernon
Hills Post

Office
Lakeview
Fitness
Center

Autumn
Leaves of

Vernon Hills

Brookdale
Plaza

Vernon Hills

Sedgebrook

Sunrise of
Buffalo
Grove

The Wealshire

Riverside
Foundation

Apple
Orchard
Square

Vernon Hills
Town Center

Lincolnshire
Commons

Abbott
Business
Center

Aptakisic
Creek

Corporate Park

Arbor Creek
Business
Centre

College
Park

Continental
Executive Parke

Conway Park
at Lake Forest

Corporate
Grove

Deerpath
Atrium

Hamilton Office

Lincolnshire
Business

Center

Lincolnshire
Commerce Center

Lincolnshire
Corporate Center

Lincolnshire
Office Center

Millbrook
Business
Center

Opus
Landmark of
Lake Forest

Rivershire
Commercial

Area

Rogers
Centre for
Commerce

Rogers Centre
for Commerce

East

The
Corporate

Woods

Tri-State
International
Office Center

Church of Jesus
Christ of Latter

Day Saints

Lake County Public
Works Wastewater

Treatment Plant

Estonian
House

Mellody Farm

Arboretum
Golf Club

Vernon
Hills Golf
Course

Vernon/Half
Day Cemetery

Conway Farms
Golf
Club

Crane's
Landing

Golf Club

Ravinia Green
Country Club

Department
of the Navy

Willow Lawn Memorial
Park / Aarrowood

Pet Cemetery

Lincolnshire-Prairie
View School
District 103

Prairie View

Lincolnshire

Vernon Hills

750 0 750 1,500 2,250 Feet

®
17 -

Revised:
2017 Cemetery

Golf Course

Water

Landmark Classification
Agriculture, Food, and Livestock

Banking and Finance; Commercial and Retail

Education

Health and Medical

Emergency Response and Law Enforcement
Parks and Forest Preserves

Public Attractions

Industry; Mail and Shipping District Boundary

133

Tax Parcels

Railroad
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! Trails and Paths

Document 5



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole Meeting

April 8, 2019
 

Subject: Consideration and Discussion of a Picnic Permit Fee Waiver Request 
(Girl Scout Troop #45713 & Troop #45936)

Action Requested: Consideration of a Picnic Permit Fee Waiver Request Pursuant to 
Section 8-1B-2(O) of the Village Code (Girl Scout Troop #45713 & 
Troop #45936)

Petitioner: Girls Scout Troops #45713 & #45936

Originated 
By/Contact: Bradford H. Woodbury, Public Works Director
Referred To: Mayor and Board of Trustees

 
Background: Girl Scout Troops #45713 and #45936 are planning a multi-troop picnic at North 
Park on Saturday August 24, 2019 from 10:00am-12:00pm. The two troops have applied for a 
Picnic Permit and request Village consideration of a waiver of the required $50fee. In 
accordance with Village Code Section 8-1B-2(O), any petitioner may request a picnic fee 
waiver. The request must be considered by the Park Board and Village Board. It is common for 
religious institutions and other not-for-profit organizations in the Village to request various fee 
waivers. Village records do not show any previous fee waiver request from Girl Scout Troop 
#45713 or #45936. At its March 21, 2019 meeting, the Park Board voted to recommend the 
Village Board approve a waiver of the picnic permit fee for Girl Scout Troops #45713 and 
#45936. 

Summary: In accordance with Village Code Section 8-1B-2(O), any picnic permit applicant is
eligible to petition the Park Board and Village Board as outlined below :

“An applicant may petition the Park Board for a waiver to the above and if deemed appropriate a 
recommendation shall be made to the Village Board who will determine if a waiver shall be 
granted.”

This request is consistent with past fee waiver approvals and is recommended by Staff. 

Recommendation: Consideration of approval of a request to waive Picnic Permit fees of $50, 
in accordance with Village Code Section 8-1B-2(O).

Reports and Documents Attached:
Picnic Permit Application
Fee waiver request email from Girl Scout #45713/#45936 Troop leader, Paula Lanni, dated 
March 3, 2019

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole Meeting April 8, 2019

Park Board March 21, 2019

Agenda Item
       3.51 COW







REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole Meeting

April 8, 2019

Subject: Consideration of a Name and Dedication Date for the Lincolnshire 
Downtown Pocket Park (Village of Lincolnshire)

Action Requested: Approval of a Name and Dedication Date for the Lincolnshire 
Downtown Pocket Park (Village of Lincolnshire)

Originated 
By/Contact: Bradford H. Woodbury, Public Works Director

Referred To: Mayor and Board of Trustees

Summary / Background:
The construction of the Pocket Park located within the Lincolnshire Downtown area was 
completed in the fall/winter of 2018. At its March 21, 2019 meeting, the Park Board provided 
input and recommendations on a name for the new park itself and is seeking final 
recommendation and input from Village Board. Proposed names considered by the Park Board 
include:

Creekside Park
City Center Park
Indian Creek Park
Indian Creek Pocket Park
Half Day Park
Lincolnshire Pocket Park

Additional input and ideas received from the Park Board at their March 21, 2019 meeting were
as follows:

Provide wayfinding signage off Milwaukee Avenue directing people to the park
To engage the public on naming the park

- potentially provide a Voting Area at the 2019 Memorial Day Ceremony
- engage Lincolnshire area students in District 103 to solicit names
- consider engaging the South Village Green Homeowner’s Association 

An alternate idea is to host an online survey via Survey Monkey. The online survey would give 
all members of the public a limited number of options to consider.  This online survey could be 
sent to the parties listed above, as well as published this on the Village website, Facebook, e-
news and twitter and allow all members to vote from a list potential names.

Staff also seeks Village Board input to identify a date to hold a dedication event for this park. 
The ceremony would be held prior to a Village Board meeting and the dates for consideration 
are as follows:

Agenda Item
       3.52 COW



Monday July 22, 2019  6:00pm
Monday August 12, 2019 6:00pm
Monday August 26, 2019  6:00pm
Monday September 9, 2019  6:00pm

Budget Impact: None.

Service Delivery Impact:
The dedication and naming of this park is important part of the Village’s history as well as the 
residents of Lincolnshire.

Recommendation: Staff recommends consideration of a name, feedback on whether or not to 
survey residents and also approval of a date for a dedication ceremony. 

Staff recommends consideration of a name, feedback on whether or not to survey residents and
also approval of a date for a dedication ceremony. 

Reports and Documents Attached:
Pocket Park Location Map
Photo of Area

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole Meeting April 8, 2019

Park Board March 21, 2019
 






	1.0 Agenda
	2.1 03-18-2019 COW Minutes
	3.11_2019_04_08_COW_200Parkway_ExtraSpaceStorage_SolarPanels
	3.12_2019_04_08_COW_Marriott_Ground_DirectionalSigns_MasterSignPlanAmend
	3.13_2019_04_08_COW_PrairieViewMetraStationPlan_BoundaryAgreement
	3.51_2019_04_08_COW_Girl Scout_Picnic
	3.52_2019_04_08_COW_Pocket_Park

	Return to Agenda: 


